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President’s Letter
Fellow Shareholders:

It is again my pleasure to address you as we have completed our first year as a public company. 2006
marked an exciting year for etrials Worldwide. During the year, we became a public company, we
entered into several new partnerships with some amazing companies, we added a number of new
customers, and we enhanced our eClinical portfolio. We experienced both successes and challenges, but
we believe that the company is at its strongest position in its history — both financially and competitively.

For the fiscal year 2006, we reported record revenues of $15.5 million, up 18% over 2005 and we
achieved our goal of profitability before non-cash stock option compensation expense. We are pleased to
have achieved these results and believe that they will serve as a solid foundation for 2007. As we look
ahead, we are confident that we are in the right market and have the right business to generate lasting
success.

The eClinical market continues to generate impressive growth. There is clearly growing demand for our
integrated solutions and eClinical offerings overall. We are also excited because we are continuing to win
mindshare because everyday companies are seeing the benefits of electronic trials over paper trials. Our
products are easy to use, configurable, deployed on a global scale, and can be integrated with other
eClinical software applications.

Industry analysts and other experts believe that the current eClinical software market to be approximately
$300 million and estimate that by 2011 the overall market will reach over $1 billion. This is not a
question of “if”, but “when.” We believe the eClinical industry has only scratched the surface in terms of
the opportunity in this market.

We are keenly aware that an important component to the long-term success of etrials is our ability to add
new customers and projects and we are taking significant steps to accomplish that goal. As 1 said, we see
the industry growing and we need to support that growth. To do so, we are intensely focused on:

¢ Product innovation — appealing to more customers through our differentiated offerings,

¢ Fanatical customer service — to drive repeat customers,

¢ And sales and marketing initiatives — to win in competitive bid situations.

These investments are not without cost, but we see them as imperative for the company’s future success.
The investments we have already made thus far in 2007 in terms of sales and marketing, as well as our
operations team, have yiclded increased levels of new business awards and we expect the future returns
achieved will further enhance our market position and our financial performance over the long-term.

Our priorities for 2007 are clear. First, we are focused on new bookings growth. We feel confident that
our sales and marketing investments, as well as our commitment in growing our operations teams, have
and will produce a positive cffect on bookings throughout the year. Second, we are going to continue to
seek opportunities to enhance our product and service offerings through strategic partnerships and
appropriate acquisitions. And third, we are going to stay true to our core competency, which is providing
a world-class platform with exceptional customer service to our customers.

John Cline,
President & Chief Executive Officer
April 27, 2007
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PART 1

Item 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

This Business section and other paris of this Report contain forward-looking statements that involve risk and
uncertainties. Our actual results may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, those set forth in "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Certain Factors That May Affect Future Results" and elsewhere
in this Report.

Overview
etrials Worldwide, Inc.

etrials Worldwide, Inc. (“etrials” or the “Company” or “we” or “us” or “‘our” or similar words) is a provider of
eClinical software technology and services to pharmaceutical, biotechnology, medical device, and contract research
organizations (“CRO” or “CROs”). Our software technologies offer insight into the clinical trial process, maximizing our
customers’ return on investment and accelerating their time to market. Our primary focus is on the costly and time-
consuming clinical trial phase of drug development.

Our operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including among others, rapid technological change,
increased competition from existing competitors and new entrants, lack of operating history, and dependence upon key
members of the management team. Operating results are also affected by general economic conditions affecting the
pharmaceutical industry.

History and Merger and Accounting Treatment

Our subsidiary, etrials, Inc., which operates our business, was incorporated in 1999 in the State of Delaware under
the name Pharmacentric Technologies, Inc., for the purpose of managing certain assets acquired from Persimmon IT, Inc.
John Cline, our Chief Executive Officer, joined that subsidiary company in March of 2000, when Pharmacentric acquired
Expidata, a company owned by Mr. Cline. In May of 2000 our subsidiary’s name was changed again to etrials.com, Inc. and
in June of 2001 the name was changed to etrials, Inc. On January 30, 2003 Araccel Corporation (*Araccel™) was merged into
etrials, Inc., with the resulting company being named etrials Worldwide, Inc. Araccel primarily provided eClinical electronic
patient reported outcomes (“ePRO”) solutions that capture, analyze, distribute, manage and report clinical trial data from
patients. Prior to the merger with Araccel, etrials, Inc. was in the business of primarily providing Electronic Data Capture
(“EDC”) software and services for clinical trials.

CEA Acquisition Corporation (“CEA™) was incorporated in Delaware on October 14, 2003 as a blank check
company, the objective of which was to effect a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition or other similar business
combination in the entertainment, media and communications industry. On February 19, 2004, CEA consummated an Initial
Public Offering (the “Offering”} and raised net proceeds of $21,390,100. Of the net proceeds from the Offering, $20,527,250
was placed in trust and invested in government securities. The remaining proceeds were available for business, legal, and
accounting due diligence on prospective acquisitions and continuing general and administration expenses.

On February 9, 2006 etrials Acquisition, Inc. a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of CEA,
consummated a merger with etrials Worldwide, Inc., in which etrials Worldwide, Inc. changed its name back to etrials, Inc.
and became CEA's wholly owned subsidiary. At that time CEA changed its name to etrials Worldwide, Inc. See our
Registration Statement on Form $-4 which became effective in January 2006, for a description of the material terms of the
merger.

The merger was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting as a reverse acquisition in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for accounting and financial reporting purposes. Under this method of
accounting, CEA was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. In accordance with guidance
applicable to these circumstances, this merger was considered to be a capital transaction in substance. Accordingly, for
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accounting purposes, the merger was treated as the equivalent of etrials issuing stock for the net monetary assets of CEA,
accompanied by a recapitalization. All historical share and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to give effect
to the reverse acquisition of CEA and related recapitalization.

General. With global operations, etrials provides four key software technologies, electronic data capture (“EDC™),
interactive voice response (“ITVR”)}, and electronic patient diaries (“eDiary™), as part of an integrated software as a service
(“SaaS8”) platform or as individual solutions to optimize clinical trials. This integrated software technology platform enables
our customers to select the one or more solutions for their clinical trial and allows the information to integrate seamlessly and
easily by:

¢  Capturing clinical and patient reported information through multiple modalities — from desktops, tablet
PCs, phones, smartphones, to handheld devices;

* Integrating clinical trial information from different sources such as labs, EKG, diagnostic images, and in-
home testing devices such as blood glucose monitors;

s Managing workflow efficiencies to enhance patient enrollment / randomization, drug supply, and data
quality and management; and '

e  Analyzing and reporting real-time information to improve trial communication, and collaboration, and
better, faster decision-marking.

As an experienced industry leader, etrials has facilitated hundreds of trials involving more than 400,000 patients in
over 60 countries and approximately 33 of those studies resulted in approximately 12 approved new drug applications.
Having partnered with over 100 clients, etrials intends to lead the way towards future industry innovations such as, Adaptive
Clinical Trials and integration between eClinical and electronic health records.

Value Proposition. etrials understands clients are seeking software technology and a partner capable of providing
robust information capture, integration, management, and eClinical experience. etrials will support these value propositions
by leveraging the following key strengths:

Advanced Solutions on an Integrated Platform

etrials can provide a fully integrated solution to meet complex data collection requirements. With the clients EDC,
eDiary, and [VR data residing in a single database, the data is safe and easily accessible in a central focation. This
results in time saved importing data from other sources and having real-time access to your data.

Experience .
We have assisted our clients to conduct hundreds of clinical trials in more than 60 countries involving hundreds of
thousands of patients. Qur eDiary technology has been deployed in multiple languages and countries.

Project Management Team

From fast study start-up to strategic implementation of mid-study changes, our project teams have knowledge and
management skills for our client’s clinical trial. Our project managers possess extensive clinical research experience
and have the ability to manage multiple technologies.

Products. etrials’ Web-based architecture and integrated eClinical solutions enable customers to efficiently capture,
integrate, manage and analyze key clinical and patient reported information in one data repository. Real-time web-based
access allows clinical trial sponsors to analyze information an estimated eight to twelve weeks earlier than traditional paper-
based methods, enhancing and speeding decision making and supporting adaptive trial design.

etrials eClinical solutions include:

+  EDC. etrials EDC is a web-based, globally-proven solution for collecting, managing, and analyzing real-time
clintcal trial information. Qur EDC solution is used by pharmaceutical, biotechnology, medical device, and contract
research organization customers around the world to enhance decision making and accelerate time to market. With
etrials’ configurable electronic case report forms (“eCRF”), study information is more accurate, timely and
accessible, for better collaboration and communication. The Company’s dynamic business process engine supports
multiple workflows and ensures that information collected in the field is verified and complete. Real-time analytics
supports adaptive study designs by enabling integration of study information and knowledge as the trial progresses.

* eDiary. By using etrials’ eDiary to collect data electronically, sponsors can minimize problems associated with
paper-based collection such as patient compliance, transcription errors and limited data analysis. etrials eDiary
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provides interfaces that are simple to use for patients from pediatric to geriatric and makes collecting and managing
patient-compliant data easy. Information is stored on the local device (handheld, tablet, or smartphone) and a central
database through wired and wireless connectivity.

 IVR Software, Offers patient enrollment, dynamic randomization, drug supply management and real-time analysis
through one easy to use web-based interface. More than just IVR, the web interface is a powerful trial monitoring
and control too). Etrials [VR enables sponsors to easily manage site or stratum-based patient enrollment, the
compliance of sites and subjects, and what supplies have shipped.

Technology Platform. The etrials eClinical Software as a Service web-based platform is more capable of meeting the
diverse needs of each clinical trial than traditional enterprise software. Our Saa$ architecture, built on an Oracle foundation,
enables our customers to focus on managing their trials and not on running servers, databases and applications. This model
reduces the costs associated with deploying a clinical trial. All etrials’ solutions include design, testing, and deployment to
enable its customers to rapidly conduct their studies. These supporting applications are essential to etrials’ subscription
licensing strategy and software services.

Professional Services. To support our software solutions, etrials offers services for our customers that include;
software implementation, project management, training, system performance and maintenance, knowledge transfer, and
global customer support.

+  Software implementation. We develop with our client database specifications, design the screen forms and backend
data structure, determine the data transformations necessary and configure the required infrastructure, including both
hardware and communications systems.

«  Project management. We utilize our software to provide ongoing management of the technical aspects of a clinical
trial, from start-up, to deployment, to conduct, to close out. These services typically involve monitoring the study’s
budgeted hours, ensuring milestones are hit, and coordinating changes to the database when changes need to occur.
Our personnel do not manage the overall clinical trial. Their role is usually limited to managing how its software is
used in the clinical trial. As etrials transitions to a subscription and software application-hosting business model, we
expect our project management personnel will become consultants that help subscription clients with enterprise-wide
technical implementation that is not limited to specific clinical trials.

»  Training. We train the investigator sites and clinical researchers on how to effectively use our software,

+  System performance and maintenance. These technical services ensure that the servers and software are performing
according to specifications and test the software for its applicability and design.

«  Comprehensive knowledge transfer. For those clients who want to internalize the design and management of their
clinical studies, this consulting service trains their staff in the use of the design software and the steps involved in
deploying trials.

»  Global customer support. Support for the investigators (doctors), research staff and other system users accessing the
software 24 hours a day and seven days a week through our global help desk.

We have in the past acquired new software technologies through acquisitions of all or part of other companies.

On April 30, 2004, we acquired from Authentrics, Inc. (“Authentrics™) IVRS software and certain other assets in
exchange for 24,538 shares of etrials common stock. Authentrics also agreed to provide certain consulting services related to
the use, implementation, and deployment of the IVRS technology for which we agreed to pay $360,000 to Authentrics.

On April 1, 2005, we purchased from Quintiles Transnational Corp. (“Quintiles”) certain electronic data capture
(*“EDC") software and clinical trial management software (“CTMS™), as well as Quintiles’ customer backlog related to such
software products. In exchange, we granted Quintiles a license to such software and other etrials clinical trial software. We
also issued Quintiles 139,048 shares of our common stock.

On August 10, 2005, MiniDoc AB and etrials Worldwide, Inc. entered into an exclusive license agreement granting
exclusive rights from MiniDoc to us for the MiniDoc Diary Software and the intellectual property rights underlying the
MiniDoc Diary Software. MiniDoc retained a right to make, use and sell the licensed intellectual property, without any right
to transfer or sublicense it to others.




We may, in the future, also acquire other companies that have software or services that we can cross-sell to our
existing customers or that have customers to which we can sell our existing products and services. Examples of products and
services we might acquire to sell to our existing customers include: modeling and simulation technology, safety database
technology, adverse event reporting services and eSubmissions technology and services. We retained an investment banking
firm to assist us in discussions with a potential acquisition candidate and financing sources to facilitate the acquisition. There
can be no assurance that such discussions will be successful,

Research and Development. We have developed our software to take advantage of the power of the Internet. etrials
continues to advance our products by enhancing the human interface of the modules. Our research and development efforts
are focused on improving and enhancing our existing products and services as well as developing new products and services.

Research and development expenditures were approximately $1.8 and $1.6 miltion for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Business Segments and Geographic Information

We conduct our operations through offices in the United States and the United Kingdom (UK). We view our
operations and manage our business as one operating and reporting segment, based on the guidance included in SFAS
No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”.
Customers

We have an established customer base of clients who are transitioning from paper processes to electronic clinical
trials and, using licensed software and technical services from etrials. Additionally, we license software to numerous CROs.
The United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA™) has accepted trials using our eClinical software and these trials

have resulted in successful regulatory approvals for clients.

We had three customers who comprised approximately 43% and 47% of our revenues during the year ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Customers individually representing greater than 10% of our revenues are as follows:

Percent of Revenues
December 31

2006 2005
Wyeth 18.4% *%
The Medicines Company 14.3% 12.4%
Genzyme Corporation 10.5% 17.1%
Pfizer, Inc. *0% 17.8%
Total 43.2% 47.3%

* less than 10%

Although we enter into master agreements with each customer, the master contracts do not contain minimum
revenue commitments. Services and revenues are covered by separately negotiated addendums called task orders. See Risk
Factor (16) about risks related to customer cancellations and delays and their affect on our revenue.

Our customers are life science companies, including pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medicat device concerns, as
well as CROs. The needs and sales approaches are unique depending on the focus of each segment; therefore, we have two
sales channels, direct and value added reseller, to support our bookings and revenue targets.

Our Sponsor Marketing Group sells solutions and related services directly to sponsor organizations (pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and medical devices) running Phase [ to Phase IV clinical trials. These customers may work in any therapeutic
area {e.g., cardiology, oncology, etc.), and may be in large pharmaceutical companies, small biotechnology companies or
medical device manufacturers. These clinical trials are highly regulated and require strict adherence to U.S and international
guidelines. Sales through this direct channel currently represent the largest share of our total revenue.



The CRO Business Marketing Group focuses on establishing and working with CRO partners to position etrials
software solutions as part of the CRO’s outsourced client trial management services. etrials sells per-project and / or
enterprise subscription agreements to CROs that use the technology in the work they do for pharmaceutical companies.
Though CROs have been slow to abandon paper processes, etrials believes this is rapidly changing as the CROs clients are
requiring them to apply the efficiencies of eClinical software 1o the outsourced studies they conduct.

Many of our customers utilize more than one technology from the eClinical Suite. We believe we have the
opportunity to cross-sell new solutions, based on our experience with IVRS and CTMS acquisitions completed in 2004 and
2005. While every software opportunity is unique, the average sales cycle is approximately six months for new clients. The
size of contracts, including software subscription and usage, hosting and professional technical services vary widely, but
range from $50,000 for single, very small trials to multi-million dollar contracts for subscription agreements and very
complex trials.

Competition

The market for eClinical technologies is disjointed, with many companies providing partial solutions for different
parts of the drug development process, but few companies offer a broad platform of software applications. Our integrated
eClinical platform, built on an Oracle foundation, brings together many of the information technologies needed to take a drug
to market. The competition for the individual point solutions, as well as for the entire integrated platform, is strong, rapidly
changing and subject to eventual shifts in market share.

During 2006, we viewed five companies as major competitors to our EDC software and services, four companies as
major competitors to our ePRO patient diaries software and services, and four companies as major competitors to our IVRS
software and services. We believe being one of a few companies that offer a broad platform of software applications is a key
competitive advantage for etrials.

We also compete with the accepted and staid paper processes that have long been used to collect data in clinical
trials. Since more trials are currently conducted using paper processes then using web-based software processes, paper-based
processes represent both competition and an opportunity to increase our business.

The level of competition has grown quickly in recent years and is expected to further increase in the future.
Competition could result in etrials having to reduce prices and/or operating margins and loss of market share. Competitors
vary in size and in the products and services they offer to the market, and may include CROs or drug companies that have
developed their own internal solutions.

Our competitive advantage will depend on:
Qur ability to maintain a technological edge through robust product development;
+  Gaining access to international markets through growing our sales force and support infrastructure;
= Maintaining a level of outstanding customer service;
+ Proving a return on investment for those clients currently using paper; and
= Performance, security, and reliability of hosted software solutions.

We believe that we compete favorably with other vendors on the basis of these factors. Some of our competitors and
potential competitors have more market share, are more established, and have significantly greater resources. We cannot
assure you that our current or prospective competitors will not offer or develop products or services that are superior to, or
that achieve greater market acceptance than, our products and services.

Intellectual Property Rights

Our success depends, in part, upon our proprietary technology, processes, trade secrets, and other proprietary
information, and our ability to protect this information from unauthorized disclosure and use. We rely on a combination of
copyright, trade secret, and traderark laws, confidentiality procedures, contractual provisions and other similar measures to

protect our proprietary information. We have licensed from MiniDoc AB rights to MiniDoc diary technology and issued
patents.




Our software and business processes embody numerous trade secrets which we protect through various physical and
technical security measures, as well as by agreement. Qur software, related manuals and other written materials are subject to
copyright protection. Qur etrials trademark serves to identify and distinguish our software and services in the market. .The
etrials mark is a registered trademark as of December 27, 2005.

Over the past several years, etrials has made numerous changes in our product names. We cannot have assurance
that our strategy with respect to our trademark portfolio will be adequate to secure or protect and intellectual property. There
can be no assurance that our means of protecting these proprietary rights will be adequate or that our competitors will not
independently develop similar technology.

As part of our efforts to protect our proprietary information, we enter into license agreements with our customers
and nondisclosure agreements with certain of our employees, consultants and corporate partners. These agreements generally
contain restrictions on disclosure, use and transfer of our proprietary information.

The software and Intemet industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, trademarks and
copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights.
As the number of entrants into our market increases, the possibility of an intellectual property claim against it grows. Our
technologies may not be able to withstand third-party claims or rights against their use. Any intellectual property claims, with
or without merit, could be time-consuming and expensive to litigate or settle, and could divert management attention from
executing etrials’ business plan. In addition, etrials’ agreements often require us to indemnify our clients for third-party
intellectual property infringement claims, which would increase the cost to us of an adverse ruling in such a claim. An
adverse determination could also prevent etrials from offering our technologies and services to others.

While we do not believe that our products, trademarks, copyrights, or other proprietary rights infringe the
proprietary rights of third parties, third parties may assert infringement claims against us in the future with respect to current
or future products. Further, etrials expects that we may become subject to infringement claims as the number of products and
competitors in our industry segment grows and the functionality of products in different industry segments overlaps. From
time to time, etrials hires employees and retains consultants who have worked for independent software vendors or other
companies developing products similar to those offered by us. Such vendors or companies may claim that etrials’ products
are based on their products and that etrials as misappropriated their intellectual property. Any such claims, with or without
merit, could cause a significant diversion of management attention, result in costly and protracted litigation, cause product
shipment delays or require etrials to enter into royalty or licensing agreements with third parties. Such royalty or licensing
agreements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to etrials or at all, which would have a material adverse
effect upon our business and financial position.

etrials assumed all MiniDoc liability retated to alleged past infringement of PHT Corporation’s U.S. Patent No.
6,095,985 and as a part of the confidential settlement agreement by and between etrials and PHT Corporation, etrials
negotiated a release of any and all claims against MiniDoc related to such alleged infringement of PHT’s patent. During
2005, we settled an infringement claim brought by a PHT Corporation. Our legal defense costs prior to settlement were
substantial. On August 22, 2005, etrials and the plaintiff entered into a Settlement and License Agreement to settle the patent
infringement action filed in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. We agreed to pay the plaintiff
$279,114 as a settlement of the lawsuit. This amount was paid in 2005. We also agreed to pay future royalties through the
expiration of the last to expire plaintiff patent, for the license of the plaintiff patents based upon revenues from diary studies
conducted by us in the United States and certain international studies.

On July 17, 2006, an action was filed by Datasci, LLC alleging that we had infringed on its patent. The plaintiff
alleging infringement has not specified damages so management is unable to estimate a potential range of loss, if any.
Management intends to vigorously contest the action. No assurance can be given as to the outcome of this litigation. See
“Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS™ for additional information about this litigation.

We are aware of other infringement legal actions against companies in our industry involving patents with broad
claims. From time to time, we have been contacted by companies seeking to license their patents to us. To date, however,
except as disclosed above, we have not become a party to any such infringement legal action or paid any license fees to
persons who have alleged possible infringement by our products. There can be no assurance, however, that future
infringement claims will not result in litigation or settlements that result in us acquiring licenses from third parties.




Potential Liability and Insurance

We attempt to manage our risk of liability for personal injury or death to study subjects from administration of
products under study through contractual indemnification provisions with clients and through insurance maintained by our
clients and us. Contractual indemnification generally does not protect us against certain of our own actions, such as
negligence. The terms and scope of such indemnification vary from client to client and from trial to trial. Although most of
our clients are large, well-capitalized companies, the financial viability of these indemnification provisions cannot be assured.
Therefore, we bear the risk that the indemnifying party may not have the financial ability to fulfill its indemmfication
obligations to us. We maintain errors and omissions professional liability insurance in the amount of 85 million per claim and
$5 million in the aggregate during any policy year. Our operating results could be materially and adversely affected if we
were required to pay damages or incur defense costs in connection with a claim that is beyond the scope of an indemnity
provision or beyond the scope or level of insurance coverage maintained by etrials or the client or where the indemnifying
party does not fulfill its indemnification obligations to etrials.

Regulatory Matters

Our clinical trial software is subject to various regulatory requirements designed to ensure the quality and integrity
of the data. Many regulatory authorities, including those in the European Union, or EU, require that study results and data
submitted to such authorities be based on studies conducted in accordance with what are called Good Clinical Practice
(“GCP”). These provisions represent global industry standards for conducting clinical research and development studies.
Records for clinical studies must be maintained for specified periods for inspection by the FDA and other regulators.
Significant non-compliance with GCP requirements can result in the disqualification of data collected during the clinical trial.
We are also obligated to comply with regulations issued by national and supra-national regulators such as the FDA and the
European Medicines Agency, or (“EMEA™). By way of example, these regulations include the FDA’s regulations on
electronic records and signatures (21 CFR Part 11), which set out requirements for data in electronic format regarding
submissions made to the FDA, and the EMEA’s Note for Guidance “Good Clinical Practice for Trials on Medicinal Products
in the European Community.” We write our standard operating procedures related to clinical studies in accordance with
regulations and guidelines appropriate to the region where they will be used, thus helping to ensure compliance with GCP.
Our commercial services are subject to detailed and comprehensive regulation in each geographic market in which we
operate.

From time to time, one or more of our customers may be investigated by regulatory authorities or enforcement
agencies with respect to regulatory compliance of clinical trials and programs. In these situations, etrials may provide
services to our customers with respect to the trials and programs being investigated, if we are called upon to respond to
requests for information by these authorities and agencies.

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, requires the use of standard
transactions, privacy and security standards and other administrative simplification provisions by covered entities, which
includes many healthcare providers, health plans and healthcare clearinghouses. The U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services (“HHS”) has promulgated regulations implementing standards in the United States on Standards for Privacy of
Individually Identifiable Health Information to implement the privacy requirements for HIPAA. These regulations generally
(1) impose standards for covered entities transmitting or maintaining protected data in an electronic, paper or oral form with
respect to the rights of individuals who are the subject of protected health information; and (2) establish procedures for (a) the
exercise of those individuals’ rights, (b) the uses and disclosure of protected health information by the covered entity, and
(c) the methods permissible for de-identification of health information. etrials is not a “covered entity” under the HIPAA
Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information (also known as the HIPAA Privacy Rule).

We receive identifiable health information from our clients and from their clients who are covered entities or who
are employed by covered entities. In order for covered entities to disclose identifiable health information, there must be an
applicable permission from the research participant or an exception under the HIPAA Privacy Rule. Based on our
communications with our clients from whom we receive identifiable health information, we believe that we will continue to
be able to obtain such information, consistent with requirements of the HIPAA Privacy Rule. However, if the covered entities
do not understand the permissions for disclosure of information, it is possible that they could object to providing identifiable
health information to etrials, which could have an adverse effect on our ability to receive such information in a manner that
will not impact our business operations.

The impact of such legislation and regulations relating to identifiable health information in the United States cannot
be predicted. Other countries have or are in the process of putting privacy laws into place affecting similar areas of our
business. For instance, the EU Directive applies standards for the protection of all personal data, not just health information,
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in the EU and requires the EU member states to enact national laws implementing the Directive. Such legislation or
regulations could materially affect our business.

Employees
As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 124 full-time and part-time employees. No employees are known

to be represented by a collective bargaining agreement and we have never experienced a strike or similar work stoppage, We
consider our relations with our employees to be good.

Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following risk factors, together with all of the other information included in this
Report.

We have organized these factors into the following categories below.
+ our financial condition
* our products and operations
* our market, customers and partners
+ our officers, directors and employees
* regulatory matters that affect our business
*  our securities
L. Risks associated with our financial condition.
(1) We have had recurring losses from operations and may never achieve and maintain profitability.
At December 31, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $23.7 million, including a net loss
attributable to common stockholders of approximately $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. There is no

assurance that we will ever be able to achieve and maintain profitability.

{2) We may require additional financing to fund potential acquisitions. If financing is not available, we may not be
able to grow as we plan.

At December 31, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling approximately $20.0
million and tangible assets of approximately $27.4 million. We may use our capital to fund acquisitions of other companies
and other technologies. However, in the future, we may be required to seek additional financing to fund potential acquisition
opportunities, We cannot assure you that such funding will be available. If sufficient capital is not raised, our ability to grow
through acquisitions or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be significantly limited,

(3) If we are able to raise capital, but not on favorable terms, existing stockholders may suffer dilution of their
ownership interests or otherwise lose value in their securities.

If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity securities or debt convertible into equity securities, the
percentage of stock ownership by existing stockholders would be reduced. In addition, such securities could have rights,
preferences and privileges senior to those of our stockholders, which could substantially decrease the value of our securities
owned by them.

(4) We depend on nonrecurring revenue streams and if we experience significant fluctuations in operating results and
rate of growth and fail to balance expenses with revenue and earnings expectations, our revenue and margins may
decrease and our stock price may fall.

Due to our evolving business model and the unpredictability of the emerging industry, we may not be able to
accurately forecast our rate of growth. We have historically depended on nonrecurring revenue derived from payments
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received for providing services for specific customer projects, which is recognized as work is performed over the term of the
contracts for the projects. As a result, our operating results may fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis. The volume of
services required by customers depends in part upon the progress and results of clinical trials the customer is conducting
during the quarter, which is outside our control. Accordingly, etrials believes that period-to-period comparisons of its
operating results may not be meaningful, and you should not rely upon them as an indication of our future performance.
Since future revenues are unpredictable, we may not be able to adjust our spending quickly enough if our revenue falls short
of expectations. This would substantially decrease our revenue, margins and our stock price.

(5) Because we will recognize revenue over the terms of our agreements, downturns or upturns in sales may not be
immediately reflected in operating results.

We will generally recognize revenue over the terms of our agreements under the proportional performance method.
As a result, much of the revenue we report each quarter was originally deferred from agreements entered into during previous
quarters. While we will begin recognizing revenue upon the commencement of work after execution of agreements for
software term licenses and related services, it may be difficult to rapidly increase revenue through additional new contract
awards in any period as services revenues from new customers is recognized as work is performed over the applicable license
term, typically several months to several years. As a result, we may not recognize significant revenues, if any, from some
customers despite incurring considerable sales expenses related to new contract awards. Further, a decline in new or renewed
agreements in any one quarter will not necessarily be fully reflected in a decline in the revenue in that quarter, but it may
negatively affect our revenue in future quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in transactions may not be
fully reflected in results of operations until future periods. Our reliance on deferred revenue makes it difficult for us to rapidly
increase our revenue through additional new contract awards in any period, as revenue from new partners must be recognized
over the applicable agreement term.

I1. Risks associated with our software application and services

(6) We may not successfully develop or introduce new software applications or enhancements to existing software
applications, which could result in lost business.

Our future financial performance and revenue growth will depend, in part, upon the successful development,
introduction, and customer acceptance of new software applications or new versions of existing software applications. Our
business could be harmed if we fail to deliver enhancements desired by customers or to keep pace with changes in hardware
and software platforms, database technology, and electronic commerce technical standards. From time to time, we have
experienced delays in the planned release dates of software and upgrades and new product versions or upgrades may not be
released according to schedule. This could result in adverse publicity, loss of sales, delay in market acceptance of services
and software applications, or customer claims against us, any of which could harm our business. We also continually seek to
develop new offerings. However, we are subject to all of the risks inherent in software development, including unanticipated
technical or other development problems, which could result in material delays in product introduction and acceptance or
significantly increased costs. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully develop new services or software
applications, or to introduce in a timely manner and gain acceptance of such new services or software applications in the
marketplace.

(7) Defects in our software application-hosting service could diminish demand for our service and subject us to
substantial liability, damage our reputation, or substantially decrease our revenue or margins or increase our
expenses.

Because our software application-hosting service is complex, it may have errors or defects that users identify after
they begin using it, which could harm our reputation and business. Internet-based software frequently contains undetected
errors when first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released. We have from time to time found defects in
our software and new errors in our existing service may be detected in the future. Since customers use our software and
service for important aspects of their business, any errors, defects or other performance problems with our service could hurt
our reputation and may damage our customers’ businesses, If that occurs, customers could elect not to renew, or delay or
withhold payment, we could lose future sales or customers may make warranty claims against us, which could result in an
increase in our provision for doubtful accounts, an increase in collection cycles for accounts receivable or the expense and
risk of litigation.
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(8) The success of our business depends on the continued growth and acceptance of the internet as a busipess tool. If
these pesitive trends do not continue to develop, we may fail to grow our revenue. The market for our technology
delivery model and internet-based application software for clinical trials is immature and volatile, and if it does not
develop or develops more slowly than we expect, we may fail to grow our revenue.

Increasing revenues depends on the continued growth and acceptance of the Internet as a communications and
commerce platform for enterprises. The Internet could lose its viability as a business tool due to delays in the development or
adoption of new standards and protocols to handle increased demands of Internet activity, security, reliability, cost, ease-of-
use, accessibility and quality-of-service. The performance of the Internet and its acceptance as a business tool has been
harmed by “viruses,” “worms” and similar malicious programs, and the Internet has experienced a variety of outages and
other delays as a result of damage to portions of its infrastructure. If for any reason the Internet does not remain a widespread
communications medium and commercial platform, the demand for our services would be significantly reduced, which
would significantly reduce revenue.

Our efforts to establish a standardized electronic data capture (EDC) process for collection and management of
clinical research data represent a significant departure from the traditional clinical research practices of clinical trial sponsors,
The long-term viability of our business remains unproven. Qur strategy may not gain acceptance among sponsors of clinical
research, research sites or investigators. If our business strategies fail, we will fail to achieve our business plan and you may
lose all or part of your investment. Many businesses have invested substantial personnel and financial resources to conduct
clinical triais and therefore may be reluctant or unwilling to migrate to on-demand application services. Furthermore, some
potential customers may be reluctant or unwilling to use Internet-based application services, because they have concerns
regarding the risks associated with security capabilities, among other things, of the technology delivery model associated
with these services. If businesses do not perceive the benefits of Internet-based application services, then the market for these
services may not develop at all, or it may develop more slowly than we expect, either of which would significantly adversely
affect operating results. In addition, because this is an unproven market, we have limited insight into trends that may develop
and affect our business.

(9) If we acquire companies, software applications, or technologies, we may face risks associated with those
acquisitions. These risks include, but are not limited to, difficulty of integrating, dilution of stockholder value and
disruption of business, which could substantially decrease our revenue or margins or increase our expenses.

In the future, we plan to acquire products or technologies from other companies. We may not realize the anticipated
benefits of our future acquisitions or investments to the extent that we anticipate, or at all. If any acquisition or investment is
not perceived as improving earnings per share, our stock price may decline. In addition, we may incur non-cash amortization
charges from acquisitions, which could harm operating results. Any completed acquisitions would also require significant
integration efforts, diverting attention from existing business operations and strategy. We have made only small acquisitions
to date, so our ability as an organization to make acquisitions or investments is unproven. Acquisitiens and investments
involve numerous risks, including:

+ difficulties in integrating operations, technologies, services and personnel;

+ diversion of financial and managerial resources from existing operations;

* risk of entering new markets;

+ potential write-offs of acquired assets;

« potential loss of key employees;

* inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition or investment costs;
» delays in customer purchases due to uncertainty;

» risk of operating and integrating geographically remote offices;

» risk of losing customers of the acquired companies due to actual or perceived changes in operations and customer
interfaces; and
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+  risks of implementing and monitoring compliance with corporate governance and public company reporting
requirements and the ability of management to manage and timely and accurately consolidate the results of
operations.

In addition, if we finance acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or equity securities, existing stockholders may be
diluted which could affect the market price of our stock. As a result, if we fail to properly evaluate and execute acquisitions
or investments, our revenue and margins may substantially decrease or our expenses may increase.

(10) We rely on third-party hardware and software that may be difficult to replace or which could cause errors or
failures in service. Such events may harm our relationship with customers.

We rely on hardware purchased or leased and software licensed from third parties in order to offer our service. We
use commercially available software from vendors like MicroSoft, Oracle and Business Objects. In addition, our products
include numerous third party licensed components. These software and hardware systems, as wel! as any third party
embedded components, will need periodic upgrades in the future as part of normal operation of business, which will be an
added expense.

The hardware and software we use, including third party embedded components, may not continue to be available
on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or upgrades may not be available when we need them. Certain of the databases
and libraries included in our products could not easily be replaced and any change in these components would require
additional development efforts on our part. We are not currently aware of any problems, but any loss of the right to use any
of this hardware or software could result in delays in providing our services until we develop equivalent technology or, if
already available, is identified, obtained and integrated. Any errors or defects in, or unavailability of, third-party hardware or
software could result in errors or a failure of our service, which could harm our relationships with customers.

(11) Security and other concerns may discourage use of our internet based software, which could significantly reduce
revenues.

Our service involves the storage and transmission of customers’ proprietary information, and security breaches
could expose us to a risk of loss of this information, litigation and possible liability. If our security measures are breached as
a result of third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, and, as a result, someone obtains unauthorized access
to one of our customers’ data, our reputation will be damaged, our business may suffer and we could incur significant
liability. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are
not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate
preventative measures. If an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of
our security measures could be harmed and we could lose sales and customers. If customers determine that our service
offerings do not provide adequate security for the dissemination of information over the Internet or corporate extranets, or are
otherwise inadequate for Internet or extranet use, we will tose business and suffer significant declines in revenue.

IIL. Risks associated with our market, custemers and partners

(12) We have several large clients from whom we derive substantial revenue and therefore the loss of even a few of
our clients could significantly reduce our revenues.

We currently derive and expect to continue to derive a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of
clients. We have three clients that accounted for approximately 43% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006.
If we lose one of these clients or other significant clients and do not replace them with new clients, our revenues will decrease
and may not be sufficient to cover our costs.

(13) Price controls on what our clients charge may cause our clients to decrease their purchases of information
technology, including our seftware and services, and they may pressure us to decrease the prices we charge our
customers.

The prices our clients charge for their products are subject to price controls in many countries and there is increasing
pressure for greater price controls in the United States. Controls on what our clients charge may cause our clients to decrease
their purchases of information technology, including our software and services. This could substantially decrease the size of
our market and impact our ability to sell products and services or force us to reduce our profit margins.
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(14) If clinical trial sponsors and customers do not shift from their existing paper-based methods of collecting and
managing clinical trial data to an electronic system, we may not achieve the market penetration necessary to grow the
business at expected levels.

Our efforts to establish a standardized, electronic process to collect, manage and analyze clinical trial and cardiac
safety data are a significant departure from the traditional clinical research process. We estimate that the majority of clinical
trials today use manual, paper-based data entry, management and analysis tools. Each clinical trial can involve a multitude of
participants, including the sponsor, a contract research organization (“CRO™), regionat site managers, investigators and
patients. With so many participants involved in a clinical trial, it may be difficult to convince a sponsor or CRO to accept
new methods of conducting a clinical trial. We may not be successful in persuading these participants to change the manner
in which they have traditionally operated and to accept our products and services. If participants conducting clinical trials are
unwilling to adopt our technology solutions and new ways of conducting business, our revenues may not be sufficient fo
sustain our operations.

{15} We depend entirely on the clinical trial market and a downturn in this market could canse our revenues to
decrease.

Our business depends entirely on the clinical trials that pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device
companies conduct. Our revenues will decline if there is less competition in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology or medical
device industries, which would result in fewer products under development and decreased pressure to accelerate a product
approval. Our revenues will also decline if the FDA or similar agencies in foreign countries loosen their requirements,
thereby decreasing the complexity of conducting clinical trials. Any other developments that adversely affect the
pharmaceutical, biotechnology or medical device industries generally, including product liability claims, new technologies or
products or general business conditions, could also decrease the volume of our business.

(16) We may lose revenue if our clients experience delays in clinical trials or if we lose contracts. Consequently,
contracts we have signed may not result in our collecting or recognizing the amount of revenue stated in the contracts.

Although our contracts provide that we are contractually entitled to receive fees for services provided through the
date of termination, customers generally are free to delay or terminate a clinical trial or their contract related to the trial at any
time. The length of a typical clinical trial contract varies from several months to several years. Clinical trial sponsors may
delay or terminate clinical trials for several reasons, including;

» unexpected results or adverse patient reactions to a potential product;

* inadequate patient enrollment or investigator recruitment;

» manufacturing problems resulting in shortages of a potential product; or

+ decisions by the sponsor to de-emphasize or terminate a particular trial or drug.
» adjustments of our multi-year subscription license agreements.

We may lose revenues if a clinical trial sponsor decides to delay or terminate a trial in which we participate.
Consequently, contracts etrials has signed may not result in it collecting or recognizing the amount of revenue stated in the
contracts. We have experienced terminations and delays of our customer service contracts in the past and expect to
experience additional terminations and delays in the future.

(17) We face significant competition, which could cause us to lose business or have lower margins.

The market for our solutions is intensely competitive and rapidly changing. The direct competition we face depends
on the market segment focus and delivery model capabilities of our competitors. We also at times have to overcome customer
reluctance to move away from existing paper-based systems. We have two primary categories of competitors: companies that
are large clinical research organizations that provide data collection and other services to pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies and smaller applications software companies that license software to perform these functions. Many of our
competitors have longer operating histories, greater financial, technical, marketing, and other resources, greater name
recognition, and a larger total number of customers for their products and services than we do. These competitors may also be
able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements, or to devote greater
resources to the development, promotion, and sale of their products, than we may be able to do. In addition, we anticipate
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new competitors will enter the market in the future. Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced operating
margins, and change in market share and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results
of operations. New product announcements by competitors may make it difficult to sell our products even before the
competitor releases the product.

(18) There are risks associated with international operations, which we expect will become a bigger part of our
business in the future.

We plan to conduct greater international operations in the future as compani¢s move more of their clinical trial
operations off-shore. These international operations are subject to a number of difficulties and special costs, including:
government regulations; trade restrictions; costs of customizing software products for foreign countries; laws and business
practices favoring local competitors; uncertain regulation of electronic commerce; compliance with multiple, conflicting, and
changing governmental laws and regulations; longer sales cycles; greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable; import
and export restrictions and tariffs; potentially weaker protection for etrials’ intellectual property than in the United States, and
practical difficulties in enforcing such rights abroad; difficulties staffing and managing foreign operations; multiple
conflicting tax laws and regulations; and political and economic instability.

Our international operations will also face foreign currency-related risks. To date, most of our revenues have been
denominated in United States dollars, but we believe that an increasing portion of our revenues will be denominated in
foreign currencies. We must also customize our services and software applications for international markets. This process is
much more complex than merely translating languages. Any variation in laws or practices from one country to another may
substantially decrease the value of our software applications in that country, unless we identify the important differences and
customize our software applications to address the differences. The agreements that we sign with clients outside the United
States may be governed by the laws of the countries where we provide our software applications and services. We may also
need to resolve any disputes under these agreements in the courts or other dispute resolution forums in those countries. Our
international operations also increase exposure to international laws and regulations, which are often complex.

1V. Risks associated with our officers, directors and employees

(19) Any failure to adequately expand our direct sales force or to compensate sales personnel in appropriate ways will
result in our being understaffed and this will reduce our sales and revenues.

We expect to be substantially dependent on our direct sales force to obtain new customers. We believe that there is
significant competition for direct sales personnel with advanced sales skills and technical knowledge. Our ability to achieve
significant growth in revenue in the future will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining
sufficient direct sales personnel. New hires require significant training and may, in some cases, take more than a year before
they achieve full productivity. Our existing personnel and planned hires may not become as productive as we would like, and
we may be unable to hire sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we do business. We
also will have to develop compensation packages that properly incentivize successful sales, including both selling to new
customers and increasing sales to existing customers. If we are unable to hire and develop sufficient numbers of productive
sales personnel, or develop compensation packages that properly incentivize successful sales, then we will not be able to
maintain an adequate sales force and the sales of our services will suffer.

(20) Because competition for our target employees is intense, we may not be able to attract and retain the highly
skilled employees we need to support our planned growth. If this occurs, we may not be able to increase our sales or
provide services to our customers.

To execute our growth plan, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. Competition for these personnel
is intense, especially for engineers with high levels of experience in designing and developing software and Internet-related
services and senior sales executives, as well as people with clinical trial and related health care industry experience.
Personne! with experience in both software and health care industries are in high demand by other employers. We may not be
successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel. We have from time to time in the past experienced, and expect to
continue to experience in the future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate
qualifications. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we
have. In addition, in making employment decisions, particularly in the Internet and high-technology industries, job candidates
often consider the value of the stock options they are to receive in connection with their employment. Significant volatility in
the price of our stock may, therefore, adversely affect our ability to attract or retain key employees. Furthermore, the recent
changes in policies regarding the accounting for stock options may discourage us from granting the size or type of stock
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options awards that job candidates require to join the company. If this occurs, we may not able to increase our sales or
provide services to our customer.

(21) As we transition to software subscription agreements and technology transfer agreements, our personnel will
have to learn new skills or we may need to replace our personnel.

Our initial business model was originally oriented to provide services with the assistance of software. Some of our
current personnel were trained in that service-oriented industry, either by us or by clinical research organizations or
pharmaceutical companies, including both sales and customer service personnel. With our current focus on selling
technology transfer services and software subscription agreements to customers, we expect that each year more of our
business will be software-oriented, training and consulting services and less dependent on clinical trial services. This may
require us to either retrain existing personnel or replace existing personnel with employees with software industry experience.
If we are not successful in this transition, we may fail to grow our revenue.

(22) Our executive management team is critical to the execution of our business plan and the loss of their services
could severely impact our ability to maintain and grow our business.

Our success depends significantly on the continued services of our management personnel, including John Cline, our
Chief Executive Officer, James Clark, our Chief Financial Officer, and Michael Harte, our Senior Vice President of Strategic
Accounts. Losing any one of our officers could seriously harm our business. Competition for executives is intense. If we have
to replace any of our officers, we would not be able to replace the significant amount of knowledge that they have about our
operations. We do not maintain key man insurance policies on anyone.

V. Regulatory matters that affect our business

{23) Extensive governmental regulation of the clinical trial process could require costly modifications to our products,
adversely affect prospective clients’ willingness to use our software products and services and could increase
competition and reduce our market share,

We may incur increased expenses or suffer a reduction in revenues, if our software products and services do not
comply with applicable government regulations or if regulations allow more competition in the market place. The FDA has
published regulations and guidelines addressing a broad range of matters relating to the use of computerized systems to
collect, manage and analyze data from clinical trials. Moreover, electronic data entry, management and analysis of medical
information pertaining to subjects in clinical trials will be subject to state and federal government regutations that are not yet
finalized. Conforming our products and services to these guidelines or to future changes in regulation could substantially
increase our expenses. In the United States and in foreign countries, regulatory authorities have also established other
standards for conducting clinical trials leading to the approval of new products with which we must comply. We are either
directly or indirectly subject to, or affected by, these regulations, because our software products and services assist sponsers
and CROs in conducting irials and preparing new drug or device applications. If a regulatory authority concludes that trials
were not conducted in accordance with established requirements, it may take a variety of enforcement actions depending
upon the nature of the violation and the applicable country. In the United States, these measures may range from issuing a
warning letter or seeking injunctive relief or civil penalties to recommending criminal prosecution, which could result in a
prohibition of our continued participation in clinical trials.

(24) Changes in government regulations relating to the health care industry could have a material adverse effect on
the demand for our services, which could substantially reduce our revenue.

Demand for our services is largely a function of the regulatory requirements associated with the approval of a New
Drug Application by the FDA. These requirements are more stringent and thus more burdensome than those imposed by
many other developed countries. In recent years, efforts have been made to streamline the drug approval process and
coordinate U.S. standards with those of other developed countries. Changes in the level of regulation, including a relaxation
in regulatory requirements or the introduction of simplified drug approval procedures could reduce the demand for our
services. Several competing proposals to reform the system of health care delivery in the United States have been considered
by Congress from time to time. To date, none of these proposals have been adopted.

The FDA’s guidelines and rules related to the use of computerized systems in clinical trials are still in the early
stages of development. Cur products and services may not continue to comply with these guidelines and rules as they
develop, and comresponding changes to its products and services may be required. Any release of FDA guidance that is
significantly inconsistent with the design of our products and services may cause us to incur substantial costs to remain in
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compliance with FDA guidance and regulations. We cannot assure you that our products and service offerings will comply
with applicable regulations and regulatory guidelines as they develop. If our products or services fail to comply with any
applicable government regulations or guidelines, we could incur significant liability or be forced to cease offering applicable
products or services. :

{25) Current trends are that our customers have higher risks of product liability and similar claims related to how
they conduct clinical trials and analyze information from clinical trials both before and after drugs are sold in the
market. This could result in product liability claims relating to our software applications or services.

Current trends are that our customers have higher risk of product liability and similar claims related to how they
conduct clinical trials and analyze information from clinical trials both before and after drugs are sold in the market. Any
failure or errors in a customer’s clinical trial or adverse event reporting obligations caused or allegedly caused by our
software applications or services could result in a claim for substantial damages against us by our customers or the clinical
trial participants, regardless of our responsibility for the failure. Although our contracts with customers generally provide that
we are entitled to indemnification against claims brought against us by third parties arising out of our customers’ use of our
software applications, we might find ourselves entangled in lawsuits that, even if unsuccessful, divert our resources and
energy and adversely affect our business. Further, in the event we seek indemnification from a customer, we cannot assure
you that a court will enforce our indemnification right or that the customer will be able to fund any amounts for
indemnification owed to us. We maintain $5 million of insurance policies to cover claims that may be brought against us.
This coverage may not be adequate, We also cannot assure you that our existing insurance coverage will continue to be
available on reasonable terms or will be available in amounts sufficient to cover one or more large claims, or that the insurer
will not disclaim coverage as to any future claim.

(26) Privacy concerns and laws or other domestic or foreign regulations may reduce the effectiveness of our services
and products. If this occurs, our revenue may be substantially reduced.

Our customers can use our service to store contact and other personal or identifying information regarding their
customers, contacts and clinical trial participants. Federal, state and foreign government bodies and agencies, however, have
adopted or are considering adopting laws and regulations regarding the collection, use and disclosure of personal information
obtained from consumers and individuals. The costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, such laws and
regulations that are applicable to the businesses of our customers may limit the use and adoption of our service and reduce
overall demand for it. Furthermore, privacy concerns may cause our customers’ customers to resist providing the personal
data necessary to allow our customers to use our service effectively. Even the perception of privacy concems, whether or not
valid, may inhibit market adoption of our services.

The European Union has also adopted a data privacy directive that requires member states to impose restrictions on
the collection and use of personal data that, in some respects, are far more stringent, and impose more significant burdens on
subject businesses, than current privacy standards in the United States. All of these domestic and international legislative and
regulatory initiatives may adversely affect our customers’ ability to collect and/or use demographic and personal information
from their customers, which could reduce demand for our service.

In addition to government activity, privacy advocacy groups and the technology and other industries are considering
various new, additional or different self-regulatory standards that may place additional burdens on us. If the gathering of
personal information were to be curtailed in this manner, certain of our services and products would be less effective, which
may reduce demand for them. If this occurs, our revenue may be substantially reduced.

(27) Evolving regulation of the Internet may either reduce our revenue or increase our expenses.

As Internet commerce continues to evolve, increasing regulation by federal, state or foreign agencies becomes more
likely. For example, we believe increased regulation is likely in the area of data privacy, and laws and regulations applying to
the solicitation, collection, processing or use of personal or consumer information could affect our customers’ ability to use
and share data, potentially reducing demand for our services and restricting our ability to store, process and share data with
our customers. In addition, taxation of services provided over the Internet or other charges imposed by government agencies
or by private organizations for accessing the Internet may also be imposed. Any regulation imposing greater fees for Internet
use or restricting information exchange over the Internet could result in a decline in the use of the Internet and the viability of
Internet-based services, which could either reduce our revenue or increase our expenses.

(28) Our ability to pretect our intellectual property is limited. We have been sned for patent infringement and our
products may be subject to other infringement claims by third parties.
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We do not own any issued patents. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may
attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary, and third parties may
attempt to develop similar technology independently. Policing unauthorized use of our products is difficult, particularly
because the global nature of the Internet makes it difficult to control the ultimate destination or security of software or other
data transmitted. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as
do the laws of the United States, and we expect that it will become more difficult to monitor use of our products as we
increase our international presence. The software and Internet industries are characterized by the existence of a large number
of patents, trademarks and copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of
intellectual property rights. During 2004 and 2006, we were sued for patent infringement (the 2004 suit was ultimately
settled). Sce “Description of Business — Intellectual Property Rights” for a description of the patent infringement litigation
settlement. From time to time, we have been contacted by companies seeking to license their patents to us. To date,
however, except as disclosed above, we have not become a party to any such infringement legal action or paid any license
fees to persons who have alleged possible infringement by our products. There can be no assurance, however, that future
infringement claims will not result in litigation or settlements that result in us acquiring licenses from third parties. Our
technologies may not be able to withstand any third-party claims or rights against their use. Any intellectual property claims,
with or without merit, could be time-consuming and expensive to litigate or settle, and could divert management attention
from executing our business plan. In addition, our agreements often require us to indemnify our partners and customers for
third-party intellectual property infringement claims, which would increase the cost of an adverse ruling in such a claim.

V1. Risks Related to Our Securities

{29) On February 9, 2006, we issued a substantial number of shares of common stock and warrants in the merger, all
of which were registered. The warrants are freely saleable immediately, but see Risk Facter Number 31 for
discussion of the status of the registration statement that registers the issnance of warrant shares. These additional
shares and warrants issued may cause a decline in the market price of our commeon stock and warrants.

In the merger, with CEA, that occurred on February 9, 2006 we issued 7,446,360 shares of common stock and
warrants to purchase 4,250,000 shares of commaon stock to the pre-merger shareholders of etrials. These shares and warrants
were registered for resale. A lock-up agreement, which was executed by persons who were issued in the aggregate
approximately 4.9 million shares of common stock in the merger provided that they may not sell or otherwise transfer any of
the shares of common stock which they receive in the merger (but not any shares issued on exercise of our warrants issued in
the merger) until February 19, 2007, subject to certain releases before then. As a result, the numbers of shares available for
sale increased immediately upon consummation of the merger and increased again as shares under the lock-up agreement
released. Increases in the number of freely tradable shares may adversely impact the market price of our stock.

(30) Our outstanding warrants and options may be exercised in the future, which would increase the number of
shares eligible for future resale in the public market and result in dilution to our stockholders. This might
substantially decrease the market price of the common stock.

We have outstanding redeemable warrants to purchase an aggregate of 12,350,000 shares of common stock. There
are also outstanding stock options to purchase approximately 2.8 million shares of our common stock. To the extent they are
exercised, additional shares of our common stock will be issued that will be eligible for resale in the public market, which
will result in dilution to our stockholders. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market could adversely
affect the market price of such shares.

(31) The registration statements that registered the sale of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of our
warrants are no longer compliant with Securities and Exchange Commission rules and regulations related to the date
of financial statements and other information in registration statements and we will not be able to issue shares of our
Common Stock upon exercise of warrants pursuant to the registration statements until we update them by post-
effective amendment. If a post-effective amendment to these registration statements does not become effective before
the expiration date of the warrants, or if such a post-effective amendment does not remain effective through the
expiration date of our warrants, or if the Common Stock is not qualified or exempt from qualification in the
jurisdictions in which warrant holders reside, the warrants may be deprived of any value and the market for the
warrants may be limited.

We currently have outstanding 12,350,000 warrants. Each warrant is for one share of our Common Stock at an
exercise price of $5.00 per share. None of our warrants have been exercised. The warrants expire on February 12, 2008,
unless redeemed before that time. The Warrants are redeemable at the option of the Company at a price of $.01 per Warrant
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upon 30 days notice by the Company after the Warrants become exercisable, only in the ¢vent that the last sale price of the
common stock of the Company is at least $8.50 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading day peried ending on
the third day prior to date on which notice of redemption is given. In addition, 700,000 Warrants underlying an underwriters’
purchase option are subject to the same terms and conditions as the outstanding Warrants of the Company described above,
except that the exercise price is $6.40 per share.

The registration statements that registered the sale of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of our
warrants are no longer compliant with Securities and Exchange Commission rules and regulations related to the date of
financial statements and other information in registration statements. Until we file a post-effective amendment updating
financial and other information about our business, and satisfy any comments the staff of the Commission may have and the
post-effective amendment becomes effective, we will not be able to issue shares of our Common Stock pursuant to the
registration statement should any holder of warrants seek to exercise any warrants.  If a post-effective amendment does not
become effective before the expiration date of the warrants, or if such a post-effective amendment does not remain effective
through the expiration date of our warrants, or if the Common Stock is not qualified or exempt from qualification in the
jurisdictions in which warrant holders reside, the warrants may be deprived of any value and the market for the warrants may
be limited. Failure to maintain current registration statements may also adversely affect the market price of warrants.

At March 23, 2007, the market price of our Common Stock was $4.41 per share, which is lower than the $5.00
exercise price of our warrants. Until the market price of our Common Stock equals or exceeds the exercise price of our
warrants, persons who desire to acquire our Common Stock will generally be able to purchase shares of Common stock in the
public markets at a lower price than they would obtain by exercising warrants. We intend to begin the process of amending
our registration statement to include updated financial statements and other information about our business after completing
the filing of this 10-KSB. SEC review of the amendment may delay the amendment becoming effective for several months
and timing of effectiveness is outside of our control.

(32) Veting control by our executive officers, directors and other affiliates may limit your ability to influence the
outcome of director elections and other matters requiring stockholder approval.

In connection with the merger, the stockholders who own approximately 48% of our voting stock executed a voting
agreement in which they agreed to vote for each others designees to our board of directors through director elections in 2007.
Accordingly, they will be able to control the election of directors and, therefore our policies and direction during the term of
the voting agreement. This concentration of ownership and voting agreement could have the effect of delaying or preventing
a change in our control or discouraging a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, which in turn could have
a material adverse effect on the market price of our securities or prevent our stockholders from realizing a premium over the
market price for their shares of common stock.

(33) Our securities began being quoted for trading on the NASDAQ Global Market in February 2000, but there is no
assurance we will continue to meet NASDAQ listing requirements.

Our securities began trading on NASDAQ’s Global Market on February 10, 2006 (“NASDAQ”) which has
qualitative and quantitative listing criteria that we believe we currently meet. These criteria include operating results, net
assets, corporate governance, minimum trading price and minimums for public float, which is the amount of stock not held
by affiliates of the issuer.

To remain eligible to have our securities quoted on NASDAQ, we must file reports with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933 and we must remain current in our periodical reporting
obligations. If for any reason, our securities are not eligible for continued quotation on the NASDAQ, purchasers of our
securities may have difficulty selling their securities should they desire to do so.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We believe that some of the information in this document constitutes forward-looking statements within the
definition of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Our actual results could differ materially from those
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those
discussed in this Report, particularly in “Risk Factors.” You can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as
“may,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “contemplate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intends,” and *“continue” or similar words. You should

read statements that contain these words carefuily because they:

» discuss future expectations;
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* contain projections of future results of operations or financial condition; or
+ state other “forward-looking™ information.

We believe it is important to communicate our expectations to our stockholders. However, there may be events in
the future that we are not able to predict accurately or over which we have no control. The risk factors and cautionary
language discussed in this Report provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause actual results to differ
materially from the expectations described by us in our forward-looking statements:

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-locking statements, which speak only as of the date
of this Report.

All forward-looking statements included herein attributable to any of us, or any person acting on our behalf are
expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. Except to the extent
required by applicable laws and regulations, we undertake no obligations to update these forward-looking statements to
reflect events or circumstances after the date of this document or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Item 2. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

Qur corporate headquarters is located at 4000 Aerial Center Executive Park, Morrisville, North Carolina, and
consists of a single building with approximately 25,000 square feet. The lease for these premises terminates on March 31,
2013. See Note 9 of Notes to Financial Statements of etrials for information about lease payments.

We are the assignee of a lease for approximatety 10,950 square feet of property located at 735 Guilat Avenue
Sittingbourne Research Centre Sittingbourne Kent, England. This lease terminates in 2011.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On hly 17, 2006, Datasci LLC filed a patent infringement lawsuit against etrials Worldwide, Inc. The lawsuit
asserts that etrials’ has infringed US Patent No. 6,496,827 owned by Datasci. The plaintiff alleging infringement has not
specified damages so management is unable to estimate a potential range of loss, if any. Management intends to vigorously
contest the action. No assurance can be given as to the outcome of this litigation.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A YOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
None.

Item 5. MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Market Information

On February 10, 20086, our units, common stock and warrants began to be traded on the NASDAQ Global Market
under the symbols ETWCU, ETWC and ETWCW, respectively. Prior to February 10, 2006, the units, common stock and
warrants of CEA traded on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board under the symbols CEACU, CEAC and CEACW,
respectively. The following table sets forth the range of high and low closing bid prices for the units, common stock and
warrants for the periods indicated since the units commenced public trading on February 13, 2004 and since the common
stock and warrants commenced public trading on February 26, 2004. The over-the-counter market quotations reflect inter-
dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily reflect actual transactions.

Units Common Stock Warrants

2006:

Fourth Quarter 5.10 4.13 4.10 3.08 070 048
Third Quarter 6.21 4.40 493 275 0.85 049
Second Quarter 8.00 5.86 5.54 4.17 1.40 0.62
First Quarter (Feb. 10 — Mar.

31 9.20 7.85 6.15 5.40 1.52 1.08
First Quarter (prior to Feb. 10) 9.07 7.50 6.17 541 1.60 0.94
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2005:

Fourth Quarter 7.65 6.65 5.57 5.20 1.09 0.70
Third Quarter 8.80 6.50 5.95 5.30 1.55 0.58
Second Quarter 8.35 7.00 595 526 .15 0.82
First Quarter 7.90 7.20 5.50 5.25 1.22 0.90

As of March 23, 2007, the aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant was
approximately $28,335,387 million.

As of March 9, 2007, there were 12,303,016 shares of Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share outstanding.
That number includes 1,566,250 “Trigger Shares” which are subject to the risk of cancellation. See Item 11. “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholders Matters — Escrow of Shares” for a
description of the conditions under which Trigger Shares will be cancelled.

See Risk Factor Number 31 and Note 10 of Notes to Financial Statements for information about our warrants and
the status of our registration statement covering the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon exercise of outstanding
warrants.

Holders

As of March 27, 2007 there were 230 holders of record of shares of our Common Stock, 136 holders of record of
our common stock purchase warrants and 1 holder of record of our units (one unit consists of 1 share of Commeon Stock, plus
two Common Stock purchase warrants.)

Dividends

We have not paid any dividends on our common stock to date. The payment of dividends in the future will be
contingent upon, among other things, revenues and eamnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The
payment of any dividends will be within the discretion of our then board of directors. It is the present intention of our board
of directors to retain all earnings, if any, for use in our business operations, including potential acquisitions and, accordingly,
our board does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future. Additionally, under the terms of our line of
credit agreement, which expires on May 31, 2007, we are not permitted to pay dividends.

Securities Repurchases

On September 27, 2006, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to §1,000,000 of Common Stock on
the open market, in block trades and in privately negotiated transactions depending on market conditions and other factors.
This authorization terminates as of June 30, 2007, unless the Board acts to extend its authorization. As of December 31,
2006, we had repurchased and cancelled 123,700 common shares pursuant to this authorization.

Initial Public Offering

On February 19, 2004, CEA closed its initial public offering of 4,025,000 units, including 525,000 units issued upon
exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option, with each unit consisting of one share of our common stock and two
warrants, each to purchase one share of CEA common stock at an exercise price of $5.00 per share. The units were sold at an
offering price of $6.00 per unit, generating gross proceeds of $24,150,100. The managing underwriter in the offering was
Early Bird Capital, Inc. The securities sold in the offering were registered under the Securities Act of 1933 on a registration
statement on Form 5-1 (No. 333-110365). The Securities and Exchange Commission declared the registration statement
effective on February 12, 2004.

CEA paid a total of $1,690,500 in underwriting discounts and commissions and approximately $1,069,500 for other
costs and expenses related to the offering, including $724,500 for the underwriters’ non-accountable expense allowance of
3% of the gross proceeds. After deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and the other offering expenses, the
total net proceeds to us from the offering were approximately $21,390,100, of which $20,527,250 was deposited into a trust
fund and the remaining proceeds (3862,850) are available to be used to provide for business, legal and accounting due
diligence on prospective business combinations and continuing general and administrative expenses. Through December 31,
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2005, CEA had used $854,918 of the net proceeds that were not depasited into the trust fund to pay general and
administrative expenses. The net proceeds deposited into the trust fund remained on deposit in the trust fund and had earned
$829,507 in interest through December 31, 2005.

In connection with CEA’s initial public offering in February 2004, CEA issued to representatives of its underwriter
options to purchase 350,000 units at an exercise price of $9.90 per unit. Each unit consists of one share of common stock and
two warrants to purchase one common share each at an exercise price of $6.40 per share. The unit purchase options expire
on February 11, 2009.

Merger and Accounting Treatment

On August 22, 2005, CEA entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, as amended (“Merger Agreement”), with
etrials Worldwide, Inc., a Delaware corporation and certain stockholders of etrials. On February 9, 2006, the shareholders of
CEA voted to approve the Merger Agreement. On February 9, 2006 etrials Acquisition, Inc. a Delaware corporation and
wholly owned subsidiary of CEA, consummated a merger with etrials Worldwide, Inc., a Delaware corporation, in which
etrials became CEA’s wholly owned subsidiary. CEA formerly changed its name to etrials Worldwide, Inc.

The shares of common stock held by etrials stockholders were converted into a total of 7,446,360 shares of CEA’s
common stock, or approximately 60.3% of the subsequently outstanding common stock of the combined company. None of
the shares of CEA common stock issued in the merger were tradable on the public market until August 2006, after which
shares became tradable in installments, subject to indemnification and other conditions more fully described in CEA’s
registration statement on Form S-4. If the market price of our common stock is not at least $7.00 (as described more fully in
the CEA Form S-4 registration statement} by February 19, 2008, 1,400,000 of the shares issued to the etrials stockholders and
166,250 shares owned by the pre-merger management of CEA will be cancelled. In connection with the merger, etrials’
stockholders also received warrants to purchase an additional 4,300,000 shares of CEA commeon stock with an exercise price
of $5.00 per share. The warrants issued in the merger are immediately tradable.

Upon consummation of the merger, approximately $21.4 million was released from trust to be used by the combined
company. After payments totaling approximately $900,000 for professional fees and other costs related to the merger, the net
proceeds amounted to $20.5 million. In connection with the merger, the Company incurred $793,056 of acquisition costs as
of December 31, 2005, which are recorded within deferred acquisition costs in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
as of December 31, 2006. The total direct and incremental costs incurred by the Company in connection with the merger are
reflected as a reduction to the proceeds and thus as a reduction to additional paid-in capital as of the effective date of the
merger.

The merger was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting as a reverse acquisition in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for accounting and financial reporting purposes. Under this method of
accounting, CEA was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. In accordance with guidance
applicable to these circumstances, this merger was considered to be a capital transaction in substance. Accordingly, for
accounting purposes, the merger was treated as the equivalent of etrials issuing stock for the net monetary assets of CEA,
accompanied by a recapitalization. All historical share and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to give effect
to the reverse acquisition of CEA and related recapitalization.

Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 2005 Equity Performance Plan (the “Plan”) was approved by the shareholders of the Company on
February 9, 2006. The purpose of the Plan is to provide incentives to eligible employees, officers, directors and consultants
in the form of non-qualified stock options and, as permissible, incentive stock options. On February 9, 2006, the Company
had a total of 2,100,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the Plan. On June 13, 2006, the shareholders
voted to increase the number of shares issuable under the Plan to 3,200,000 shares. Of this amount, 367,943 shares were
available for future stock option grant as of December 31, 2006. See Item 10 “Executive Compensation” for additional
information about stock opticns.

Item 6. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our audited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes that appear elsewhere in this
Annual Report. In addition to historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains forward-
looking statements that refiect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results couid differ materially from those discussed
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in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed below
and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Overview

We offer a broad range of Web-based electronic data capture, handheld device, and interactive voice recognition
software and services uniquely designed to speed and improve the process of collecting data in clinical trials performed for
drug development. Our primary focus is on the costly and time-consuming clinical trial phase of drug development. We
provide pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies with integrated software technology and services designed to
significantly reduce the time spent collecting clinical trials data, managing clinical trials performance, and which provides an
automated and easy-to-use mechanism to collect data directly from clinical investigators and patients. We believe that our
automated data collection software enables our customers to reduce overall clinical trial research costs, enhance existing data
quality and time to close a study database.

Our operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including among others, rapid technological change,
increased competition from existing competitors and new entrants, lack of operating history, and dependence upon key
members of the management team. The operating results are also affected by general economic conditions affecting the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry.

Industry analysts and commentators have estimated that the growth in the use of eClinical technologies will continue
to accelerate. We will have to continue to expand our customer base and technologies in order to maintain and grow our
market share. Since 2002 the number of active eClinical trials being performed by us has grown from 24 to 100 because of
the increased adoption of eClinical technologies by the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries.

Sources of Revenues

We derive revenues from providing software application-hosting and related services to our customers on clinical
trial projects. We offer our eClinical solutions through an application service provider model. Revenues resulting from our
professional services and sofiware application-hosting, which include hosting fees and software usage fees, are generated in
three stages of drug development for each clinical trial. The first stage (development and deployment) includes trial and
application setup, including design of electronic case report forms and edit checks, investigator site training, and
implementation of the system and server configuration. The second stage (study conduct) consists of project management
services, application hosting and related professional and support services. The third stage (close out) consists of services
required to close out, or lock, the database for the clinical trial and deliver final data sets to the client.

Software subscriptions and usage fees and hosting fees revenues - We derive our software subscriptions and usage fees and
hosting fees revenues from our eClinical solution suite, which includes primarily our electronic data capture, electronic
patient diaries, interactive voice response and post marketing solutions.

Services revenue - We provide our customers a full range of professional services in support of our eClinical software
solutions. These services are delivered during all three stages of the clinical trial as further described below.

»  First stage— trial and application setup, including design of ¢lectronic case report forms and edit checks, installation
and server configuration of the system;

+  Second stage— consists of project management services, application hosting and related professional and support
services; and

o Third stage— services required to close out, or lock, the database for the clinical trial.

Services provided for all three stages are generally on a fixed fee basis as per the budget assumptions specified in
the contract. If budget assumptions change, etrials and the client generally agree to a change in scope amendment to the
contract. Revenues from services including, software subscriptions and usage fees, and hosting fees, are recognized utilizing
the proportional performance method, measured principally by the total labor hours incurred as a percentage of estimated
total labor hours for each contract. This method is used because management considers total labor hours incurred to be the
best available measure of progress on these contracts. The company records a loss for its contracts at the point it is
determined that the total estimated contract costs will exceed management’s estimates of contract revenues. No such losses
have been incurred as of December 31, 2006.
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Billing for eClinical services will occur over the life of the contract. Although the billing increments are negotiated
in each contract individually, the total value of the agreement is generally invoiced in the following increments:

Stage % of Contract Value
Contract execution 25%
System deptoyment 25%
Study conduct 40%
Project close out 10%
Total Contract Value 100%

Customers generally have the ability to terminate contracts upon 30 days notice to us. In the event that a customer
cancels a clinical trial and its related task order, all deferred revenue is recognized and certain termination related fees may be
charged.

Our contracts with customers allow us to maintain a contract backlog that provides multi-year visibility in revenue.
We record contract backlog based upon written confirmation received from our clients that a contract is awarded to etrials.
The amount of contract backlog is the total amount of the contract budget agreed upon by the client and us less revenue
previously recognized by us on each contract. As our backlog grows in the future, we believe that the predictability of our
future revenues will increase; although delays in conducting clinical trials and the ability of customers to cancel our contracts
means that our backlog is not a guarantee as to the amount or timing of future revenue.

Reimbursable Out-of-pocket Revenues — Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues and corresponding expenses consist of client
pass-through costs which can fluctuate quarterly based upon contract activity.

Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses

We allocate overhead expenses such as rent, occupancy charges, certain office administrative costs, depreciation and
employee benefit costs to all departments based on headcount. As such, general overhead expenses are reflected in the costs
of revenues, sales and marketing, research and development, and general and administrative expense categories. Overhead
costs that can be specifically identifiable back to the applicable functional area are charged to the functional area that it
belongs to.

Costs of Revenues - Costs of revenues consists primarily of compensation and related fringe benefits (including stock-based
compensation expenses) for project-related persennel, department management and all other dedicated project related costs
and indirect costs including facilities, information systems, hosting facility fees, server depreciation, amortization of
capitalized internal software development costs, software license and royalty costs and other costs. Costs can fluctuate and
impact our expenses based upon employee utilization levels associated with specific projects.

Sales and Marketing - Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of employee-related expenses (including stock-based
compensation expenses), including travel, marketing programs (which include product marketing expenses such as trade
shows, workshops and seminars, corporate communications, other brand building and advertising), allocated overhead and
commissions. We expect that sales and marketing expenses will increase as we expand and further penetrate our customer
base, expand our domestic and international selling and marketing activities associated with existing and new product and
service offerings, build brand awareness and sponsor additional marketing events.

Research and Development - Research and development expenses consist primarily of employee-related expenses (including
stock-based compensation expenses), allocated overhead and outside contractors, We have historically focused our research
and development efforts on increasing the functionality, performance and integration of our software products. We expect
that in the future, research and development expenses will increase as we introduce additional integrated software solutions to
our product suite. We capitalize certain internal software development costs for new software products and releases, which
are incurred during the application development stage and amortize them over the software’s estimated useful life of one to
three years. The amortization of such capitalized costs is included in costs of revenues.

General and Administrative - General and administrative expenses consist primartly of employee-related expenses (including
stock-based compensation expenses), professional fees, other corporate expenses and allocated overhead. We expect that in
the future, general and administrative expenses will increase as we add personnel and incur additional costs related to being a
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publicly held company, such as board fees, directors and officers insurance, investor relations, public reporting, higher
accounting and auditing costs and finally consultants to assist us to prepare for compliance with Sarbanes Oxley. We also
expect to incur significant legal costs to defend the patent related lawsuit recently commenced against us, which will
adversely impact general and administrative expenses in future periods.

Amortization of Intangible Assets - Our amortization costs of intangible assets represents the amortization on a straight-line
basis of acquired technologies over their estimated useful lives, which is typically three years.

Foreign Currency Translation

The reporting currency for the Company is the U.S. dollar. Effective April 1, 2006, following a restructuring of the
Company’s foreign subsidiary in the United Kingdom, the Company has determined that the functional currency of its United
Kingdom operations is the U.S. dollar. Prior to April 1, 2006 the functional currency of its United Kingdom operations was
the local currency. .

The financial statements of the Company’s foreign subsidiary in the United Kingdom are translated in accordance
with SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation. Prior to April 1, 2006 assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies were translated into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates. Operating results were translated into U.S. dollars using
the average rates of exchange prevailing during the period. Gains or losses resulting from the translation of assets and
liabilities are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders” equity (deficit).
Effective April 1, 2006 re-measurement adjustments for non-functional currency monetary assets and liabilities are included
in other income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make significant estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. These items are regularly monitored and analyzed by management for changes in facts and circumstances, and
material changes in these estimates could occur in the future. These estimates include, among others, our policies related to
the proportional performance methodology of revenue recognition of contracts and assessing our goodwill for impairment
annually. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they become known. We base our estimates on historical
experience and various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results will differ
and may differ materially from the estimates if past experience or other assumptions do not turn out to be substantially
accurate.

Our significant accounting policies are presented within Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in
this Annual Report, and the following summaries should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
and the related notes included in this Annual Report. While all accounting policies impact the financial statements, certain
policies may be viewed as critical. Critical accounting policies are those that are both most important to the portrayal of
financial condition and results of operations and that require management’s most subjective or complex judgments and
estimates. Our management believes the policies that fall within this category are the policies on revenue recognition,
accounting for stock-based compensation, goodwill and income taxes.

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenues from providing software application-hosting and related services. Revenues resulting from
application hosting services are recognized in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 00-03,
Application of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Arrangements that include the Right to Use Software Stored on Another
Entity's Hardware and Securities and Exchange Commission’s {SEC) Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) Nos. 101 and
No. 104, Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenue when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) there is
persuasive evidence of an arrangement; (2) the service has been provided to the customer; (3) the collection of fees is
probable; and (4) the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable.

We offer our eClinical software products through an application service provider model. The revenues generated
from services, software subscriptions and usage fees, hosting fees and other fees, occur in three stages for each clinical trial.
The first stage (development and deployment) includes trial and application setup, including design of electronic case report
forms and edit checks, investigator site training, implementation of the system and server configuration. The second stage
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(study conduct) consists of project management services, application hosting and related professional and support services.
The third stage (close out) consists of services required to close out, or lock, the database for the clinical trial and deliver final
data sets to the client.

Services provided during the three phases of clinical trials are typically earned under fixed-price contracts. Although
we enter into master agreements with each customer, the master agreements do not contain any minimum commitment by
customers and contain general terms and conditions. All services and revenues are covered by separately negotiated
addendums called task orders. Revenues generated from each project or task order are generally recognized using the
proportional performance method, measured principally by the total labor hours incurred as a percentage of estimated total
labor hours for each contract. This method is used because management considers total labor hours incurred to be the best
available measure of progress on these contracts, The estimated total labor hours of contracts are reviewed and revised
periodically throughout the duration of the contracts with adjustment to revenues from such revisions being recorded on a
cumulative basis in the period in which the revisions are made. When estimates indicate a loss, such loss is recognized in the
current period in its entirety. Because of the inherent uncertainties in estimating total labor hours, it is reasonably possible
that the estimates will change in the near term and could result in a material change.

Customers generally have the ability to terminate contracts upon 3¢ days written notice. In the event that a customer
cancels a clinical trial and its related task order, deferred revenue is recognized for the work performed prior to termination |
and certain termination related fees may be charged. Consequently, termination of a contact may result in us recognizing
more revenue during the period in which the termination occurs.

Deferred revenue represents amounts billed or cash received in advance of revenue recognition. Included in
accounts receivable are unbilled accounts receivable, which represent revenue recognized in excess of amounts billed.

Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made on a contract-by-contract basis and are
recognized in the period in which such losses become probable and can be reasonably estimated. To date, we have not
experienced any material losses on uncompleted contracts.

The Company generally does not require collateral as a substantial amount of the revenues are generated from
recurring customers. Management performs periodic reviews of the aging of customer accounts receivable balances, the
current economic environment and its industry experience and establishes an allowance on accounts receivable based on
these reviews.

The following summarizes the components of our revenues:

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005
Services 5 10,975,720 b 9,845,914
Software subscriptions and usage fees 3,083,833 2,297,074
Hosting fees 1,468,837 1,044,097
Net service revenues 15,528,390 13,187,085
Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues 3,651,660 436,203
Total $ 19,180,050 3 13,623,288

We account for pass-through expenses in accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-14, Income Statement
Characterization of Reimbursements Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred (EITF No. 01-14), EITF No. 01-14
requires reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses incurred to be characterized as revenue in the statement of operations.

In connection with a software application-hosting agreement entered into on April 1, 2005, we issued to a customer
220,840 shares of etrials” common stock with an estimated fair value of $1.26 million. Of the 220,840 shares issued, 98,151
were issued immediately and the remaining 122,689 shares of common stock were placed in escrow. In the event the
customer terminated certain agreements during a three year period, all or part of the shares held in escrow would be forfeited.
EITF 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products),
requires that the value of the common stock be treated as a reduction in revenue. The fair value of the 98,151 shares of non-
forfeitable common stock was recorded to common stock and additional paid-in capital and to prepaid software application-
hosting discount, a contra-equity account. The prepaid software application-hosting discount was originally reduced on a
straight-line basis over the three year term of the agreement, offsetting revenue generated under the agreement. In accordance
with EITF Topic D-90, Grantor Balance Sheet Presentation of Unvested, Forfeitable Equity Instruments Granted to a Non-
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employee, the fair value of the 122,689 shares of forfeitable common stock held in escrow were treated as un-issued for
accounting purposes until the future services are provided and the shares are vested. Accordingly, the fair value of the
220,840 shares of common stock were originally recorded to additional paid-in capital as the reduction to revenue was
recorded on a straight-line basis over the three year term of the agreement. In accordance with EITF 96-18, Accounting for
Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or
Services, the fair value of the common stock was re-measured at each interim reporting date during the three-year
performance period with changes in fair value reflected as a cumulative adjustment.

Effective February 8, 2006, etrials amended the software application-hosting agreement previously entered into with
the customer on. Under the terms of the amendment etrials released from escrow 40,897 shares and terminated 81,792 shares
of common stock, which were previously held in escrow, resulting in a total of 139,048 shares issued to this customer. Asa
result of this amendment, there are no longer any shares held in escrow and the shares issued are no longer subject to
forfeiture should the customer terminate certain agreements. During the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded
$595,000 discount to revenue in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations in conjunction with this amended
software-application hosting agreement. In conjunction with this amended software-application hosting agreement, the
Company recorded a reduction to revenues of $334,339 during the three months ended March 31, 2006, which reflects the
fair value of the total shares of common stock issued to the customer as of February 8, 2006 less the discounts previously
recorded.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share Based Payment (SFAS 123R).
SFAS 123R replaces SFAS 123 and supersedes APB 25. SFAS 123R requires that the cost resulting from all share-based
payment transactions be recognized in the financial statements using the fair value method. The provisions of SFAS 123R are
effective for public entities that do not file as small business issuers as of the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting
period that begins after June 5, 2005 (January 1, 2006 for the Company). SFAS 123R also requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating
cash flow. The Company will recognize excess tax benefits when those benefits reduce current income taxes payable.

Since the Company used the minimum-value method as a non-public company to estimate the fair value of stock
awards under SFAS 123 for pro forma footnote disclosure purposes, the Company was required to adopt SFAS 123R using
the “prospective-transition” method upon the effective date. Under the prospective method, nonpublic entities that previously
applied SFAS 123 using the minimum-value method whether for financial statement recognition or pro forma disclosure
purposes will continue to account for non-vested equity awards outstanding at the date of adoption of SFAS 123R in the same
manner as they had been accounted for prior to adoption (APB 25 intrinsic value method for the Company). All awards
granted, modified, or settled after the date of adoption are accounted for using the measurement, recognition, and attribution
provisions of SFAS 123R. The Company has continued to recognize compensation expense for awards issued prior to the
adoption of SFAS 123R in accordance with the provisions of APB 25. Awards granted to employees subsequent to January
1, 2006 were accounted for in accordance with SFAS 123R. The Company recognized non-cash stock-based compensation
expense of $809,490 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Goodwill

We account for goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“*SFAS
No. 142”). SFAS No. 142 requires the use of a non-amortization approach to account for purchased goodwill and certain
intangibles. Under the non-amortization approach, goodwill and certain intangibles are not amortized into results of
operations, but instead are reviewed for impairment at least annually and written down and charged to operations only in the
periods in which the recorded value of goodwill and certain intangibles exceeds its fair value. We have elected to perform our
annual impairment test in November of each calendar year. An interim goodwill impairment test would be performed if an
event occurs or circumstances change between annual tests that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying amount. For purposes of performing the goodwill impairment test, we concluded there is one
reporting unit. During November 2006, we completed the required annual test, which indicated there was no impairment.

Accounting for Income Taxes

In connection with preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the
jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves the assessment of our net operating loss carryforwards and credits, as
well as estimating the actual current tax liability together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing
treatment of items, such as reserves and accrued liabilities, for tax and accounting purposes. We then assess the likelthood
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that deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely,
we must establish a valuation allowance. Based on historical results, we believe that it is more likely than not that we will not
realize the value of our deferred tax assets and therefore have provided a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax
assets as of December 31, 2006.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005

Net service revenues increased 17.8% to $15.5 mitlion for the year ended December 31, 2006, as compared to $13.2
miilion for the year ended December 31, 2005. The increase in revenues is primarily the result of the timing and size of new
clinical projects and deployments in process during the period.

Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues and corresponding expenses increased to $3.7 million from $436,203 for the
year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. This increase is primarily the result of diary hardware costs related to
new clectronic patient diary trials commenced in the year ended December 31, 2006.

Costs of revenues increased 14.0% to $6.7 million from $5.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively. This increase was primarily the result of operations personnel increasing to 70 from 55 as of December
31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. As a percentage of net service revenues, costs of revenues decreased to 43.5% from 44.9%
for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Sales and marketing costs increased 7.3% to $3.4 million from $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively. This increase was primarily the result of building and operating an international sales team in the
United Kingdom. As a percentage of net service revenues, sales and marketing costs decreased to 21.8% from 23.9% for the
year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

General and administrative costs increased by 48.6% to $4.9 million from 33.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, This increase was primarily the result of $729,052 of non-cash stock-based
compensation expense recorded in accordance with SFAS 123R and costs associated with being a public company (such as
director and officer insurance, board fees, public reporting costs, investor relations, and higher legal, accounting and auditing
fees). As a percentage of net service revenues, general and administrative expenses increased to 31.3% from 24.8% for year
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. If we are successful in pursuing our acquisition goals we expect legal and
other general and administrative expenses will increase in future periods. We expect that legal costs of intellectual property
litigation will be a substantial general and administrative cost in future periods until the Datasci matter is concluded. See
Item 3, Legal Preceedings.

Amortization of intangible assets consists of amortization of acquired software technologies over their estimated
useful life of three years. These costs were $88,414 and $559,488 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. These costs declined since certain intangible assets were fully amortized in early 2006,

Research and development costs increased by 16.9% to $1.8 million from $1.6 million for the year ended December
31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. This increase was primarily the result of research and development personnel increasing to
18 from 14 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. As a percentage of net service revenues, research and
development expenses decreased to 11.8% from 11.9% for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 20035, respectively.

Other income for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $787,667 as compared with other expense of $48,422 for
the year ended December 31, 2005. The change is primarily the result of interest income eamed on the cash received in the
CEA merger.

We experienced a net loss of $640,734 compared with a net loss of $1.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively. The lower net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 was impacted primarily by increased
revenues and interest income partially offset by non-cash stock-based compensation expense of $809,490 and costs
associated with being a public company.

Net loss attributable to common stockholders was $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared
with net loss attributable to common stockholders of $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The costs
associated with dividends and accretion of preferred stock was approximately $1.1 million (including a $1.03 million induced
conversion of commeon stock warrants) and $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The
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dividends and accretion of preferred stock will not occur in the future since our preferred stock was converted to common
stock in connection with our merger on February 9, 2006 with CEA.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Qur principal sources of cash have been from revenues from software application-hosting and related services as
well as from proceeds from the issuance of various debt instruments and the sale of equity securities.

At December 31, 2006 we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $20.0 million. Our cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments increased by $18.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2006 primarily due to
the net cash received of approximately $19.6 million in the merger with CEA in February 2006 offset by cash used in
operating, investing and financing activities, including the repurchase of 123,700 shares for $469,000, development costs of
$432,636 and fixed assets of capitalized internal software during the year ended December 31, 2006.

In the year ended December 31, 2006 operating activities used $302,325 and in the year ended December 31, 2005
provided approximately $1.3 million of net cash, respectively. The decrease in net cash provided from operating activities
was primarily due to an increase in accounts receivable from new projects and reimbursable costs associated with new global
diary projects.

In the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we used $9.3 million and $871,221 of net cash in investing
activities, respectively. The increase is primarily attributable to purchases of investments, net of maturities, of $8.1 millien.
The Company has capitalized $432,636 and $158,328 of internal software development costs during the year ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In the year ended December 31, 2006, $19.7 million of net cash was provided by financing activities, as compared to
$477,961 of net cash used in the year ended December 31, 2005. The increase was primarily the result of the net cash
received in connection with the CEA merger offset by approximately $469,000 spent to repurchase 123,700 common shares
during the year ended December 31, 2006. The common shares were repurchased pursuant to its previously announced
Board of Directors authorization dated September 27, 2006 to repurchase up to $1 million of the Company’s common stock.

We intend to continue to fund the enhancement and expansion of the etrials eClinical software technologies through
both internal development and acquiring additional complementary technologies in the future. In connection with potential
acquisitions, to ensure successful integration of acquired businesses, we will be evaluating our financial systems and controls,
our management and our compensation structures and other aspects of our business. We believe our existing cash, cash
equivalents, short-term investments, and cash provided by operating activities and our debt facilities will be sufficient to meet
our working capital and capital expenditure needs over the next twelve months. Our future capital requirements will depend
on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the expansion of our marketing and sales activities, the timing and
extent of spending to support product development efforts, the timing of introductions of new services and enhancements to
existing services, and the continuing market acceptance of our services. To the extent that existing cash and securities and
cash from operations, are insufficient to fund our future activities, including potential acquisitions of complementary
eClinical technology companies, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity, debt financing, or by
reducing the exercise price of our outstanding common stock warrants to induce warrant holders to exercise their warrants.
Additional funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all.

Our contract backlog was $17.7 million at December 31, 2006 as compared to $28.5 million at December 31, 2005,
representing a decrease of approximately 38.0%. This decrease is primarily the result of an increase in the amount of
contract backlog cancellations experienced in 2006 as compared to 2005 of approximately $10.7 million. Contract
cancellations are a normal part of the clinical research services industry and occur for a variety of reasons outside the control
of the company, some examples of reasons contracts can be cancelled are noted below:

e The FDA can request changes in a clinical trial program — for example, additional Phase II trials may be
requested before Phase I1I trials may begin;

¢  Mergers and acquisitions — client companies can be acquired and the resulting review of clinical programs
can result in project cancellations due to similar compounds in development by each company;

¢ Short project start timelines can result in client decisions to utilize paper instead of eClinical technologies
which require longer start times;
Adverse and serious adverse reactions to the study drug;
Poor results or lack of statistically significant performance of drug in active trials based upon interim
analysis;
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s Adjustments of future subscription license commitments based upon actual usage during prior contract
year.

Contractual Obligations

We do not have any special purpose entities or any other off balance sheet financing arrangements. We have
operating leases for office space and office equipment and a capital lease for the purchase of third party software, which are
described below.

We generally do not enter into binding purchase commitments. Qur principal commitments are primarily for leases
for office space and equipment and a capital lease for the purchase of third party software. At December 31, 2006 the future
minimum payments under these commitments were as follows:

Period Ending December 31 Capital Leases Operating Leases

2007 $ 83,204 $ 592,451
2008 31,676 583,739
2009 23376 591,722
2010 578,809
2011 — 415,232
2012 and thereafter —_ 490,898

Total required lease payments 138,256 $ 3,252,851

Less interest included (16,614)

Total minimum payments 121,642

Current portion of capital lease (74,796)

Long-term portion of capital lease $ 46,846

As of February 1, 2005 and as amended on May 31, 2006, we entered into a revolving account receivable line of
credit with RBC Centura Bank under which we can borrow up to $2,000,000. In addition we also have two capital
equipment lines with the same bank under which we can borrow up to $300,000 and $500,000 respectively. Interest accrues
and is paid monthly at the prime rate of interest plus 0.25% for the accounts receivable revolving line of credit and at the
prime rate plus 1.0% and 0.75% for the fixed asset lines of credit. Borrowings under the equipment line of credit are payable
in monthly principle and interest payments over a 30 month and 35 month period, respectively. The revolving line of credit
expires on May 31, 2007 at which time all advances will be immediately due and payable unless the line is renewed. As of
December 31, 2006, we had $526,000 outstanding under the accounts receivable line of credit and $140,000 outstanding
under the capital equipment lines.

Working capital borrowings are secured primarily by our accounts receivable and other assets while capital
equipment borrowings are secured by the fixed assets that were acquired, Under the terms of these credit lines, we are
required to comply with certain financial covenants. To the extent we are unable to satisfy those covenants in the future, we
will need to obtain waivers to avoid being in default of the terms of these credit lines. If an un-waived default occurs, the
bank may require that we repay all amounts then outstanding. We expect that we will have sufficient resources to fund any
amounts which may become due under these credit lines as a result of a default by us or otherwise. However, any amounts
which we may be required to repay prior to a scheduled repayment date would reduce funds that we could otherwise allocate
to other opportunities that we consider desirable.

Inflation

To date, we believe that the effects of inflation have not had a material adverse effect on our results of operations or
financial condition.

Certain Factors Which May Affect Future Results

We operate in a rapidly changing environment that involves a number of risks, some of which are beyond our
control. This discussion highlights some of the risks which may affect future operating results. These are the risks and
uncertainties we believe are most important for you to consider. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us,
which we currently deem immaterial or which are similar to those faced by other companies in our industry or business in
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general, may also impair our business operations. If any of the following risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our business,
financial condition and operating results would likely suffer.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk - Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the British pound sterling. During the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 expenses associated with our UK subsidiary were denominated in the British pound sterling.
This creates a foreign currency exchange risk for us.

Our UK subsidiary has inter-company accounts that eliminate upon consolidation; such accounts expose us to
foreign currency rate movements. Prior to April 1, 2006, exchange rate fluctuations on short-term intercompany accounts are
recorded in our consolidated statements of operations under “other income (expense)”, while exchange rate fluctuations on
long-term permanent, inter-company accounts are recorded in our consolidated balance sheets under “accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss)” in stockholders’ deficit. Beginning April 1, 2006, all exchange rate fluctuations are recorded
in our consolidated statements of operations under “other income (expense).” We have implemented a risk management
program under which we measure foreign currency exchange risk monthly and manage those exposures through the use of
various internal controls. This process is designed to minimize foreign currency translation exposures that could otherwise .
affect consolidated results of operations. i

Interest Rate Sensitivity - We currently invest cash and cash equivalents, and short-term investments primarily in
bank short-term investment accounts {money market funds), U.S. agency notes, auction rate securities and corporate bonds.
Amounts at times may exceed federally insured limits. We maintain this cash at high credit quality financial institutions and
invest in quality investments rated at least A2 by Moody’s Investors Service or A by Standards & Poors and as a result
believe that our risk is limited. We had unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling approximately
$20.0 miltion at December 31, 2006, The unrestricted cash and cash equivalents are held for working capital purposes. We do
not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Due to the short-term nature of these investments, we believe
that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of our investment portfolio as a result of changes in
interest rates. Declines tn interest rates, however, would reduce future interest income,

We have a working capital line of credit and a bank equipment loan which bear interest based upon the prime rate
plus 0.25% and 1.0%, respectively. At December 31, 2006 the prime rate was 8.25%, and there was $526,000 and $140,000
outstanding under our working capital line of credit and bank equipment loan, respectively. If the prime rate fluctuated by
10%, and based on amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2006, interest expense would have fluctuated by approximately
$6,000.

Item 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(a} The following documents are filed as part of this report and are included in this report immediately following the
signature pages of this report:
(1) Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
Conselidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Item 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

None.
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Item 8A. CONTROL AND PROCEDURES

An evaluation of the effectiveness of both our disclosure controls and procedures and of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 was made under the supervision and with the participation of management,
including our chief executive officer, chief financial officer and chief accounting officer. The evaluations of our disclosure
controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting include a review of the objectives, design and
operation of the controls and the effect of the controls on the information generated for use in this Annual Report.

!

Based on that evaluation, we concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the end of the
period covered by this report to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms. During our review of the quarter and year ended December 31, 2006,
our management has identified a weakness in our internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal contrels over financial reporting. The weakness relates to our internal
controls of the financial statement close process, especially in the area of appropriate accounting management review of
certain critical accounts and the recognition of transactions in the proper accounting periods.

During 2007, we plan to undertake activities to improve the internal control environment, particularly as it relates to
the closing process. We have implemented financial statement close process checklists that include closing procedures and
accounting management review of those procedures. We are developing Company-wide policies and procedures intended to
reasonably assure consistent and appropriate assessment and application of generally accepted accounting principles. We are
recruiting additional experienced accounting personnel which will increase our staff. Qur management is working closely
with the audit committee to monitor our ongoing efforts to improve our internal control over financial reporting.

Our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial
reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. The design of any system of controls is
based in part upon assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Item 8B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART II1

Item 9. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS, CONTROL PERSONS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE; COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT '

The seven members of our Board of Directors are as follows:

The following members of the Board of Directors’ terms end when their successors are elected at the 2007 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders.

Name, Agé, and Service on Board

Information about Director

Peter Coker
64 Years Old
Director Since February 2006

Donald Russell
54 Years Old
Director Since November 2003

Peter Coker has been a board member since February 2006; he served as a
member the board of directors of our subsidiary, etrials, Inc., from January
2003 until February 2006. Mr. Coker has been managing director of Tryon
Capital Ventures since January 2004. Previously, Mr. Coker served as
managing director of Tryon Capital Holdings from January 2000 to December
2003. Mr. Coker has served on the Board of Directors of the North Carolina
State University Investment Fund since June 1998. Mr. Coker received his BS
and Masters degree in Economics from N.C. State University.

Donald Russell has been one of our directors since November 2003; he served
as our vice chairman from October 2003 until he resigned from that position in
February 2006. Mr. Russell is also a board member of Aerosonic Corporation
(AIM)}, an American Stock Exchange company. Mr. Russell has been the
chairman of the Investment Committee for CEA Capital Partners USA, L.P., a
$150 million private equity fund, since its inception in February 1997. He also
has been a member of the Investment Committee of Seaport Capital Partners 11,
L.P., a $250 million private equity fund, since its inception in February 2000.
Both of these funds are focused on the entertainment, media,
telecommunications and information services industries. From July 1987 to
June 1994, he was president of Communications Equity Associates’ New York
affiliate, CEA, Inc., and was responsible for overseeing CEA’s mergers,
acquisitions and corporate financing businesses in the cable television and
broadcasting segments. Mr. Russell received a B.A. in economics from Colgate
University. He was also elected to the Society of International Business
Fellows in 2000.

i3




The following members of the Board of Directors’ terms end when their successors are elected at the 2008 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders.

Name, Age, and Service On Board

Information about Director

John Cline
49 Years Old
Director Since February 2006

Robert Brill
60 Years Cld
Director Since February 2006

Harold Ewen
74 Years Old
Director Since February 2006

John K. Cline has been president, chief executive officer and a member of
our board of directors since February 2006. Mr. Cline has been president,
chief executive officer and a member of the Board of Directors of our
subsidiary, etrials, Inc., since March 2000, Mr. Cline was the Vice President
of Sales and Marketing of MiniDoc AB, a publicly held Swedish
corporation, from September 1997 until December 1999, when he founded
and became the president, chief executive officer and a member of the Board
of Directors of Expidata, Inc., which was acquired by etrials in March 2000.
Mr. Cline received his BA degree from the University of Georgia.

Robert Brill has been a board member since February 2006; he served as a
member the board of directors of our subsidiary, etrials, Inc., from December
2003 until February 2006. Dr. Brill has been founding managing partner of
Newlight Associates since June 1997, and was a general partner of
PolyVentures, whose principal investment focus was on early stage
investments in technology companies, from August 1988 until December
2002. Dr. Brill was also a founding member of the Technical Advisory
Board of the Semiconductor Research Corporation. Dr. Brill holds a Ph.D. in
Physics frem Brown University and a BA and BS in Engineering Physics
from Lehigh University, both with honors. Dr. Brill also holds muitiple
patents and invention disclosures.

Harold D. Ewen has been a board member since February 2006. Prior to
that, he was our special advisor from November 2003 until February 2006.
Since December 2002, Mr. Ewen has been the head of the private equity
group of Communications Equity Associates. Mr. Ewen was president of
Communications Equity Associates from July 1982 until December 1991
and was its vice chairman from December 1991 until December 2002. Mr.
Ewen helped found Communications Equity Associates’ private equity
activity in 1992. He currently sits on the board of directors and Investment
Committees of the Communications Equity Associates funds in the United
States, Central Europe, Western Europe, Asia, Australia and Latin America.
Mr. Ewen received a B.S. in business from Butler University and a I.D. (cum
laude) from the Indiana University School of Law.
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The following members of the Board of Directors’ terms end when their successors are elected at the 2009 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders.

Name, Age, and Service On Board

Information about Nominee

Hans Lindroth

48 Years Old

Director Since February 2006
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Peter Collins
38 Years Old
Director Since January 2005

Hans Lindroth has been a board member since February 2006; he served as a
member the board of directors of our subsidiary, etrials, Inc., from January
2003 until February 2006. Mr. Lindroth became the Chairman of the Board of
Directors in February, 2006. Since April 1998, Mr. Lindroth has served as chief
executive officer of Lingfield AB, an organization that manages a group of
investment vehicles whose beneficial owner is the Peder Sager Wallenberg
Charitable Trust. Mr. Lindroth received his undergraduate education from the
Bonnier Executive Program in management, finance and computer science. Mr.
Lindroth holds a political science Master of Arts from the University of
Stockholm.

Peter Collins has been a member of our board of directors since January 2005.
Mr. Cellins is Managing Principal of Atlantic American Partners, LLC, a
diversified merchant banking, private equity and real estate investment business
headquartered in Tampa, FL. Additionally, Mr. Collins has is the co-founder
and President of Community Reinvestment Partners, LP (CRP), a private real
estate investrnent partnership focused on acquiring and developing income-
producing commercial real estate in low to moderate-income
communities. From December 1997 to May 2002, Mr. Collins was a Partner at
Rock Creek Capital, a private equity firm. From June 1994 to December 1997,
Mr. Collins served as a Manager with the Florida State Board of
Administration (Florida’s Public Pension Fund and was also the chief of staff
for four years for state senator Charles Williams. Mr. Collins currently serves
as a director of two public companies and a director/advisor to several private
companies and venture capital firms. Mr. Collins received both an
undergraduate degree in Finance and a MBA in Finance from Florida State
University.

John Cline, whose experience is listed above, is the only executive officer who is a member of our Board of Directors. Our
executive officers who are not members of our Board of Directors are as follows:

James W. Clark, Jr. (54 years old) Mr. Clark has served as chief financial officer, treasurer and secretary since January 2003,
and was etrials’ vice president of finance from January 2003 until November 2005. From July 2000, he was the vice president
of finance, chief financial officer, treasurer and secretary of Araccel Corporation, a subsidiary of MiniDoc AB, which merged
with etrials in January 2003. From July 2000 until July 2002, Mr. Clark also served as the chief financial officer and treasurer
of MiniDoc AB. Mr. Clark received his BA degree from Butler University.

Michael Harte. (44 years old) Mr. Harte has served as senior vice president of sales since January 2006. Mr. Harte served as
senior vice president of strategic accounts from January 2005 until January 2006 and as vice president of global sales from
January 2002 until January 2005. He joined etrials in February 2000 as its director of sales, a position in which he served
until January 2002. Mr. Harte holds a BS in economics and business administration from Ursinus College and an MBA from
LaSalle University.

Robert Sammis. (54 years old) Mr. Sammis has served as vice president and chief operating officer since March 2003. From
September 2000 until March 2003 he served as vice president and principal at Hagy and Associates, PC. Mr. Sammis has a
BA from the University of Houston and an MBA from the University of Texas.

Richard Piazza. (48 years old) Dr. Piazza has served as vice president of research and development since he joined etrials in
January 2003. Prior to joining etrials, he served as vice president of strategic business development and vice president of
quality assurance for Araccel Corporation from April 1999 until January 2003. Dr. Piazza holds a BS in Pharmacy from
Rutgers University, a Masters in Pharmacology from Long Island University and a Doctorate in Clinical Pharmacy (PharmD)
from Idaho State University.
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Mark A. Jewett. (4] years old) Mr. Jewett has served as vice president of finance and chief accounting officer since
November 2005. From August 2005 until November 2005, Mr. Jewett served as a consultant to various companies, including
etrials. From April 2001 until August 2005, Mr. Jewett served as chief financial officer of MercuryMD, Inc., and from April
1999 until April 2001, he served as chief financial officer of Wuestec, Inc. Mr. Jewett is a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Internal Auditor. He received his Masters degree in accounting from East Tennessee State University.

David Levin, (37 years old) Mr. Levin has served as vice president of marketing since October 2006. From January 2001 to
September 2006 he served as vice president of marketing and product management at MercuryMD, Inc. Mr. Levin holds a
masters degree in health planning from the University of Georgia and a bachelor degree in biomechanics from Kent State
University.

Arthur D. Campbell. (46 years old) Mr. Campbell has served as director of information technology and global services since
August 2006. Prior to joining etrials Mr. Campbell served as President of Echelon Systems from May 1997 until August
2006. Mr. Campbell additionally served as CTO to Martin Marietta from July 2000 until May 2003. Mr. Campbell has a BS
in Computer Science from the University of New York, and Graduate ISMP from GE Crotonville.

Election of Directors; Voting Agreement

In connection with the February 2006 merger in which we acquired our etrials, Inc. subsidiary, two groups of
shareholders agreed to vote for the designees of the other group of shareholders. This voting agreement continues until
immediately following the 2007 election of Directors. One group of shareholders are former shareholders of our etrials
subsidiary: MiniDoc, AB, Infologix (BVI) Limited, Newlight Associates II, LP, Newlight Associates 1I-E, LP, Newlight
Associates BVI, LP, Peter and Susan Coker, Dunlap Industries, John Cline, James and Susanne Clark, Robert Sammis, Fred
Nazem, E-ZAD Partnership Limited, Richard Piazza, and Michael Harte. The other group of shareholders owned shares of
our stock before the merger: Donald Russell, Robert Moreyra, Harold Ewen and CEA Group, LLC. Directors Lindroth,
Coker, Cline and Brill are all designees of the former shareholders of our etrials subsidiary. Directors Collins, Russell and
Ewen are all designees of Messrs. Russell, Moreyra and Ewen and CEA Group, LLC.

Process to Nominate Directors

We have not made any material changes to the process by which security holders may recommend nominees to our
Board of Directors since we disclosed these procedures in our proxy statement for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Audit Committee

We have an Audit Committee that consists of three members of the Board of Directors that was established in
accordance with Section 3(a)(58){(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our Board of Directors has
determined that Robert Brill, the Chairman of our Audit Committee, is a financial expert as defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of
Regulation S-B and is “independent,” as independence for audit committee members is defined by applicable listing
standards of NASDAQ.

The ultimate responsibility for good corporate governance rests with our Board, whose primary role is providing
oversight, counseling and direction to etrials” management in the best long-term interests of the Company and its
stockholders. The Audit Committee has been established for the purpose of overseeing the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting processes, and audits of ¢trials’ annual financial statements and internal control over financial reporting.

The Audit Committee is made up solely of independent directors, as defined in the applicable NASDAQ and SEC
rules, and it operates under a written charter adopted by the Board, a copy of which is posted on our web site at
www.etrials.com. etrials intends for the composition of the Audit Committee, and the attributes of its members and its
responsibilities, as reflected in its charter, to be in accordance with applicable requirements for corporate audit committees.
The Audit Committee reviews and assesses the adequacy of its charter on an annual basis.

As described more fully in its charter, the purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in its general
oversight of etrials’ financial reporting, internal controls and audit functions.

Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation and integrity of etrials’ financial statements; accounting

and financial reporting principles; internal controls; and procedures designed to reasonably assure compliance with
accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations. The management team of the Company is responsible for objectively

36




reviewing and evaluating the adequacy, effectiveness and quality of our system of internal controls relating, for example, to
the reliability and integrity of etrials’ financial information and the safeguarding of the Company’s assets.

Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, is responsible for performing an
independent audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards.

In accordance with law, the Audit Committee has ultimate authority and responsibility to select, compensate,
evaluate and, when appropriate, replace etrials’ independent audit firm. The Audit Committee has the authority to engage its
own outside advisors, including experts in particular areas of accounting, as it determines appropriate, apart from counsel or
advisors hired by management.

Audit Committee members are not professional accountants or auditors, and their functions are not intended to
duplicate or to certify the activities of management and the independent audit firm; nor can the Audit Committee certify that
the independent audit firm is “independent” under applicable rules. The Audit Committee serves a board-level oversight role,
in which it provides advice, counsel and direction to management and to the auditors on the basis of the information it
receives; discussions with management and the auditors; and the experience of the Audit Committee’s members in business,
financial and accounting matters,

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our officers, directors and persons who own more than ten
percent of a registered class of our equity securities to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. Officers, directors and ten percent stockholders are required by regulation to furnish us with
copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. Based solely on copies of such forms received or written representations from
certain reporting persons that no Form 5s were required for those persons, we believe that, during the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006, all filing requirements applicable to our officers, directors and greater than ten percent beneficial owners
were complied with, except that two of our officers, David Levin and Arthur Campbell, who did not own any shares of our
Commen Stock, or any options to purchase shares of our Common Stock, when they became officers, failed to file Form 3s
on a timely basis after they become officers. In January 2007, these officers were granted options as follows: David Levin -
options for 20,000 shares - and Arthur Campbell — options for 10,000 shares. Messers Levin and Campbell failed to file
Form 4s on a timely basis at the time of these option grants.

Code of Ethics

We have a Code of Ethics that applies to our principal executive officers, principal accounting officer or controller and to
person performing similar functions. A copy of our Code of Ethics is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to this Report.
See Exhibit 14.1. We may from tite to time satisfy disclosure requirements about amendments to our Code of Ethics or
waivers from our Code of Ethics by posting information about amendments and waivers on our website at www etrials.com.

Item 10. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Pre-Merger Executive Compensation

Prior to the merger in which we acquired our etrials subsidiary, we did not pay our executive officers any cash or non-
cash compensation for their services. No stock options or other equity compensation was granted to our pre-merger officers
or directors. During fiscal year 2005 and 2006, we paid CEA Group LLC, an entity owned by Mr. J. Patrick Michaels, Jr.,
our chief executive officer before the merger in which we acquired our etrials subsidiary, a fee of $7,500 per month for
providing us with office space and certain office and secretarial services. Other than this $7,500 per-month fee, no
compensation of any kind, including finders and consulting fees, were paid to any of our pre-merger officers. However, we
did reimburse our executive officers for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with activities on our behalf, such
as identifying potential target business and performing due diligence on suitable business combinations.

Executive Compensation
The following sets forth summary information concerning the compensation paid for the last fiscal year to our

principal executive officers and the persons who were our two highest paid executive officers at December 31, 2006 other
than our principal executive officers and during fiscal 2006.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Title Option All Other
Bonus Awards |Compensation] Total
Name and principal position Year | Salary ($) 3] 3 & ®
(a) (b) (©) (d) (N (i) ()
John Cline President & CEO |2006 | 253,200| 109,005 264,159 20,7919 ®}| 647,155
James W. Clark, Jr. Treasurer & CFO |2006 | 204,091 88,725 187,224 16,960 7| 497,000
. 3) ) (5) (8)
Michael Harte Senior VP of Sales| 2006 | 166,350] 119,142| 14,703 11,494 ® 311,689
o M President & CEO | 2006 - - - - .
J. Patrick Michaels, Jr. 2005 ] _ } ) }

J. Patrick Michaels, Jr. was our Principal Executive Officer before our merger in February 2006. During fiscal year
2005 and 2006, we paid CEA Group LLC, an entity owned by Mr. J. Patrick Michaels, Jr., our chief executive officer
before the merger in which we acquired our etrials subsidiary, a fee of $7,500 per menth for providing us with office
space and certain office and secretarial services. Other than this $7,500 per-month fee, no compensation of any kind,
including finders and consulting fees, were paid to any of our pre-merger officers.

Bonuses for John Cline and James Clark were for 2005 performance paid in 2006. The bonuses were based upon
defined board compensation committee targets set for the 2005 year. For one of those targets, 94.6% of the minimum
target was achieved and the compensation committee deemed that the target was substantially met and the bonus
accrued.

Consists of commissions paid in 2006 for Michae! Harte.

Amounts shown in this column are based on the accounting expense recognized by the Company in fiscal year 2006
related to stock option awards made in 2006 and in prior periods. There can be no assurance that the options will ever be
exercised (in which case no value will be realized by the executive) or that the value on exercise will equal the FAS
123R value. The assumptions and methodology used to calculate the accounting expense recognized in fiscal 2006 for
these stock option awards are as follows:

Valuation and amortization method - The Company determines the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing formula. This fair value is then amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the
awards, which is generally the vesting period.

Expected Term - The expected term represents the period that the Company determined based upon the “simplified”
method as allowed under the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
107 (“SAB 107”) and represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding.

Expected Volatility - The fair value of stock-based awards reflects a volatility factor the Company has determined based
on an analysis of reported data for a peer group of companies that have issued stock options with substantially similar
terms, .

Expected Dividend Yield - The expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero because the Company has not paid and
does not anticipate paying cash dividends on its shares of common stock.

Risk-Free Interest Rate - The Company bases the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation method on

the yield to maturity at the time of the stock option grant on zero-coupon U.S. government bonds having a remaining life
equal to the option’s expected life.
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The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of option awards reflected in the Summary
Compensation Table:

2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005 | 2006

Expected dividend yield | 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%
Risk-free interest rate 4.15% | 3.61% | 4.46% | 3.74% | 5.08%
Expected life (in years) |. 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 3.7

Includes automobile allowances of $6,000 each for John Cline and James Clark and, $9,000 for Michael Harte.
Consists of company contribution to 401(k) plan of $10,000, imputed value of group term life insurance of $270 and
$10,521 of company paid premiums for health, dental, and disability insurance employee programs.

Consists of company contribution to 401(k) plan of $9,300, imputed value of group term life insurance of $410 and
$7,250 of company paid premiums for health, dental, and disability insurance employee programs.

Consists of company contribution to 401(k) plan of $5,113, imputed value of group term life insurance of $184 and
$6,197 of company paid premiums for health, dental, and disability insurance employee programs.

39




Unexercised Stock Options and Unvested Equity

The following table provides information for each named executive officer concerning unexercised options, stock

that has not vested and equity incentive plan awards outstanding at December 31, 2006.

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised Option
Options Options Exercise Option
# (#) Price Expiration
Name & Title Exercisable Unexercisable (%) Date
(a) (b) (c) (e) (f)

e cEo 55,120 - S1| 9292009
41,340 - 1.63 6/14/2010

20,670 - 1.63 6/30/2011

20,670 - 1.63 12/31/2011

8,618 - 1.92 1/28/2013

123,446 14,354 1.92 5/12/2013
41,340 41,340 2.18 8/2/2014
6,890 20,670 435 53172015

68,182 431,818 5.71 6/12/2011

Tmes W, Clarke It 96,460 - 1.93 1/29/2013
86,412 10,048 1.92 5/12/2013
27,560 27,560 2,18 8/2/2014

5,168 15,502 4.35 5/31/2015

47,727 302,273 571 6/12/2011

| i) o
8,268 - 1.63 6/30/2011

8,268 - 1.63 7/21/2012

12,402 4,134 1.92 1/28/2013

13,780 13,780 218 8/2/2014

1,723 5,167 435 5/31/2015

- 14,210 429 7/31/2011

J. Patrick Michaels, Jr.

Former CEQW ) ) i i

(1) 1. Patrick Michaels, Jr. was Principal Executive Officer before our merger in February 2006. During fiscal year 2005 and 2006, we
paid CEA Group LLC, an entity owned by Mr. J. Patrick Michaels, Jr., our chief executive officer before the merger in which we acquired
our etrials subsidiary, a fee of $7,500 per month for providing us with office space and certain office and secretarial services. Other than
this $7,500 per-month fee, no compensation of any kind, including finders and consulting fees, were paid to any of our pre-merger officers.
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Employment Agreements
John K. Cline

We entered into an employment agreement dated August 22, 2005, and effective February 9, 2006 with John K. Cline,
the president and chief executive officer of both etrials and our etrials subsidiary. The agreement has an initial term of two
(2) years, which initial term is automatically renewable for additional consecutive one (1) year terms, unless timely notice of
non-renewal is given by either etrials or Mr. Cline. Mr. Cline’s employment agreement provides that Mr. Cline will receive a
minimum base salary of $250,000, and options to purchase 500,000 shares of our common stock. Such options, which were
granted on June 13, 2006, vest monthly in arrears over a forty-four month period and have an exercise price of $5.71 per
share, which exceeded the fair market value of our common stock of $4.45 on the date of grant. In addition, Mr. Cline’s
employment agreement provides that Mr. Cline is entitled to receive an annual bonus of up to one hundred percent of his base
salary on terms and conditions determined by the compensation committee of our board of directors, and to participate in all
present and future employee benefit, retirement and compensation plans of etrials and our etrials subsidiary consistent with
his position as chief executive officer and president of each company.

James W. Clark, Jr.

We entered into an employment agreement dated August 22, 2005, and effective February 9, 2006, with James W.
Clark, Jr., the chief financial officer, secretary and treasurer of etrials and the chief financial officer, secretary and treasurer of
our etrials subsidiary. The agreement has an initial term of two (2} years, which initial term is automatically renewable for
additional consecutive one (1) year terms, unless timely notice of non-renewal is given by either etrials or Mr. Clark.
Mr. Clark’s employment agreement provides that Mr. Clark will receive a minimum base salary of $200,000 and options to
purchase 350,000 shares of our common stock. Such options, which were granted on June 13, 2006, vest monthly in arrears
over a forty-four month period and have an exercise price of $5.71 per share, which exceeded the fair market value of our
common stock of $4.45 on the date of grant. In addition, Mr. Clark’s employment agreement provides that Mr. Clark is
entitled to receive an annual bonus of up to one hundred percent of his base salary on terms and conditions determined by the
compensation committee of our board of directors, and to participate in all present and future employee benefit, retirement
and compensation plans of etrials and our etrials subsidiary consistent with his position as chief financial officer, secretary
and treasurer of etrials and chief financial officer, secretary and treasurer of our etrials subsidiary.

Michael Harte

We entered into an employment agreement dated August 22, 2005, and effective February 9, 2006, with Michael
Harte, the senior vice president of sales of etrials. The agreement has an initial term of two (2) years, which initial term is
automatically renewable for additional consecutive one (1) year terms, unless timely notice of non-renewal is given by either
etrials or Mr. Harte. Mr. Harte’s employment agreement provides that Mr. Harte will receive a minimum base salary of
$160,000. [n addition, Mr. Harte’s employment agreement provides that Mr. Harte is entitled to receive sales commission
payments on terms and conditions determined by etrials’ chief executive officer and approved by etrials’ board of directors,
and to participate in all present and future employee benefit, retirement and compensation plans of etrials consistent with his
position as senior vice president of the company. On August 1, 2007 we also granted Mr. Harte options to purchase 14,210
shares of our common stock for an exercise price of $4.29 per share, the fair market value of our common stock on the date
of grant. The options vest annually in arrears over a four-year period.

Provisions Applicable to All Three Agreements

Each of the three employment agreements further provides that, in the event of the termination of the executive’s
employment (including termination as a result of non-renewal), we will pay the executive his base salary and annual bonus
through the date of termination if he is terminated by us for “cause” (as defined) or if he terminates his employment without
“good reason” (as defined). If the termination is without “cause” or for “good reason”, we must (i) pay the executive his base
salary for a period of twelve (12) months after the termination of his employment, and (ii) any stock options that would have
vested and become exercisable within one year of the date of termination immediately become vested and exercisable. If we
terminate the executive’s employment in connection with a *“change in control” (as defined), we must pay the executive his
base salary for a period of eighteen months after the termination of his employment, and all of the executive’s stock options
immediately become vested and exercisable. The executive’s exercisable stock options will remain exercisable for a one year
period after his termination other than for “cause”; such exercise may be made on a cashless basis if made within 90 days of
the date of termination.
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Each of the three employment agreements also includes certain restrictive covenants that limit the executive’s ability
to compete with etrials and our etrials subsidiary etrials or to divulge certain confidential information concerning etrials and
our etrials subsidiary {or, in the case of Mr. Harte, only our etrials subsidiary in each instance).

The foregoing is only a summary. Each of these employment agreements are filed as exhibits to our filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and investors who desire to understand all the provisions of these agreements
(including the definitions of defined terms) should read these agreements in their entirety. The exhibit index to this report
refers to the report in which these employment agreements are filed as exhibits.
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Directors’ Compensation

The following table provides information concerning the compensation for members of our Board of Directors other
than John Cline, our principal executive officer, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
Non-

Fees Qualified

Earned Non-Equity Deferred

or Paid |Stock |Option |Incentive Compensation

in Cash | Awards| Awards Eamings All Other
Name(a) ($Xb) $SXc) |($Xd) Compensation($)(e} | ($)( Compensation($)(g) | Total ($)(j)
Robert Brill 17,625 - 67,327 - - - 84,952
Peter Collins 18,625 - 55,0291 - - - 73,654
Peter Coker 14,625 - 63,2280 - - - 77,853
Harold Ewen 17,000 - 55,029 - - - 72,029
Hans Lindroth 19,000 - 67,327 - - - 86,327
Donald Russell | 15,875 - 55,0200 - - - 70,904

{1) See footnote (4) of the Summary Compensation Table above for an explanation of how we value options.

The general policy of the Board is that compensation for independent directors should be a mix of cash and equity-
based compensation. We do not pay employee directors for Board service in addition to their regular employee
compensation. The meeting fees that we paid non-employee directors in 2006 effective April 1, 2006 are set forth in the table
below. Prior to that date we did not pay meeting fees to directors. Both before and after that date we reimbursed the
directors for their travel and related expenses in connection with attending Board meetings and Board-related activities, such

as site visits and sponsored events.

The Compensation Committee, which consists solely of independent directors, has the primary responsibility to

review and consider any revisions to directors’ compensation. In accordance with the

Compensation Committee’s

recommendations, the Board determined the non-employee directors’ compensation effective April 1, 2006 as follows:

[Cash compensation:

etrials Worldwide, Inc.

etrials, Inc.

lAnnual retainer $10,000 $5,000
nual retainer for board chairman $5,000 ~
JAnnual retainer for committee chairman $2,500 -
)Annual retainer for committee member $1,500 -
$1,000 (in person) _
Board meeting attendance $500 (telephonically)
$500 {whether in person or B
Committee meeting attendance telephonically)
Stock Options:
Upon joining board 50,000 shares 25,000

Option vesting schedule

25% on grant date and 25%
annually on the anniversary of the
grant

25% on grant date and 25%
annually on the anniversary of the
grant
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The current members of the committees are identified in the following table.

Corporate Mergers
Governance &
Director Audit Compensation and Nominating  _ Acquisitions
John Cline, CEO
Robert Brill Chair X X
Peter Coker X
Peter Collins X Chair X
Harold Ewen X Chair
Hans Lindroth X X
Donald Russell Chair

etrials subsidiary’s Board of Directors

Qur etrials subsidiary’s board of directors consists of Robert Moreyra and Messrs. Cline, Clark, Harte and Russell.
Directors of our subsidiary’s board who are not officers, directors or employees of etrials or are not officers or employees of
our etrials subsidiary were compensated with a cash retainer and meeting fees and stock options, which were 25% vested on
the grant date, with the remaining options to vest 25% on the first three anniversary dates of the grant. Presently, Mr.
Moreyra is the sole director of our etrials, Inc, subsidiary who is not also an officer or director of etrials. During 2006, we
paid Mr. Moreyra $3,750 in cash as a retainer and granted him 25,000 stock options for which the Company recognized
$23,934 in expense during 2006 for total compensation of $27,684. In 2006, we did not pay cash compensation to Mr.
Russell for service on our etrials subsidiary’s board of directors. We have a policy to reimburse the directors for their travel
and related expenses in connection with atiending Board meetings and Board-related activities, such as site visits and
sponsored events.

All meeting fees and a quarterly installment of annual retainer fees are paid in arrears. In addition, all directors are
reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket ¢xpenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board of Directors. No director
employed by us receives separate compensation for services rendered as a director.

The only director of our etrials subsidiary whose background in not disclosed in Item 9 above is Robert Moreyra and
his background is as follows:

Robert Moreyra. (48 years old) Mr. Moreyra has been a director of etrials, Inc. since February 9, 2006 and was an
executive vice president and one of our directors from our inception until his resignation upon consummation of the merger.
Mr. Moreyra has been a principal and executive vice president of Atlantic American Corporate Group since February 2001.
Since February 2001, he also has been a managing director of Atlantic American Capital Advisors, LLC, an investment
banking firm wholly owned by Atlantic American Corporate Group specializing in assisting small and mid-sized private and
public companies. Mr. Moreyra has been a director of Digital Lightwave, Inc., a NASDAQ listed public company that
designs, develops and markets a portfolio of portable and network based products for installing, maintaining and monitoring
fiber optic circuits and networks, since June 30, 2003, Mr. Moreyra received a B.B.A in finance from the Florida
International University and a M.B.A. from the University of Central Florida’s ‘graduate school of business.




Item 11. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

To our knowledge, the following table sets forth information regarding ownership of our common stock on March 1,
2007 (as updated beyond March 1, 2007 to the extent described in the footnotes) by (i) each of our directors and named
executive officers, (1i) a director of our etrials, Inc. subsidiary , (iii) six holders of more than 5% of our common stock who
are not officers or directors, and (iv) all of our directors and executive officers as a group. Except as otherwise indicated and
subject to applicable community property laws, each owner has sole voting and investment powers with respect to the
securities listed.

Number of
Shares of
Common Stock
Beneficially
Owned at
Stockholder'” ' ‘ . March 1, 2007 Percent of Class
Directors
Robert Brill . 1,599,342 @ 12.5%
John Cline , , 446,414 & 3.5%
Peter Coker 478,052 @ 3.8%
Peter Collins 12,500 @ 0.1%
Harold Ewen 110,308 © 0.9%
Donald Russell 526,454 42%
Hans Lindroth 35,754 ® 0.3%
Non-Director Executive Officers
James W. Clark, Jr. 474,111 @ 3.7%
Mark Jewett 23,6130 0.2%
Michael Harte 83,163¢" 0.7%
Robert Sammis 52,998 (12 0.4%
Richard Piazza 108,718 0.9%
David Levin ot -
Arthur D. Campbell 049 -
Subsidiary Board Member ‘
Robert Moreyra 396,121 48 3.2%
Other 5% Shareholders
InfoLogix 1,182,308 1" 9.3%
MiniDoc AB 2,569,587 18 19.4%
J. Patrick Michaels, Jr. 744156 1 5.9%
Newlight Associates Funds 1,599,342 @ 12.5%
E-ZAD Partnership Limited T 737,34540 5.9%
Fred F. Nazem 883,559 @1 7.0%
All Officers and Directors as a Group (15 individuals including members 4,347,545 29.9%

of our subsidiary’s Board of Directors)

(1) Uniess otherwise indicated, the business address of each of the following is 4000 Aerial Center Parkway, Morrisville,
North Carolina 27560,

(2) Robert Brill’s and Newlight Associates Funds business addresses are both c/o Newlight Management, LLC, 500 North
Broadway, Suite 144, Jericho, New York 11753. Includes: (i) 686,256 shares of common steck held by Newlight
Associates II, LP; (ii) 240,926 shares of common stock held by Newlight Associates [1 (BV1), LP; (iii) 110,400 shares of
common stock held by Newlight Associates II-E, LLC; (iv) 35,754 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise
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of options that are currently exercisable or which will become exercisable within sixty (60} days of March 1, 2007,
(v) 347,900 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which are currently exercisable and held by
Newlight Associates I1, LP; (vi) 122,138 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which are
currently exercisable and held by Newlight Associates II (BVI}, LP; and (vii) 55,967 shares of common stock issuable
upon the exercise of warrants which are currently exercisable and held by Newlight Associates [1-E, LLC. Dr. Brill is a
general partner of each of the three Newlight Associates II entities; the other general partner of the three Newlight
Associates I entities is Robert Raucci, whose business address is the same as Dr. Brill’s. Dr. Brill and Mr. Raucci will
exercise voting control over the shares of CEA common stock held by the three Newlight Associates II entities. Does not
include 65,921 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that will not become exercisable within
sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007. Dr. Brill disclaims all direct beneficial ownership of the options held by him, except to
the extent of his general partnership interests.

Includes for Mr. Cline 1,166 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which are currently
exercisable and 443,214 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or
which will become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007. Does not include 451,244 shares of commeon
stock issuable upon the exercise of options which will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007.
Peter Coker’s business address is c/o Tryon Capital, The Europa Center, 100 Europa Drive, Suite 455, Chapel Hill,
North Carolina 27514, Includes: (i) 28,970 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants that are
currently exercisable; (ii) 108,553 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are currently
exercisable or which will become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007, (iii} 147,756 shares of common
stock held by a trust established by Mr. Coker’s wife; (iv) 84,673 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of
warrants which are currently exercisable and held by a trust established by Mr. Coker’s wife; (v) 36,583 shares of
common stock held by Dunlap Industries, Ltd., of which Mr. Coker is a shareholder and the Managing Director; and (vi)
20,964 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which are currently exercisable and held by
Dunlap Industries, Ltd. Does not include 56,447 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options which
will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007.

Peter Collins® business address is 350 Camino Gardens Boulevard, Suite 102, Boca Raton, FL 33432, Includes 12,500
shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable or which will become
exercisable within sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007. Does not include 37,500 shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of stock options which will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007.

Harold Ewen’s business address is 101 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 3300, Tampa, Florida 33602. Includes 10,308 shares of
common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants that are currently exercisable. Includes 12,500 shares of common
stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable or which will become exercisable within
sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007. Does not include 37,500 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock
options which will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007.

Donald Russell’s business address is 101 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 3300, Tampa, Florida 33602. Includes 203,954 shares
of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants that are currently exercisable. Includes 12,500 shares of
common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable or which will become exercisable
within sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007. Does not include 37,500 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
stock options which will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007.

Hans Lindroth’s business address is c/o Lingfield AB, Kievgrand 2, 11634 Stockholm, Sweden. Includes 35,754 shares
of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or which will become exercisable
within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007. Does not include (i) 1,633,482 shares of common stock held by MiniDoc AB,
of which Mr. Lindroth is a member of the board of directors; (ii) 936,105 shares of common stock issuable upon the
exercise of warrants that are currently exercisable and held by MiniDoc AB, and (iti) 65,921 shares of common stock
issuable upon the exercise of options that will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007.

Includes for Mr. Clark 57,248 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which are currently
exercisable and 316,963 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or
which will become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007. Does not include 301,747 shares of common
stock issuable upon the exercise of options which will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007.

(10) Includes for Mr. Jewett 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which are currently

exercisable and includes 8,613 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are currently
exercisable or which will become exercisable within sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007. Does not include 41,387
shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options which will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days
of March 1, 2007.

(11) Includes for Mr. Harte 12,767 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which are curmrently

exercisable and 56,843 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or
which will become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007. Does not include 33,157 shares of common
stock issuable upon the exercise of options which will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007.
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(12) Includes for Mr. Sammis 1,109 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which are currently
exercisable and 49,953 shares of commeon stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or
which will become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007. Does not include 30,047 shares of common
stock issuable upon the exercise of options which will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007.

(13) Includes for Mr. Piazza 21,408 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which are currently
exercisable and 49,953 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or
which will become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007. Does not include 30,047 shares of common
stock issuable upon the exercise of options which will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days of May 1, 2006.

{14) Does not include for Mr. Levin 20,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options which will not
become exercisable within sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007,

(15) Does not include for Mr. Campbeil 10,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options which will
not become exercisable within sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007.

(16) Robert Moreyra’s business address is 101 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 3300, Tampa, Florida 33602. Mr. Moreyra is not an
officer or director of etrials, but is a director of our etrials, Inc. subsidiary. Includes 117,371 shares of common stock
issuable upon the exercise of warrants that are currently exercisable. Includes 6,250 shares of common stock issuable
upon exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable or which will become exercisable within sixty (60) days
after March 1, 2007. Does not include 18,750 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options which
will not become exercisable within sixty (60) days after March 1, 2007. Also includes 131,250 shares of common stock
transferred to Mr. Moreyra from CEA Group, LLC for which there was an agreement to transfer on or before March 1,
2007, but for which actual transfer occurred after March 1, 2007.

(17) Infologix (BVI) Limited is a company organized in the British Virgin Islands whose business address is The Parade, St.
Helier, Jersey, Channel Islands, United Kingdom. Infologix (BVI) Limited is wholly-owned by Hammerwood (BVI)
Limited, a company organized in the British Virgin Islands. Hammerwood (BVI) Limited is controlled by Elmwood
Investment Holdings Ltd., a holding company organized in the British Virgin Islands. The Peder Sager Wallenberg
Charitable Trust has the right to receive 25% of 99.9% of all dividends declared by Hammerwood and 99.9% of all of
the assets of Hammerwood distributed upon any liquidation thereof. Includes 430,709 shares of common stock that are
issuable upon the exercise of warrants that will be exercisable upon consummation of the merger. Does not include
1,633,482 shares of common stock, and 936,105 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants which
are currently exercisable, in each case held by MiniDoc AB, a company of which Infologix owns approximately 39.4%.
The Board of Directors of Infologix consists of Martyn David Crespel and Lorraine Wheeler. The Board of Directors of
Infologix has the power to vote the shares of common stock held by Infologix.

(18) MiniDoc AB’s business address is Norrmalmstorg 14, 111 46 Stockholm, Sweden. MiniDoc AB is a publicly-traded
holding company the stock of which is traded on the small cap over-the-counter market in Sweden. Includes 936,105
shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of warrants that are currently exercisabte. Does not include
shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are held by Mr. Lindroth. Does not include shares of
stock held by Infologix (BVI} Limited (see note (17), above), which owns approximately 39.4% of the outstanding
shares of MiniDoc AB. The Board of Directors of MiniDoc consists of Mr. Lindroth, Lars Lindgren and Per Egeberg.
The Board of Directors exercises voting control over the shares of our common stock held by MiniDoc, other than those
matters (if any) which must be presented to a vote of MiniDoc’s shareholders under applicable law.

(19) J. Patrick Michaels, Jr.’s business address is 101 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 3300, Tampa, Florida 33602. Includes (i)
306,250 shares of common stock held by CEA Group, LLC, of which Mr. Michaels is the chairman of the board and
chief executive officer and with respect to which he exercises voting power, (ii) 144,302 shares of common stock that
are issuable upon the exercise of warrants that are currently exercisable, and (iii) 238,604 shares of common stock that
are issuable upon the exercise of warrants that are currently exercisable and that are held by a family limited partnership
contrelled by Mr. Michaels. Does not include 131,250 shares of common stock transferred by CEA Group, LLC to
Robert Moreyra for which there was agreement to transfer on or prior to March 1, 2007, but for which actual transfer
occurred after March 1, 2007.

(20} E-ZAD Partnership Limited is a Texas corporaiion, the business address is 2435 North Central, Suite 225, Richardson,
Texas 75080. Prodea Inc., a Texas corporation, is the general pariner of E-ZAD Limited Partnership; Hamid Ansari, an
officer and director of Prodea, has the power to vote the shares of CEA common stock that will be held by E-ZAD.
Includes 265,025 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants that are currently exercisable.

(21) Fred F. Nazem’s business address is ¢/o 345 Park Avenue South, New York, New York 10016. Includes 321,707 shares
of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants that are currently exercisable.

(22) Includes (i) 1,100,943 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants that are currently exercisable, and (ii)
1,149,347 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or which will
become exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007. Does not include 1,207,171 shares of common stock
issuable upon the exercise of options that are not currently exercisable and which will not become exercisable within
sixty (60) days of March 1, 2007. Includes shares beneficially owned by Mr. Moreyra, who is not an officer or director
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of etrials, but who is a director of etrials’ subsidiary. See the table and footnote number (16} above.
Voting Agreement

In connection with the February 2006 merger in which we acquired our etrials, Inc. subsidiary, two groups of
shareholders agreed to vote for the designees of the other group of shareholders. This voting agreement continues until
immediately following the 2007 election of Directors. One group of sharcholders are former shareholders of our etrials
subsidiary: MiniDoc, AB, Infologix (BVI) Limited, Newlight Associates II, LP, Newlight Associates 1I-E, LP, Peter and
Susan Coker, Dunlap Industries, John Cline, James and Susanne Clark, Robert Sammis, Fred Nazem, E-ZAD Partnership
Limited, Richard Piazza, Rachael King and Michael Harte. The other group of shareholders owned shares of our stock before
the merger: Donald Russell, Robert Moreyra, Harold Ewen and CEA Group, LLC. Directors Lindroth, Coker, Cline and Brill
are all designees of the former shareholders of our etrials subsidiary. Directors Collins, Russell and Ewen are all designees of
Messrs. Russell, Moreyra and Ewen and CEA Group, LLC.

Escrow of Shares

Of the 7,446,360 shares issued in the merger to the then stockholders of our etrials subsidiary, 1,400,000 shares
owned by former etrials stockholders have been placed in escrow and will not be released unless and until over a 20
consecutive trading day period (i) the weighted average price of our common stock is $7.00 or more, and (ii) the average
daily trading volume is at least 25,000 shares. We refer to this as the “$7.00 Trigger.” If the $7.00 Trigger is not met, these
shares will be cancelled. In connection with our initial public offering in 2004, 166,250 shares of our common stock owned
by persons who were officers and directors at the time of our initial public offering or related parties thereto (CEA Group,
LLC, Robert Moreyra, Donald Russell and Brad Gordon) and Hareold Ewen, who was our special advisor prior to the merger,
were also placed in escrow. These shares will be held in escrow until February 19, 2008, unless the $7.00 Trigger is met
before then. If the $7.00 Trigger is not met prior to February 19, 2008, the 166,250 shares will be cancelled. Shares held in
escrow can be voted by their owners. In excess of one million of these escrowed shares that are subject to risk of cancellation
are owed by people listed on the Beneficial Ownership Table set forth above. The number of shares listed in the Beneficial
Ownership Table include these escrowed shares that are subject to risk of cancellation.

Stock Option Plan

On February 9, 2006, the shareholders of the Company voted to adopt the 2005 Performance Equity Plan (the
“Plan”). The purpose of the Plan is to provide incentives to eligible employees, officers, directors and consultants in the form
of non-qualified stock options and, as permissible, incentive stock options. On February 9, 2006, the Company reserved a
total of 2,100,000 shares of commen stock for issuance under the Plan. On June 13, 2006, the shareholders voted to increase
the number of shares issuable under the Plan to 3,200,000 shares.

Awards Qutstanding under the Plan. The following table reflects options under both plans as of December 31, 2006.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of shares of
Common Stock
remaining available for

Plan category

Number of shares of
Common Stock to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights(a)

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
(warrants and rights(b)

future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding shares
of Common Stock

reflected in column (a))'"(c

Equity Compensation plans

pproved by security 3,200,000 $3.82 367,943
holders
Equity Compensation plans
mot approved by security — N/A] —
holders
Total 3,200,000 $3.82 367,9433

(1) Reflects shares remaining available for issuance under the etrials Worldwide, Inc. 2005 Performance Equity Plan as of
December 31, 2006.
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Item 12, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Our Policies. It is our policy that all employees must avoid any activity that is or has the appearance of being hostile, adverse
or competitive with the Company, or that interferes with the proper performance of their duties, responsibilities or loyalty to
etrials. These policies are included in our Conflict of Interest Policy, which covers our directors, executive officers and other
employees. Each director and executive officer is instructed to always inform our Board when confronted with any situation
that may be perceived as a conflict of interest, even if the person does not believe that the situation would violate our Conflict
of Interest Policy. If in a particular circumstance the Board concludes that there is or may be a perceived conflict of interest,
the Board will instruct our attorneys to work with our management to determine if there is a conflict of interest. Any waivers
to these conflict rules with regard to a director or executive officer require the prior approval of the Board or the Audit
Committee,

NASDAQ Rules. NASDAQ rules defining “independent” director status also govern conflict of interest sitvations. As
discussed above, each of our directors other than John Cline, Peter Coker and Don Russell qualifies as “independent” in
accordance with the NASDAQ rules. The NASDAQ rules include a series of objective tests that would not allow a director to
be considered independent if the director has or has had certain employment, business or family relationships with the
company. The NASDAQ independence definition also includes a requirement that the Board review the relations between
each independent director and the company on a subjective basis. In accordance with that review, the Board has made a
subjective determination as to each independent director that no relationships exist that, in the opinion of the Board, would
interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In making these
determinations, the directors reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors and etrials with regard to cach
director’s business and personal activities as they may relate to the Company and our management.

SEC Rules. In addition to our policies and NASDAQ policies and rules described above, the SEC has specific disclosure
requirements covering certain types of transactions invelving the Company and a director or executive officer or persons and
entities affiliated with them.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

All members of our Compensation Committee during 2006 were independent directors other than Peter Coker, and
none of them were our employees or former employees. During 2006, none of our executive officers served on the
compensation commitiee (or equivalent), or the board of directors, of another entity whose executive officer(s} served on our
Compensation Committee or board of directors.
etrials Related Party Transactions

Stock Issuances 1o Related Parties.

The discussion and tables below disclose all stock and warrant issuances to named executive officers, directors and
beneficial holders of 5% or more of our outstanding capital stock for the period beginning January 1, 2005 and ending
December 31, 2006, including issuances by our etrials, Inc. subsidiary. The issuances in the table below do not include

compensatory stock options issued to officers and directors for services in their capacities as officers and directors..

Stock Issuances by our etrials Subsidiary in 2005 and 2006

Number of Number of

Shares Warrants
Stockholder Name Acquired» Acquired»
Newlight Associates IT Funds® 103,372 47,957
E-ZAD Partnership Limited® 49,076 28,123
Infologix (BVI) Limited” 24,538 14,062
Fred F. Nazem® 62,878 36,033

) These figures are reported on a post-merger basis and reflect the shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase

shares of our common stock issued to holders of our etrials subsidiary’s capital stock in our merger.
@ Newlight Associates I, LP, Newlight Associates II (BVI), Ltd. and Newlight Associates [1-E, LLC, are related venture

49




capital funds that we refer to as the “Newlight Associates I funds.” Robert Brill, a member of etrials’ board of directors,
is also the managing general partner of the Newlight Associates II funds. In 2003, the Newlight Associates II funds
purchased shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of our etrials subsidiary and, in connection with this
investment; the Newlight Associates II funds acquired warrants to purchase shares of our common stock. In connection
with our merger and in order to induce the Newlight Associates I funds to exercise its remaining 490,756 warrants to
purchase shares of the common stock of our etrials subsidiary prior to the closing of the merger, our etrials subsidiary
agreed to allocate an additional $675,971 of merger consideration to the Newlight Associates Il funds, which was
satisfied with 103,372 shares of our common stock and 47,957 warrants to purchase shares of our common stock. The
values of our shares and warrants were determined based on the average reported last sales price of our shares and
warrants for the ten trading days ending three days prior to the closing of our merger. The Newlight Associates II funds
exercised the warrants in our etrials subsidiary in February 2006, utilizing a cashless exercise provision in the warrants.

In connection with a 2003 investment in our etrials subsidiary’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, our etrials
subsidiary issued common stock purchase warrants to E-ZAD Partnership Limited. In order to induce E-ZAD
Partnership Limited to exercise the warrants prior to the closing of the merger, our etrials subsidiary agreed to allocate
an additional $337,985 of merger consideration to E-ZAD Partnership Limited, which was satisfied with 51,686 shares
of our common stock and 23,978 warrants to purchase shares of our common stock. The values of our shares and
warrants were determined based on the average reported last sales price of our shares and warrants for the ten trading
days ending three days prior to the closing of our merger. E-ZAD Partnership Limited exercised a portion of these
warrants in August 2005, acquiring 47,156 shares of our common stock for aggregate consideration of $2,000, and it
exercised its remaining 245,378 warrants to purchase shares of the common stock of our etrials subsidiary in February
2006, utilizing a cashless exercise procedure in the warrants.
™ In connection with a 2003 investment in our etrials subsidiary’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, our etrials
subsidiary issued common stock purchase warrants to Infologix (BVI) Limited. Infologix (BVI) Limited exercised
23,578 warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in December 2005 for aggregate consideration of $1,000.
©}  Fred F. Nazem, a former member of the board of directors of our etrials subsidiary, exercised an aggregate of 60,419
options to purchase shares of our common stock in December 2005 for aggregate consideration of $139,622; these
options had been granted to him in connection with his service on our etrials subsidiary’s board of directors and for the
provision of additional services to our etrials subsidiary. In addition, in order to induce Mr. Nazem to exercise certain
warrants to purchase shares of our etrials subsidiary’s common held by him prior to the closing of the merger, the board
of directors of our etrials subsidiary agreed to allocate an additional $16,044 of merger consideration to Mr. Nazem,
which was satisfied with 2,453 shares of our common stock and 1,139 warrants to purchase shares of our common stock.
The values of our shares and warrants were determined based on the average reported last sales price of our shares and
warrants for the ten trading days ending three days prior to the closing of our merger.

3)

Additional Related Party Transactions of our etrials Subsidiary

Peter Coker. Mr. Coker is a member of etrials’ board of directors. From January 2000 until December 2003,
Mr. Coker was the Managing Partner of Tryon Capital Partners, and since January 2004 Mr. Coker has been the Managing
Director of Tryon Capital Ventures. BIP, a partnership of which Mr. Coker is a partner, made a series of loans to our etrials
subsidiary secured by the account receivables of our etrials subsidiary. These loans began in 2001. These loans were repaid as
and when our etrials subsidiary collected its account receivables. Interest for these loans averaged approximately 36% per
annum. At December, 31, 2004 $727,990 in principal was outstanding and $24,556 of interest remained unpaid. During 2005,
our etrials subsidiary paid all principal and interest and no amounts of principal or interest are currently outstanding.

MiniDoc AB. MiniDoc, AB (MiniDoc) is the beneficial holder of more than 5% of the shares of etrials, and Hans
Lindroth, a member of etrials’ board of directors, is also a member of MiniDoc’s board of directors. Infologix (BVI),
Limited, also the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the shares of etrials, also owns approximately 39% of MiniDoc, and
Hans Lindroth, a member of the etrials Board of Directors, owns approximately 0.35% of MiniDoc. On August 10, 2005,
MiniDoc and our etrials subsidiary entered into an exclusive license agreement granting exclusive rights from MiniDoc to
our etrials subsidiary for the MiniDoc Diary Software and the intellectual property rights underlying the MiniDoc Diary
Software which were used by our etrials subsidiary pursuant to an oral agreement prior to the execution of this exclusive
license agreement. We refer to this as the “licensed intellectual property.” Under the terms of the license agreement, MiniDoc
retained a right to make, use and sell the licensed intellectual property, without any right to transfer or sublicense it to others.
Our etrials subsidiary has the sole right to enforce the licensed intellectual property rights as well as the right to sue for past
infringement and damages. The term of the MiniDoc license extends from August 10, 2005 until the last expiration date of
the MiniDoc patents which our etrials subsidiary licenses pursuant to the agreement, unless terminated earlier by the mutual
consent of both parties.
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In consideration of the grant of rights in the license agreement, our etrials subsidiary assumed all MiniDoc liability
related to alleged past infringement of PHT Corporation’s U.S. Patent No. 6,095,985 and as a part of the confidential
settlement agreement by and between our etrials subsidiary and PHT Corporation, our etrials subsidiary negotiated a release
of any and all claims against MiniDoc related to such alleged infringement of the ‘985 patent. The alleged MiniDoc liability
under the ‘985 patent did not relate to the MiniDoc diary software or intellectual property but to a later diary technology
developed and used by Arracel Corporation (which later merged with our etrials subsidiary) and used by Arracel Limited
{now our etrials subsidiary’s wholly-owned subsidiary, etrials Worldwide Limited) during the period that these companies
were wholly-owned subsidiaries of MiniDoc, AB, and our etrials subsidiary assumed this liability as a part of its 2003 merger
with the Arracel Corporation. This later diary technology, now known as the etrials electronic patent diary (EPD) was the
subject of the PHT patent infringement action.

Our etrials subsidiary entered into this agreement as a defensive measure to protect itself from any future patent
infringement actions in either the United States or Europe for the use of the MiniDoc diary technology, from which it
generated revenues from 1995 through 2004. In addition, the rights our etrials subsidiary derived from the MiniDoc license
agreement enable our etrials subsidiary to sue others for infringement of the MiniDoc patents, which could be of strategic
importance were other diary technology patent holders to make patent infringement claims against our etrials subsidiary in
the future.

The terms of the MiniDoc license agreement also provide that if our etrials subsidiary initiates a suit for
infringement of the licensed intellectual property, our etrials subsidiary will pay MiniDoc 10% of any net amount of damages
or settlement recovered by etrials. If our etrials subsidiary sublicenses the licensed intellectual property, MiniDoc will receive
10% of any net revenue received by our etrials subsidiary. Finally, in the event that MiniDoc sells all or substantially all of its
assets or is sold to a third party, our etrials subsidiary has the right to acquire all rights to the licensed intellectual property for
the price of $1.00.

Pre-merger Related Party Transactions

CEA Founding Shareholders. Prior to our IPO, we issued 750,000 shares of our common stock to CEA Group, LLC,
Donald Russell, Robert Moreyra, Harold Ewen and Brad Gordon (who we refer to below as “Founders™) for $25,000 in cash,
at an average purchase price of approximately $0.033 per share. Subsequent to the issuance, our board of directors
authorized a 1.1666666-to-one forward stock split of our common stock, effectively lowering the purchase price to $0.029
per share. The following share numbers have been adjusted to reflect this stock split: : (i) 437,500 to CEA Group, LLC
which was a 10% shareholder at that time; (ii) 175,000 to Donald Russell, who was our Vice Chairman at that time; (iii)
131,250 to Robert Moreyra, who was our Executive Vice President and a Director at that time; (iv) 87,500 to Harold Ewen,
who was a special advisor to us at that time; and (v) 43,750 to Brad Gordon, who was our Chief Financial Officer and a
Director at that time,

Pursuant to an escrow agreement among us, the Founders and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, all of
the Founders’ shares were placed in escrow, with Continental acting as escrow agent, pursuant to.an escrow agreement, until
the earliest of: February 12, 2007; our liquidation; or the consummation of a liquidation, merger, stock exchange or other
similar transaction which results in all of our stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of common stock for
cash, securities or other property subsequent to our consummating the business combmatlon with a target business

Effective February 12, 2007, 708,750 of these escrowed shares were released from escrow as follows: (i) 223,125 to
CEA Group, LLC; (ii) 137,250 to Robert Moreyra; (iii) 141,750 to Donald Russell; (iv) 106, 313 to Robert Moreyra; (v)
70,875 to Harold Ewen; and (vi) 35,437 to Brad Gordon. 166,250 of the Founder Shares remain in escrow for the benefit of
the following: (i) 83,125 for CEA Group, LLC; (ii) 33,250 for Donald Russell; (ii) 24,937 for Robert Moreyra; (iv) 16,625
for Harold Ewen; and (v) 8,313 for Brad Gordon.

During the escrow period, these shares cannot be sold, but the Founders retain all other rights as stockholders,
including, without limitation, the right to vote their shares of common stock and the right to receive cash dividends, if
declared. If dividends are declared and payable in shares of common stock, such dividends will also be placed in escrow. In
connection with our merger, certain of our Founders agreed that 166,250 of their shares held in escrow would not be released
unless and until our common stock trades at $7.00 or more for a specified period of time prior to February 19, 2008.

We also entered into a registration rights agreement with the Founders pursuant to which the holders of the majority
of the Founders® shares will be entitled to make up to two demands that we register these shares. The holders of the majority
of these shares may elect to exercise these registration rights at any time after the date on which these shares of common
stock are released from escrow. In addition, these stockholders were granted certain “piggy-back™ registration rights on
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registration statements filed subsequent to the date on which these shares of common stock are released from escrow. We will
bear the expenses incurred in connection with the filing of any such registration statements.

Prior to our merger, CEA Group, LLC, one of our Founders and an affiliate of J. Patrick Michaels, Jr., who was our
chief executive officer and a member of our board of directors from October 2003 until our merger in February 2006, made
available to us a small amount of office space and certain office and secretarial services, as we may require from time to time.
We paid CEA Group $7,500 per month for these services.

Prior to our merger, we reimbursed our officers and directors for any reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses
incurred by them in connection with certain activities on our behalf such as identifying and investigating possible target
businesses and business combinations.

Other than the $7,500 per-month administrative fee and reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses payable to our officers
and directors, no compensation or fees of any kind, including finders and consulting fees, were paid to any of our Founders or
to any of their respective affiliates for services rendered to us prior to or with respect to the business combination.

J. Patrick Michaels, Jr., our former chairman of the board and former chief executive officer, and Robert Moreyra, a
former member of our board of directors, our former executive vice president and a current member of our etrials
subsidiary’s board of directors, each agreed that, if we liquidated prior to the consummation of a business combination, they
would be personally liable to pay debts and obligations to vendors or other entities that were owed money by us for services
rendered or products sold to us in excess of the net proceeds of our initial offering not held in a trust account. Qur merger
relieved these persons of their obligations.

“Independent” Directors.

Each of our directors other than John Cline, Peter Coker and Donald Russell qualifies as “independent” in
accordance with the published listing requirements of NASDAQ. The NASDAQ independence definition includes a series of
objective tests, such as that the director is not an employee of the company and has not engaged in various types of business
dealings with the company. In addition, as further required by NASDAQ rules, the Board has made a subjective
determination as to each independent director that no relationships exist which, in the opinion of the Board, would interfere
with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In making these determinations,
the directors reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors and the company with regard to each director’s
business and personal activities as they may relate to the Company and our management.

In addition, as required by NASDAQ rules, the members of the Audit Committee each qualify as “independent”
under special standards established by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for members of audit
committees.

Item 13. EXHIBITS

A list of exhibits filed with this Form 10-KSB or incorporated by reference is found in the Exhibit Index
immediately following the Signature Page of this Form 10-KSB and is incorporated herein by reference. .

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Emst & Young LLP has been our independent audit firm since February 2006, and prior to the merger was the
independent audit firm of our etrials subsidiary from March 2000 forward. BDO Seidman LLP was CEA’s independent audit
firm prior to the merger. The Audit Committee has selected Emst & Young as our independent audit firm for the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2007. Among other matters, the Audit Committee concluded that current requirements for audit partner
rotation, auditor independence through limitation of services and other regulations affecting the audit engagement process
substantially assist in supporting auditor independence despite the long-term nature of Emst & Young’s services to us.

As a matter of good corporate governance, the Audit Committee has determined to submit its selection of the
independent audit firm to our stockholders for ratification at a meeting of shareholders to be held later in 2007. In the event
that this selection of Emst & Young is not ratified by the majority of the shares of common stock present or represented at
the annual meeting and entitled to vote on the matter, the Audit Committee will review its future selection of an independent
registered public accounting firm.
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Representatives of Ernst & Young attended all meetings of our Audit Committee during 2006 and all meetings of
the Audit Committee of our etrials subsidiary in 2005 and 2006. The Audit Committee pre-approves and reviews audit and
non-audit services performed by Emst & Young as well as the fees charged by Emst & Young for such services. In its pre-
approval and review of non-audit service fees, the Audit Committee considers, among other factors, the possible effect of the
performance of such services on the auditors’ independence. To avoid potential conflicts of interest in maintaining auditor
independence, the law prohibits a publicly traded company from obtaining certain non-audit services from its independent
registered public accounting firm. In 2005 and 2006, neither we nor our etrials subsidiary obtained any of these prohibited
services from Ernst & Young. We use unrelated firms for these types of non-audit services.

Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms
BDO Seidman, LLP
The following table shows the fees that paid or accrued for audit and other services provided by BDO Seidman, LLP for

fiscal years 2005 and 2006. All of the services described in the following fee table were approved in conformity with the
Audit Committee’s pre-approval process.

2006 2005
Audit fees $ 2,600 $78,734
Audit-related fees — -
Tax fees — —_
All other fees — —
Total $ 2,600 $78,734

Audit Fees. This category includes the audit of our annual financial statements, review of financial statements included in our
Form 10-QSB quarterly reports, and services that are normally provided by the independent registered public accounting firm
in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal years. This category also includes advice
on accounting matters that arose during, or as a result of| the audit or the review of interim financial statements.

Audit-Related Fees. This category consists of assurance and related services provided by BDO Seidman, LLP that are
reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and are not reported above under
“Audit Fees.” There were no such services provided during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006.

Tax Fees. This category consists of tax services generally for tax compliance and tax preparation. We did not use BDO
Seidman for these services in 2005 or 2006.

Ail Other Fees. None
Ernst & Young, LLP
The following table shows the fees that were paid or incurred for audit and other services provided by Emst & Young LLP

for fiscal years 2005 and 2006 for our etrials subsidiary. All of the services described in the following fee table were
approved in conformity with the Audit Committee’s pre-approval process.

2006 2005
Audit fees $355,640 $760,110
Audit-refated fees — —
Tax fees 8,570 9,900
All other fees — —
Total $364,210 $770,010

Audit Fees. This category includes the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, consents and review
of documents filed with the SEC, and services that are normally provided by the independent registered public accounting
firm in connection with statutory and regulatory filings. This category also includes advice on accounting matters that arose
during, or as a result of, the audit or the review of interimn financial statements and statutory audits required by non-
U.S. jurisdictions.
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Audit-Related Fees. This category consists of assurance and related services provided by Emst & Young that are reasonably
related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and are not reported above under “Audit Fees.”
There were no such services provided during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006.

Tax Fees. This category consists of tax services generally for tax compliance and tax preparation.
All Other Fees. None.
The Audit Committee of our etrials subsidiary reviews and approves all services to be provided by Emst & Young for both

audit and permitted non-audit services. The decision of the Audit Committee with respect to non-audit services will be based
upon the determination that those services will not impact the audit services provided by Emst & Young.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

etrials Worldwide, Inc.

By: _/s/ John K. Clipe
John K. Cline, President, Chief Executive
Officer (Principal Executive Officer )
March 30, 2007

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Each individual whose signature appears below
hereby designates and appoints John K. Cline and James W. Clark, Jr. as such person's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and
agents (the "Attorneys-in-Fact") with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for each person and in such person's name,
place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-KSB, which
amendments may make such changes in this Annual Report on Form 10-KSB as the Attorneys-in-Fact deem appropriate and
to file each such amendment with all exhibits thereto, and all documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto the Attomneys-in-Fact full power and authority to do and perform each and every act
and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as such person
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the Attorneys-in-Fact, or his substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Any one of the Attorneys-in Fact may exercise the powers granted
herein independently of the other. '

SIGNATURE TITLE ' DATED
President, Chief Executive
{s/ John K. Cline Officer and Director (Principal March 30, 2007
John K, Cline Executive Officer)
Chief Financial Officer (Principal
{s/ James W Clark, Jr. Financial and Accounting March 30, 2007 '
James W, Clark, Jr. Officer)
(s/ Robert Bril Director March 30, 2007
fs/ Peter Collins Dircctor March 30, 2007
Peter Collins
{s/ Peter Coker Director March 30, 2007
Peter Coker
{s/ Harold Ewen Director < March 30, 2007
Harold Ewen
/s/ Hans Lindroth . . '
Hans Lindroth Director March 30, 2007
{s/ Don Russell Director ‘ March 30, 2007

Don Russell
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9.1

10.1

10.2

EXHIBIT INDEX
Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 22, 2005 by and among CEA Acquisition Corporation, etrials
Acquisition, Inc., etrials Worldwide, Inc. and certain stockholders of etrials Worldwide, Inc. (Included in
Annex A of the proxy statement/prospectus included in the Form S-4 (No. 333-129314), effective January 18,
2006 and incorporated by reference herein).

Amendment No. 1 to Plan of Merger dated October 31, 2005 by and among CEA Acquisition Corporation,
etrials Acquisition, Inc., etrials Worldwide, Inc. and certain stockholders of etrials Worldwide, Inc. (Included
in Annex A of the proxy statement/prospectus included in the Form S-4 (No. 333-129314), effective January
18, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein).

Amendment No. 2 to Plan of Merger dated December 5, 2005 by and among CEA Acquisition Corporation,
etrials Acquisition, Inc., etrials Worldwide, Inc. and certain stockholders of etrials Worldwide, Inc. (Included
in Annex A of the proxy statement/prospectus included in the Form §-4 (No. 333-129314), effective January
18, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein).

Certificate of Incorporation of CEA Acquisition Corporation. (Incorporated by reference from Registration
Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-1 filed November 10, 2603).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of CEA Acquisition Corporation. (Incorporated by
reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-4 filed Qctober 28, 2005).

Bylaws of CEA Acquisition Corporation (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-
110365 on Form S-1 filed November 10, 2003).

Specimen Unit Certificate of Registrant (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-
110365 on Form S-1 filed November 10, 2003).

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Registrant (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement
No. 333-110365 on Form S-1 filed November 10, 2003).

Specimen Warrant Certificate of Registrimt {Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-
110365 on Form S-1 filed November 10, 2003).

Form of Unit Purchase Option, (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on
Form 8-1 filed November 10, 2003).

Form of Warrant Agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and the Registrant
(Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-1 filed November 10,
2003).

Voting Agreement dated August 22, 2005 among CEA Acquisition Corporation, certain security holders of
etrials Worldwide, Inc. and certain security holders of CEA Acquisition, Inc. (Incorporated by reference from
Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 25, 2005).

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, EarlyBirdCapital, Inc. and J. Patrick Michaels, Jr. (without
schedules). {Incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on
Form §-1 filed December 24, 2003).

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, EarlyBirdCapital, inc. and Robert Moreyra (without schedules).
(Incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-1
filed December 24, 2003).
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10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, EarlyBirdCapital, Inc. and Donald Russell (without schedules)
(Incorporated by reference from Amendment No. | to Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-1

. _ﬁlpd December 24, 2003).

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, EarlyBirdCapital, Inc. and Brad Gordon (without schedules).
(Incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-1
filed December 24, 2003).

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, EarlyBirdCapital, Inc. and Harold Ewen (without schedules).
(Incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-1
filed December 24, 2003).

Letter Agreement among the Registrant, EarlyBirdCapital, Inc. and CEA Group, LLC (without schedules).
{Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-1 filed November 10,
2003).

Form of Investment Trust Management Trust Agreement between the Registrant, Continental Stock Transfer
& Trust Company and the Initial Stockholders. (Incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 2 to
Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-1 filed December 24, 2003).

Form of Stock Escrow Agreement between the Registrant, Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and
the Initial Stockholders. (Incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement No.
333-110365 on Form §-1 filed December 24, 2003).

Form of Amendment to Stock Escrow Agreement between the Registrant, Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company and the Initial Stockholders. (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-
110365 on Form S-4 filed December 13, 2005).

Form of Letter Agreement between CEA Group, LLC and Registrant regarding administrative support.
{Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form 5-1 filed November 10,
2003).

Form of Registration Rights Agreement among the Registrant and the Initial Stockholders (Incorporated by
reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-1 filed November 10, 2003).

CEA 2005 Performance Equity Plan (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365
on Form S-4 filed December 13, 2005).*

Letter Agreement dated as of August 10, 2005 between the Registrant, EarlyBirdCapital, Inc. and American
Fund Advisors (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-4 filed
October 28, 2005),

Form of Escrow Agreement among CEA Acquisition Corporation, :lames W. Clark, Jr., as the etrials
Stockholders’ Representative and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. (Incorporated by reference
from Current Report on 8-K filed August 25, 2005),

Form of Amendment to Escrow Agreement among CEA Acquisition Corporation, James W. Clark, Jr., as the
etrials Stockholders’ Representative and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. (Incorporated by
reference from Registration Statement No. 333-1103635 on Form S-4 filed December 13, 2005).

Employment Agreement dated August 22, 2005, among CEA Acquisition Corporation, etrials Worldwide,
Inc. and John Cline (Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 25, 2005).*
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10.17 Employment Agreement dated August 22, 2005, among CEA Acquisition Corporation, etrials Worldwide,
Inc. and James W. Clark, Jr. (Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 25,
2005).*

10.18 Employment Agreement dated August 22, 2003, between etrials Worldwide, Inc. and Michael Harte,
(Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 25, 2005).*

10.19 Lock-Up Agreement dated August 22, 2005 executed by certain of the security helders of etrials Worldwide,
Inc. (Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 25, 2005).

10.20 Lock-Up Agreement dated August 22, 2005 executed by Quintiles Transnational Corp. and Q Finance Inc.
(Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 25, 2005).

10.21 etrials Worldwide, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan. {Incorporated by reference from Registration
Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-4 filed October 28, 2005).

10.22 Amendment to etrials Worldwide, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan, dated March 11, 2003 (Incorporated
by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-4 filed October 28, 2005).

10.23 Employment Agreement between John Cline and etrials Werldwide, Inc., dated December 12, 2003,
(Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form $-4 filed October 28,
2005).*

10.24 Employment Agreement between James Clark and etnals Worldwide, Inc., dated December 12, 2003.
(Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form $-4 filed October 28,
2005).*

10.25 Service Agreement between Rachel King and Minidoc Limited. (Incorporated by reference from Registration
Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-4 filed October 28, 2005).

10.26 RBC Loan and Security Agreement by and between etrials Worldwide, Inc. and RBC Centura Bank, dated
February 1, 2005. (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-4 filed
October 28, 2005).

10.27 Negative Pledge Agreement by and between etrials Worldwide, Inc. and RBC Centura Bank, dated February
1, 2005. (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form $-4 filed October
28, 2005).

10.28 Investment Banking Fee Satisfaction Agreement between Fred Nazem and etrials Worldwide, Inc., dated
April 4, 2003, terminated September 10, 2005. (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No.
333-110365 on Form S-4 filed October 28, 2005).

10.29 Letter Agreement for Financial Advisory Services between Fred Nazem and etrials Worldwide, Inc. dated
June 24, 2004 and terminated September 18, 2005. (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement
No. 333-110365 on Form S-4 filed October 28, 2005).

10.30 Advisory Agreement between Tryon Capital and etrials Worldwide, Inc., dated November 7, 2003 and
terminated September 10, 2005. (Incorporated by reference from Registration Staternent No. 333-110365 on
Form S-4 filed October 28, 2005).

10.31 Form of Voting Trust Agreement between etrials Worldwide, Inc. and certain shareholders of etrials
Worldwide, Inc. (Incorperated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form S-4 filed
October 28, 2005).
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10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

14.1

16.1

23.1

311

3.2

32

Form of Amendment to Voting Trust Agreement between etrials Worldwide, Inc. and certain shareholders of
etrials Worldwide, Inc. (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form 5-4
filed October 28, 2005).

Exclusive License Agreement by and between MiniDoc AB and etrials Worldwide, Inc., dated August 10,
2005, (Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-110365 on Form $-4 filed December
13, 2005).

Unconditional Guaranty Agreement dated February 14, 2006 between etrials Worldwide, Inc. and RBC
Centura Bank. (Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 15, 2006).

Unconditional Guaranty Agreement dated March 17, 2006 between etrials Worldwide, Inc. and RBC Centura
Bank.(Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed March 31, 2006)**

Fourth Modification Agreement dated as of April 21, 2006 between etrials, Inc., etrials Worldwide, Inc.,
etrials Worldwide Limited and RBC Centura Bank. {Incorporated by reference from Quarterly Report on
Form 10-QSB filed May 15, 2006)

Fifth Modification Agreement dated as of May 31, 2006 between and among the Company, etrials, Inc.,
etrials Worldwide Limited and RBC Centura Bank. (Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form
8-K filed June 2, 2006)

Amended and Restated Commercial Promissory Note dated as of May 31, 2006, in $2,000,000 principal
amount of etrials, Inc. to RBC Centura Bank. (Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K
filed June 2, 2006)

Commercial Promissory Note dated as of May 31, 2006, in $500,000 principal amount of etrials, Inc. to RBC
Centura Bank. (Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 2, 2006)

Amended and Restated 2005 Performance Equity Plan in form approved by stockholders on June 13, 2006,
(Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 14, 2006)*

Cede of Ethics adopted by the etrials Worldwide, Inc. (Incorporated by reference from Current Report on
Form 8-K filed April 10, 2006.)

Letter from BDO Seidman, LLP dated February 22, 2006 regarding change in certifying accountant.
(Incorporated by reference from Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on February 23, 2006.)

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP to incorporate by reference into Registration Statement on Form S-B No.
333-136608**

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbannes-Oxley Act of 2002.**
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbannes-Oxley Act of 2002.**

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbannes-Oxley Act of 2002.**

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
**Filed herewith.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
etrials Worldwide, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of etrials Worldwide, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company's internal control
over financial reporting. Our audits inciuded consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overal! financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of etrials Worldwide, Inc. at December 31, 2006 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2006 the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.”
/s/Emnst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 20, 2007




etrials Worldwide, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $22,000 and $45,000, respectively
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $3,040,264 and $2,251,765, respectively
Goodwill
Developed technology, net of accumulated amortization of $1,658,491 and $!1,570,073, respectively
Deferred acquisition costs
Other assets

Total asseis

Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Bank line of credit and other short-term borrowings
Current portion of capital lease obligations
Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion
Long-term borrowings, net of current portion
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 3,760,200 shares authorized,
2,752,616 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005, (aggregate liquidation
value of $12,667,837 at December 3¢, 2005)

Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 877,380 shares authorized,
257,668 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003, (aggregate liquidation
value of $2,237,136 at December 31, 2005)

Stockholders’ equity (deficit)

Common stock; $0,0001 par value; 50,000,000 and 10,027,200 shares authorized at December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively, 12,278,803 and 3,471,792 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Deferred compensation

Prepaid software application-hosting discount

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes,

F-3

December 31

2006 2005
$ 11,828,667 $ 1,650,323
8,160,293 —_
4,980,350 2,510,279
408,786 355,031
25,378,096 4,515,633
1,856,949 1,397,407
8,011,037 8,011,037
15,199 103,617
— 793,056
117,021 87,871
$ 35,378,302 $ 14,908,621
b3 804,471 5 635,287
1,976,226 1,142,861
2,013,533 2,011,921
646,000 820,000
74,796 117,869
5,515,026 4,727,938
46,846 121,329
20,000 140,000
5,581,872 4,989,267
— 11,714,413
—_ 1,932,860
1,228 335
53,629,085 19,705,689
(108,102) (207,046)
— (140,000)
— (1,850)
(23,725,781) (23,085,047)
29,796,430 (3,727,919)
$ 35,378,302 3 14,508,621




etrials Worldwide, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Net service revenues
Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues

Total revenues

Costs and expenses:
Costs of revenues
Reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Research and development

Total cost and expenses

Operating loss

Other income (expenses):
Interest expense
Interest income
Other (expense) income, net
Total other income (expenses), net
Net loss
Dividends and accretion of preferred stock
Induced conversion of common stock warmrants

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Loss per common share:

Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to
common stockholders

Basic and diluted weighted average common shares
outstanding

See accompanying notes.

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005
$ 15,528,390 $ 13,187,085
3,651,660 436,203
19,180,050 13,623,288
6,747,957 5917372
3,651,660 436,203
3,379,183 3,148,637
4,906,222 3,275,519
88,414 559,488
1,835,015 1,570,104
20,608 451 14,907,323
(1,428,401} (1,284,035}
(95,498) (62,439)
899,200 7,777
(16,035) 6,240
787,667 (48,422}
(640,734) (1,332,457)
(95,969) (1,152,828)
(1,030,000) —

$  (1,766,703)

$ (2,485,285)

$ (0.18)

$ {0.78)

10,010,543

3,180,911

F-4
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etrials Worldwide, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Accretion / Amortization of premium/discount on investments held-to-
maturity
Amortization of prepaid software application-hosting discount
Stock-based compensation expense
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts
Loss on sale of assets
Foreign currency remeasurement losses
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of property and equipment
Capitalized intemal software development costs
Purchases of investments
Maturity of investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Purchase of outstanding common stock
Payments of deferred acquisition costs
Net payments on borrowings from stockholder
Proceeds from bank line of credit
Proceeds from bank equipment loan
Payments on bank equipment loan
Principal payments on capital leases
Proceeds from issuance of stock options and warrants

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in reverse acquisition of CEA, net of issuance

costs
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental cash flow information
Cash patid for interest

Non-cash information:
Induced conversion of common stock warrants

Common stock issued to customer for prepaid software application-hosting discount
Accretion and dividends on Series A and B redeemable convertible preferred stock

Purchase of fixed assets under capital leases

See accompanying riotes.
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Year Ended December 31

2006 2005
S (640,734) $ (1,332,457
765,977 1,084,165
(29,690 —
334,339 595,000
809,450 58,222
(23,000) 5,000
137 41,349
14914 —
(2,447,071) (278,750)
(81,93%) 90,577
993,636 322,503
1,612 729,080
(302,325) 1,314,689
— 15,475
(706,699) {728,368)
(432,636) (158,328)
(12,831,573 -
4,700,000 —
(9,270,908) (871.221)
(469,000) —
— (770,432)
— (727.990)
(174,000} 700,000
— 300,000
(120,000) (40,000)
(122,186) {97.695)
206,180 158,156
20,428,005 —
19,748,999 (477.961)
2,578 (21,833)
10,178,344 (56,326)
1,650,323 1,706,649
$ 11,828,667 $ 1,650,323
$ 96,025 § 74613
$ 1,030,000 $ —
$ — $ 1,260,000
$§ 95969 $ 1,152,828
$ — $ 160,340




etrials Worldwide, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Capitalization
etrials Worldwide, Inc.

etrials Worldwide, Inc. (“etrials” or the “Company™) is a provider of eClinical software
technology and services to pharmaceutical, biotechnology, medical device, and contract research
organizations. The Company offers insight into the clinical trial process, maximizing its customers’ return
on investment and accelerating their time to market. The Company’s primary focus is on the costly and
time-consuming clinical trial phase of drug development.

The Company’s operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including among others,
rapid technological change, increased competition from existing competitors and new entrants, lack of
operating history, and dependence upon key members of the management team, The operating results are
also affected by general economic conditions affecting the pharmaceutical industry.

Merger and Accounting Treatment

CEA Acquisition Corporation (“CEA™} was incorporated in Delaware on October 14, 2003 as a
blank check company, the objective of which was to effect a merger, capital stock exchange, asset
acquisition or other similar business combination in the entertainment, media and communications
industry. On February 19, 2004, CEA consummated an Initial Public Offering (the “Offering”) and raised
net proceeds of $21,390,100. Of the net proceeds from the Offering, $20,527,250 was placed in trust and
invested in government securities. The remaining proceeds were available for business, legal, and
accounting due diligence on prospective acquisitions and continuing general and administration expenses.

In connection with CEA’s initial public offering in February 2004, CEA issued to representatives
of its underwriter options to purchase 350,000 units at an exercise price of $9.90 per unit. Each unit
consists of one share of common stock and two warrants to purchase one common share each at an exercise
price of $6.40 per share. The unit purchase options expire on February 11, 2009,

On February 9, 2006 etrials Acquisition, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned
subsidiary of CEA, consummated a merger with etrials Worldwide, Inc., in which etrials Worldwide, Inc.
changed its name back to etrials, Inc. and became CEA’s wholly owned subsidiary, At that time CEA
changed its name to etrials Worldwide, Inc.

The merger was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting as a reverse acquisition in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for accounting and financial reporting
purposes. Under this method of accounting, CEA was treated as the “acquired” company for financial
reporting purposes. In accordance with guidance applicable to these circumstances, this merger was
considered to be a capital transaction in substance. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the merger was
treated as the equivalent of etrials issuing stock for the net monetary assets of CEA, accompanied by a
recapitalization. All historical share and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to give effect
to the reverse acquisition of CEA and related recapitalization.

The shares of common stock held by etrials stockholders were converted into a totat of 7,446,360
shares of CEA’s common stock, or approximately 60.3% of the subsequently outstanding commeon stock of
the combined company. In connection with the merger, etrials’ stockholders also received warrants to
purchase 4,250,000 shares of CEA common stock with an exercise price of $5.00 per share. The warrants
issued in the merger are immediately tradable.
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Upon consummation of the merger, $21.4 million was released from trust to be used by the
combined company. After payments totaling approximately $900,000 for professional fees and other costs
related to the merger, the net proceeds amounted to $20.5 million. The total direct and incremental costs
incurred by the Company in connection with the merger was reflected as a reduction to additional paid-in
capital as of the effective date of the merger.

Induced Conversion of Common Stock Warrants

In order to induce certain pre-merger common stock warrant holders to exercise their warrants
concurrent with the reverse acquisition, the Company issued such warrant holders 157,512 shares of
common stock and 73,073 warrants to purchase common stock with an estimated aggregate fair value of
$1,030,000, The Company accounted for the consideration allocated to these warrant holders as an induced
conversion feature. Accordingly, the fair value of this consideration has been reflected as an increase to net
loss in the computation of loss per common share attributable to common stockholders in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006,

Shares Held in Escrow

A total of 1,400,000 shares of common stock of the Company issued to etrials stockholders in the
merger with CEA and 166,250 shares of common stock of former CEA shareholders (including all CEA
officers and directors) were placed in escrow (“Trigger Shares™) and will not be released unless and until,
over a 20 consecutive trading day period (i) the volume weighted average price of etrials common stock is
$7.00 or more, and (i) the average daily trading volume is at least 25,000 shares. The Trigger Shares will
be cancelled if these conditions are not met by February 19, 2008.

Series A and Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

In connection with the reverse acquisition of CEA in February 2006, all of the outstanding shares
of Series A and Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock of etrials plus accrued dividends were
converted into 3,395,369 shares of common stock and 1,945,741 warrants of the Company. The Company
accreted an aggregate $95,969 and 31,152,828 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, of dividends related to its redeemable convertible preferred stock,

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiary, etrials Worldwide LTD. All significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation,

Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the current
year. Such reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net loss or stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results will differ from those estimates and may differ
materially.




Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenues from providing software application-hosting which includes:
services, software subscriptions and usage fees, hosting fees, and other fees. Revenues resulting from
software application-hosting are recognized in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue
No. 00-03, Application of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Arrangements that include the Right 1o Use
Software Stored on Another Entity's Hardware, Securities and Exchange Commission’s (SEC) Staff
Accounting Bulletin (SAB) Nos. 101 and No. 104, Revenue Recognition. The Company recognizes revenue
when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement;

(2) the service has been provided to the customer; (3) the collection of fees is probable; and (4) the amount
of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable.

The Company offers its eClinical software products through an application service provider
model. Revenues are generated in three stages for each clinical trial. The first stage (development and
deployment) includes trial and application setup, including design of electronic case report forms and edit
checks, investigator site training, and implementation of the system and server configuration. The second
stage (study conduct) consists of project management services, application hosting and related professional
and support services. The third stage (close out) consists of services required to close out, or lock, the
database for the clinical trial and deliver final data sets to the client.

Services provided during the three phases of clinical trials are typically eamed under fixed-price
contracts. Although etrials enters into master agreements with each customer, these master agreements do
not contain any minimum revenue commitment by customers and contain general terms and conditions.
All services and revenues are covered by separately negotiated addendums called task orders. Revenues
generated from each task order, including; services, software subscription and usage fees, and hosting fees
are generally recognized using the proportional performance method, measured principally by the total
labor hours incurred as a percentage of estimated total labor hours for each contract. This method is used
because management considers total tabor hours incurred to be the best available measure of progress on
these contracts.

The estimated total labor hours of contracts are reviewed and revised periodically throughout the
duration of the contracts with adjustment to revenues from such revisions being recorded on a cumulative
basis in the period in which the revisions are made. When estimates indicate a loss, such loss is recognized
in the current period in its entirety. Because of the inherent uncertainties in estimating total labor hours, it is
reasonably possible that the estimates will change in the near term and could result in a material change.
The Company records a loss for its contracts at the point it is determined that the total estimated contract
costs will exceed management’s estimates of contract revenues. No such losses have been incurred as of
December 31, 2006.

Customers generally have the ability to terminate contracts upon 30 days notice to the Company.
However, these contracts typically require payment to etrials for fees earned from all services provided
through the termination date. In the event that a customer cancels a clinical tnal and its related task order,
all deferred revenue is recognized and certain termination related fees may be charged.

Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made on a contract-by-contract basis
and are recognized in the period in which such losses become probable and can be reasonably estimated.
As of December 31, 2006, the Company has not experienced any material losses on uncompleted contracts,

The following summarizes the components of the revenues recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005:
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Year Ended December 31

2006 2005
Services $ 10,975,720 $ 9,845914
Software subscriptions and usage fees 3,083,833 2,297,074
Hosting fees 1,468,837 1,044,097
Net service revenues 15,528,390 13,187,085
Reimbursable out-of-pocket revenues 3,651,660 436,203
Total 3 19,180,050 $ 13,623,288

The Company accounts for pass-through expenses in accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-14,
Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred
(EITF No. 01-14). EITF No. 01-14 requires reimbursable out-of-pocket expenses incurred to be
characterized as revenues in the statement of operations.

Costs of revenues consist of compensation and related fringe benefits for project-related
associates, unreimbursed project related costs and indirect costs including facilities, information systems,
and other costs. Selling, general, and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Unbilled services are recorded for revenue recognized to date that has not yet been billed to the
customers. In general, amounts become billable upon the achievement of milestones or in accordance with
predetermined payment schedules. Unbilled services are billable to customers within one year from the
respective balance sheet date. Deferred revenue represents amounts billed or cash received in advance of
revenue recognition.

In connection with a software application-hosting agreement entered into on April 1, 2005, the
Company issued a customer 220,840 shares of the Company’s common stock with an estimated fair value
of $1.26 million. Of the 220,840 shares issued, 98,151 were vested immediately and the remaining 122,689
shares of common stock were placed in escrow. In the event the customer terminated certain agreements
during the three year period, all or part of the shares held in escrow would have been forfeited. EITF 01-9,
Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s
Products), requires that the value of the common stock be treated as a reduction in revenue. The fair value
of the 98,151 shares of non-forfeitable common stock was recorded to common stock and additional paid-
in capital and to prepaid software application-hosting discount, a contra-equity account. The prepaid
software application-hosting discount was originally reduced on a straight-line basis over the three year
term of the agreement, offsetting revenue generated under the agreement. In accordance with EITF Topic
D-90, Grantor Balance Sheet Presentation of Unvested, Forfeitable Equity Instruments Granted to a Non-
employee, the fair value of the 122,689 shares of forfeitable common stock held in escrow were treated as
un-issued for accounting purposes until the future services were provided and the shares became vested.
Accordingly, the fair value of the 220,840 shares of common stock were recorded to additional paid-in-
capital as the reduction to revenue is recorded on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement. In
accordance with EITF 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other than Employees
Jor Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services, the fair value of the common stock was
re-measured at each interim reporting date during the performance period with changes in fair value
reflected as a cumulative adjustment.

Effective February 8, 2006, the Company amended the software application-hosting agreement
previously entered into with a customer on April 1, 2005. Under the terms of the amendment, the Company
released from escrow 40,897 shares and terminated 81,792 shares of common stock, which were previously
held in escrow, resulting in a total of 139,048 shares issued to this customer. As a result of this amendment,
there are no longer any shares held in escrow and the shares issued are no longer subject to forfeiture
should the customer terminate certain agreements. In connection with this amended application-hosting
agreement, the Company recorded a final reduction to revenues of $334,339 during the year ended




December 31, 2006, which reflects the fair value of the total shares of common stock issued to the
customer as of February 8, 2006 less the discounts previously recorded.

Internal Use Software and Website Development Costs

The Company applies the guidance of EITF Issue No. 00-2, Accounting for Web Site Development
Costs, which sets forth the accounting for website development costs based on the website development
activity. The Company applies the guidance set forth in SOP No. 98-1, Accounting for the Cost of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use (SOP No. 98-1), in accounting for the
development of internal use software. SOP No. 98-1 requires companies to capitalize qualifying computer
software costs, which are incurred during the application development stage and amortize them over the
software’s estimated useful life of one to three years. The Company has capitalized $432,636 and $158,328
of internal software development costs during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Warranties and Indemnification

The Company’s hosting service is typically warranted to perform in a manner consistent with
general industry standards that are reasonably applicable and substantially in accordance with the
Company’s online help documentation under normat use and circumstances. The Company’s arrangements
also include certain provisions for indemnifying customers against liabilities if its products or services
infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights. The Company has not previously incurred costs to settle
claims or pay awards under these indemnification obligations. The Company accounts for these indemnity
obligations in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 5, Accounting for
Contingencies, and records a liability for these obligations when a loss is probable and reasonably
estimable. The Company has not recorded any liabilities for these agreements as of December 31, 2006.

The Company has entered into service level agreements with its hosted application customers
warranting certain levels of uptime reliability and permitting those customers to receive credits against
monthly hosting fees or terminate their agreements in the event that the Company fails to meet those levels.
As of December 31, 2006, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such
indemnifications and has not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements,

Concentration of Credit Risk

The following table summarizes the number of customers who individually comprise greater than
10% of consolidated revenues and consclidated accounts receivable.

Number Percent of Number Percent of Consolidated
of Consolidated of Accounts
Customers - Revenue Customers Receivable
Year ended December 31:
2005 3 47% 3 59%
2006 3 43% 2 48%

The Company’s principal financial instruments subject to credit risk are cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments, and accounts receivable, which are unsecured. The Company maintains cash
balances at financial institutions that may at times exceed federally insured limits. The Company maintains
this cash at high credit quality institutions and, as a result, believes credit risk related to its cash is minimal.
The Company generally does not require collateral as a substantial amount of the revenues are generated
from recurring customers. Management performs periodic reviews of the aging of customer balances, the
current economic environment and its industry experience and establishes an allowance on accounts
receivable based on these reviews.
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The Company serves all of its application-hosting customers from third-party web hosting
facilities located in North Carolina and Florida. The Company does not control the operation of these
facilities, and they are vulnerable to damage or interruption. The Company maintains redundant systems
that can be used to provide service in the event the third-party web hosting facilities becomes unavailable,
although in such circumstances, the Company’s service may be interrupted during the transition.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

The Company accounts for its investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. The Company considers all highly liquid investments
with original maturities of 90 days or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents and investments
with original maturities of between 91 days and one year to be short-term investments. The Company
invests in high quality investments rated at least A2 by Moody’s Investors Service or A by Standard &
Poors.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Computer hardware, software and equipment and
furniture and fixtures are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets
and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or useful lives of such assets,
as follows:

Asset Years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of life of lease term or 5
Computer hardware, sofiware and equipment Jto5
Capitalized internal software development costs lto3
Furniture and fixtures 5t07
Intangible Assets

In connection with the acquisition of Araccel Corporation in January 2003, the Company allocated
$1,541,690 of the total purchase consideration to the acquired developed technology, which is being
ameortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of three years.

During April 2004, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the Purchase
Agreement) with Authentrics, Inc. (Authentrics) whereby the Company acquired an interactive voice
recognition system technology (Acquired Technology) and certain other assets in exchange for 24,538
shares of common stock. The total cost of acquired technology of $132,000 is being amortized on a
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of three years. The Company recorded total amortization
expense of $88,418 and $559,488 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively related to
these assets.

Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, the Company reviews its long-lived assets including property and equipment and its developed
technology, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may not be fully recoverable. To determine the recoverability of its long-lived assets, the Company
evaluates the probability that future estimated undiscounted net cash flows will be less than the carrying
amount of the assets. If such estimated cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the long-lived
assets, then such assets are written down to their fair value. The Company’s estimates of anticipated cash
flows and the remaining estimated useful lives of long-lived assets could be reduced in the future, resulting
in a reduction to the carrying amount of fong-lived assets.




Goodwill

The Company accounts for its goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets (SFAS No. 142). SFAS No. 142 requires the use of a non-amortization approach to
account for purchased goodwill and certain intangibles. Under the non-amortization approach, goodwill
and certain intangibles are not amortized into results of operations, but instead are reviewed for impairment
at least annually and written down and charged to operations only in the periods in which the recorded
value of goodwill and certain intangibles exceeds its fair value. The Company has elected to perform its
annual impairment test as of November 1 of each calendar year. An interim goodwill impairment test
would be performed if an event occurs or circumstances change between annual tests that would more
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. For purposes of
performing the goodwill impairment test, the Company has historically identified two reporting units, its
United States operating segment and its United Kingdom operating segment, based on criteria specified in
SFAS No. 142. Goodwill was allocated to these reporting units in proportion to the carrying values of the
segments’ assets as of the date of acquisition. During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company restructured
the accounting and reporting structure for its international operations. As a result of this restructuring, the
Company concluded it has one reporting unit for purposes of performing the goodwill impairment analysis
as of November 2005 and subsequent thereto. During November 2006, the Company completed the
required annual test, which indicated there was no impairment.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and outstanding indebtedness. In management’s
opinion, the carrying amount of these financial instruments approximates their fair values at December 31,
2006 and 2005, based on their short-term nature or underlying variable interest rate.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) Share Based Payment (SFAS
123R). SFAS 123R replaces SFAS No. 123 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123) and
supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB
25). SFAS 123R requires that the cost resulting from all share-based payment transactions be recognized in
the financial statements using the fair value method. The provisions of SFAS 123R are effective for public
entities that do not file as small business issuers as of the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting
period that begins after June 15, 2005 (January 1, 2006 for the Company). SFAS 123R requires the
benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash
flow, rather than as an operating cash flow. The Company will recognize excess tax benefits when those
benefits reduce current income taxes payable. The Company recognizes compensation cost for awards with
pro rata vesting using the straight line prorated method.

The Company used the minimum-value method as a non-public company to estimate the fair value
of stock awards under SFAS 123 for pro forma footnote disclosure purposes, the Company was required to
adopt SFAS 123R using the “prospective-transition” method upon the effective date. Under the
prospective transition method, nonpublic entities that previously applied SFAS 123 using the minimum-
value method for financial statement recognition or pro forma disclosure purposes will continue to account
for non-vested equity awards outstanding at the date of adoption of SFAS 123R in the same manner as they
had been accounted for prior to adoption {APB 235 intrinsic value method for the Company). All awards
granted, modified, or settled afier the date of adoption have been accounted for using the measurement,
recognition, and attribution provisions of SFAS 123R. The Company has continued to recognize
compensation expense for awards issued prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R in accordance with the
provisions of APB 25.

The Company maintains an Equity Compensation Plan (the “Plan™) to provide incentives to

eligible employees, officers, directors and consultants in the form of non-qualified stock options and, as
permissible, incentive stock options. The Company has reserved a total of 3,200,000 shares of common
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stock for issuance under the Plan. Of this amount, 367,943 shares are available for future stock option
grants as of December 31, 2006.

The Board of Directors has the authority to administer the Plan and determine, among other
things, the interpretation of any provisions of the Plan, the number of options that an individual may be
granted, vesting schedules and option exercise prices. With few exceptions, stock options granted under the
Plan have vesting periods of three to five years, have a contractual life not to exceed ten years, and have
exercise prices equal to the estimated fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date.

Advertising Expense

The cost of advertising is expensed as incurred. Advertising expense, including trade show
expenses, amounted to approximately $474,000 and $598,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for
Income Taxes (SFAS No. 109). Under SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets or liabilities are computed based
upon the difference between financial statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using the
enacted marginal tax rate. The Company provides a valuation allowance for its net deferred tax assets when
it is more likely than not, such assets will not be realized in the foreseeable future.

Foreign Currency Translation

The reporting currency for the Company is the U.S. dollar, Effective April 1, 2006, following a
restructuring of the Company’s foreign subsidiary in the United Kingdom, the Company determined that
the functional currency of its United Kingdom operations is the U.S. dollar. Prior to April 1, 2006 the
functional currency of its United Kingdom operations was the local currency.

The financtal statements of the Company’s foreign subsidiary in the United Kingdom are
translated in accordance with SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation. Prior to April 1, 2006 assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were translated into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates.
Operating results were translated into U.S, dollars using the average rates of exchange prevailing during the
period. Gains or losses resulting from the translation of assets and liabilities were included as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity {deficit). Effective April 1, 2006 re-
measurement adjustments for non-functional currency monetary assets and liabilities are included in other
income {expense) in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Segment Reporting

SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (SFAS
No. 131), establishes standards for the way public business enterprises report about operating segments in
annual financial statements and requires selected information of those segments to be presented in interim
financial reports issued to stockholders. SFAS No. 131 also establishes standards for related disclosures
about products and services, geographic areas and major customers. Operating segments are identified as
components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation
by the chief operating decision-maker, or decision-making group, in making decisions on how to allocate
resources and assess performance. Historically the Company has maintained two operating segments which
were identified based on the geographical areas of operations. Both operating segments provided a range of
clinical trial services primarily to contract research organizations and drug development companies. The
operating segments were historically aggregated for financial reporting purposes based on similarities and
consistencies in the customer base, economic characteristics, and methods of marketing, selling and
providing services in each operating segment. During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company restructured
the accounting and reporting structure for its international operations. As a result of this restructuring, the




Company concluded it now has one operating segment for purposes of applying the guidance set forth in
SFAS 131.

Loss Per Common Share

Basic and diluted loss per common share was determined by dividing net loss attributable to
common stockhoiders by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period in accordance
with SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share (SFAS 128). Diluted net income per share includes the effects of
all dilutive, potentially issuable common shares.

The following common share equivalents have been excluded from the computation of diluted
weighted average shares outstanding as the effect would have been anti-dilutive:

December 31
2006 2005
Series A Preferred Stock - 2,752,616
Series B Preferred Stock — 257,668
Options outstanding 2,775,913 1,756,376
Warrants outstanding 12,350,000 1,092,167

In addition, the 1,566,250 shares of common stock held in escrow as of December 31, 2006 in
connection with the reverse acquisition of CEA have been excluded from the computation of basic and
diluted loss per share in accordance with SFAS 128,

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No.
48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes , which is an interpretation of SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes . FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing the
minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial
statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. In addition, FIN 48 clearly scopes out
income taxes from FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies . FIN 48 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company will implement this interpretation in the fiscal
year starting January 1, 2007. The Company is currently analyzing the effect, if any, FIN 48 will have on
the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157),
which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted
accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies to other
accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. The new guidance is effective
for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and for interim periods
within those fiscal years. The Company is currently analyzing the effect, if any, SFAS 157 will have on the
Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff Accounting

Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on how the effects
of the carryover or reversal of prior year misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year
misstatement. The SEC staff believes that registrants should quantify errors using both a balance sheet and
an income statement approach and evaluate whether either approach results in a misstatement that, when all
relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are considered, is material and therefore must be quantified.
SAB 108 is effective for years ending on or after November 15, 2006.
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3. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments consist of the following:

December 31
2006 2005
Cash $ 3,115,362 $ 187,849
Money market 6,024,155 1,462,474
U.S. agency notes 2,689,150 —
Total cash and cash equivalent $ 11,828,667 $ 1,650,323
Auction rate securities $ 6,600,000 $ —
Corporate bonds ) 1,560,293 —
Total short-term investments $ 8,160,293 $ —
4. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consists of the following: .
December 31
2006 2005
Bitled accounts receivable $ 3,394,583 $ 1,219,164
Unbilled accounts receivable 1,607,767 1,336,115
Total accounts receivable 5,002,350 2,555,279
Allowance for doubtful accounts (22,000) (45,000

$ 4,980,350 $ 2,510,279

The following table summarizes activity in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts:

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005
Beginning of period $ 45,000 $ 40,000
{Decrease) increase in bad debt expense {23,000) 5,000
End of period $ 22,000 5 45,000
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5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following:

December 31

2006 2005

Leasehold improvements 5 92,252 3 79,296
Computer hardware, software and equipment 3,662,364 2,886,763
Capitalized internal software development costs 715,716 283,080
Furniture and fixtures 426,881 400,033
Total property and equipment 4 897,213 3,649,172
Accumulated depreciation (3,040,264) (2,251,765)

$ 1,856,949 3 1,397,407

The Company recorded depreciation expense of approximately $678,000 and $525,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31

2006 2005
Accrued professional fees $ 97,881 $ 172,717
Accrued client reimbursable expenses 866,032 —
Accrued other expenses 545,194 440,999
Accrued compensation 206,106 310,422
Accrued vacation : 261,013 218,723
$ 1,976,226 $ 1,142,861
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7. Income Taxes

The Company has no current provision for income taxes. Due to the history of losses by the
Company, management has determined that a valuation allowance is needed to reduce the net deferred tax
assets to zero. The Company’s loss before taxes in the US for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
were $(799,760) and $(613,005), respectively. The Company’s income (loss) before taxes in the UK for the
year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $154,160 and $(719,632). Components of the Company’s
deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31

2006 2005

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward $ 9,650,000 $ 9,286,000
Foreign net operating loss carryforward 674,000 649,000
Research and development tax credits 77,000 77,000
Accrual to cash conversion — 372,000
Developed technology 1,001,000 1,085,000
Deferred compensation 304,000 38,000
Amortization 315,000 214,000
Accrued Expenses 100,000 —
Reserve for doubtful accounts 8,000 —

12,129,000 11,721,000
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets 207,000 81,000
Net deferred tax assets 11,922,000 11,640,000
Valuation allowance (11,922 000) (11,640,000)
Total deferred tax assets $ — 3 —

The reasons for differences between the actual income tax benefit and the amount computed by
applying the statutory federal income tax rate to losses before income tax benefit are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005
Income tax provision (benefit) at

statutory rate $ (218,000) $  (453,000)

State income taxes, net of federal benefit (35,000) (60,000)
Non-deductible expenses and other (29,000) 62,000
Change in valuation allowance 282,000 451,000
Income Tax Benefit $ — $ —

The Company has operating loss carryforwards for federal tax purposes of approximately $26.3
million and $25.4 million at December 31, 2006 and 20035, respectively, expiring beginning in 2010. The
Company has state net operating losses of approximately $15.6 million and $14.3 million at December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively, available to offset future state taxable income, expiring beginning in 2010.
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At December 31, 2006, the Company no longer qualified to use the cash method of accounting for
tax purposes under the Small Business Taxpayer Exemption. An adjustment was made under IRC Section
481 to convert the Company to the accrual method for tax purposes and since this adjustment was negative,
it is included in the 2006 tax return and no deferred tax asset or liability exists for accrual to cash
conversion at December 31, 2006.

Under the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the amounts of and benefits from net operating losses carried
forward may be impaired or limited in certain circumstances. Events which might cause limitations in the
amount of net operating losses that the Company may utilize in any one year include, but are not limited to,
a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% over a three-year period.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 added section 409A to the Internal Revenue Code.
Section 409A provides that all amounts deferred under a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for all
taxable years are currently includible in gross income to the extent not subject to a substantial risk of
forfeiture and not previously included in gross income, unless certain requirements are met. Generally,
these new rules are effective for amounts deferred after December 31, 2004, Management has reviewed
these requirements and believes all requirements have been met. Actual results could differ.

8. Debt

Debt consists of the following:

December 31

2006 2005

Borrowings:

Bank line of credit, with an interest rate of 8.50% and 7.75% at

December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively $ 526,000 $ 700,000
Bank equipment loan, with an interest rate of 9.25% and 8.25%

at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively 140,000 260,000
Total borrowings 666,000 960,000
Bank line of credit and other short-term borrowings 646,000 820,000
Long-term borrowings, less current portion $ 20,000 $ 140,000

Stockholder Line of Credit Agreement

During 2001, the Company entered into a line of credit agreement with certain stockholders that
provided for maximum borrowings of $700,000. Advances on the line of credit were based on accounts
receivable of the Company. The agreement required written requests for advances not to exceed 80% of the
associated accounts receivable. Interest was accrued and due on the advances at 3% if repaid within thirty
days and an additional 1% for every ten days thereafter. During the year ended December 31, 2003, the
stockholders increased the Company’s borrowing capacity under the line of credit agreement to $900,000.
This line of credit was repaid in February 2005.

Bank Line of Credit

On February 1, 2005, the Company entered into two loan agreements with RBC Centura Bank,
these loan agreements were modified on May 31, 2006 and a third loan agreement was added. The first
agreement is a $2,000,000 revolving accounts receivable line of credit which provides for borrowings up to
80% of current accounts receivable balance at the prime rate of interest plus 0.25%. The second agreement
is a $300,000 equipment line of credit. This loan funds equipment purchases and provides for interest at
the bank’s prime rate of interest plus 1.0%. Borrowings under the equipment line of credit are being paid
over a period of thirty months. The third agreement is a $500,000 equipment line of credit. This loan funds
equipment purchases and provides for interest at the bank’s prime rate of interest plus 0.75%. Borrowings
under the equipment line of credit, if any, will be paid over a period of thirty-five months, The Company
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has not had any borrowings under this equipment loan as of December 31, 2006. Each of these borrowings
are secured primarily by accounts receivable and certain other assets.

9, Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitments

The Company leases office space and office equipment under non-cancelable operating leases
expiring from 2006 through 2013. The cost of property and equipment that is acquired under terms of
leases that substantiaily transfer all of the rights and risk of ownership are capitalized by the Company. The
original cost and related accumulated depreciation on property and equipment under capital leases as of
December 31, 2006 was approximately $367,000 and $194,000, respectively. Depreciation expense related
to the capital assets acquired under capitalized leases has been included in the applicable accumulated
depreciation accounts,

At December 31, 2006, future minimum lease payments under capital and operating leases are as
follows:

Period Ending December 31 Capital Leases Operating Leases

2007 $ 83,204 § 592,451
2008 31,676 583,739
2009 23,376 591,722
2010 — 578,809
2011 — 415,232
2042 and thereafter — 490,898

Total required lease payments 138256 § - 3,252,851

Less interest included __ (les14)

Total minimum payments 121,642

Current portion of capital lease (74,796)

Long-term portion of capital lease $ 46,846

Rent expense totaled approximately $579,000 and $559,000 for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may become involved in various legal actions, administrative
proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of its business. Although it is not possible to predict with
certainty the outcotne of such legal actions or the range of possible loss or recovery, based upon current
information, management believes such legal actions will not have a material effect on the financial
position or results of operations of the Company.

On July 17, 2006 the Company was informed that an action was filed by a company alleging that
the Company had infringed on its patent. The plaintiff alleging infringement has not specified damages so
management is unable to estimate a potential range of loss, if any, and therefore, no accrual has been made
for potential loss in the financial statements. Management intends to vigorously contest the action. No
assurance can be given as to the outcome of this litigation.

Retirement Plan
The Company has established a 401(k) retirement plan for the benefit of all eligible U.S.
employees. Participants may contribute a portion of eligible wages, not to exceed annual statutory

limitations, to the plan. The Company has elected in 2005 under Safe Harbor rules to match eligible
employee contributions at a rate of 100% of the employee contribution limited to 5% of the employee
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salary. For its employees located in the United Kingdom, the Company contributes 5% of staff salaries to
an independent employee retirement plan. The Company made total contributions to both plans of
approximately $263,000 and $230,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

10. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Qutstanding Warrants

The Company’s outstanding warrants were issued in two transactions. CEA sold 4,025,000 units
(the Units) in its initial public offering in 2004. Each Unit consists of one share of the Company’s common
stock, $.0001 par value, and two warrants, In connection with this initial public offering, the CEA issued an
option for $100 to the representative of the underwriters to purchase 350,000 Units at an exercise price of
$9.90 per Unit. In connection with the CEA merger, the Company also issued to shareholders of etrials
warrants to purchase 4,300,000 Warrants as part of the merger consideration.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had outstanding 12,350,000 warrants to purchase common
stock. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one share of common stock at an
exercise price of $5.00 per share on the terms and conditions set forth in the warrants and the warrant
agreement governing the warrants. The warrants expire on February 12, 2008, unless redeemed before that
time. The warrants are redeemable at the option of the Company at a price of $.01 per warrant upon
30 days notice by the Company after the warrants become exercisable, only in the event that the last sale
price of the common stock of the Company is at least $8.50 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30
trading day period ending on the third day prior to date on which notice of redemption is given.

In addition, 700,000 warrants underlying an underwriters’ purchase option are subject to the same
terms and conditions as the outstanding warrants of the Company described above, except that the exercise
price is $6.40 per share. The exercise price and number of units issuable upon exercise of the undewriters’
purchase option may be adjusted in certain circumstances, including issuances of a stock dividend,
recapitalization, reorganization, merger or consolidation, However, the option will not be adjusted for
issuances at a price below its exercise price. The holders of the underwriters’ purchase option have demand
and piggy-back registration rights under the Securities Act for periods of five and seven years, respectively,
from the date of the initial public offering of the Company with respect to registration of the securities
directly and indirectly issuable upon exercise of the underwriters’ purchase option.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had reserved a total of 16,543,856 of its authorized
50,000,000 shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:

Unit purchase options (See Note 1) 1,050,000
Stock options outstanding 2,775,913
Reserved for future stock option grants 367,943
Common stock warrants outstanding 12,350,000
Total shares reserved for future issuance 16,543,856
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11. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company’s 2005 Equity Performance Plan (the “Plan”) was approved by the shareholders of
the Company on February 9, 2006. The purpose of the Plan is to provide incentives to eligible employees,
officers, directors and consultants in the form of non-qualifted stock options and, as permissible, incentive
stock options. On February 9, 2006, the Company had a total of 2,100,000 shares of common stock
reserved for issuance under the Plan. On June 13, 2006, the shareholders voted to increase the number of
shares issuable under the Plan to 3,200,000 shares. Of this amount, 367,943 shares were available for
future stock option grant as of December 31, 2006.

Effective with the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company has elected to use the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model to determine the weighted average fair value of options granted. The
Company has a limited trading history for its common stock as it began trading on the NASDAQ National
Market on February 10, 2006. Accordingly, the Company has determined the volatility for options granted
in 2006 based on an analysis of reported data for a peer group of companies that have issued stock options
with substantially similar terms. The expected life of options granted by the Company has been determined
based upon the “simplified” method as allowed under the provisions of the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 and represents the period of time that options granted are
expected to be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate is based on a treasury instrument whose term is
consistent with the expected life of the stock options. The Company has not paid and does not anticipate
paying cash dividends on its shares of common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to
be zero. In addition, SFAS 123R requires companies to utilize an estimated forfeiture rate when calculating
the expense for the period, whereas, SFAS 123 permitted companies to record forfeitures based on actual
forfeitures. As a result, using historical data among other factors, the Company has applied an estimated
forfeiture rate of 5.18% in determining the expense recorded in the Company’s consolidated statement of
operations.

The weighted average exercise price of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2006
and December 31, 2005, was $5.56 and $4.35, respectively. The assumpticns utilized to determine the
above values are indicated in the following table:

Year Ended
December 31
2006
Expected dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 100%
Risk-free interest rate 5.08%
Expected life (in years) 3

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recorded $809,490 of stock-based
compensation expense, of which $766,546 was related to options issued subsequent to the adoption of
SFAS No. 123R. The stock-based compensation expense recorded during the year ended December 3§,
2006 reduced both basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.08. As of December 31, 2006, there was
$2,725,810 of unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested share awards issued under SFAS
123R that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.06 years. Net cash provided by
operating and financing activities was unchanged for the period ended December 31, 2006, since there were
no excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation plans. The remaining stock-based compensation
expense is due to the amortization of previously recorded deferred compensation, for stock options that
have continued to be accounted for under APB 25 in accordance with the prospective transition method of
SFAS 123R. As of December 31, 2006, there was $108,102 of deferred compensation recorded related to
such options.
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The following surmmarizes activity of the Plan:

Cutstanding at December 31, 2004
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Cutstanding at December 31, 2005
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2006
Exercisable at December 31, 2006
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2006

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately

$176,000.

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Contractuat Aggregate
Number of Exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price {years) Value
1,620,804 s 1.92
306,605 4.61
(72,747) 1.96
(98,286) 2.39
1,756,376 3 2.36
1,315,415 5.56
(69,992) 203
(225,886) 3.22
2,775,913 $ 3.82 5.51 $ 10,610,643
1,303,557 $ 2.56 5.78 $ 3,331,625
$ 297,396

Selected information regarding stock options as of December 31, 2006 is as follows:

Options OQutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Number of Life Exercise Number of Exercise
Exercise Price Shares {in Years) Price Shares Price
$ 057 - $ 114 56,498 2.68 $ 091 56,498 $ 0.921
$ LI5S - § 171 159,441 4.30 1.63 159,441 1.6
$ 172 - 0§ 228 1,062,339 6.60 2.02 842,065 1.98
$ 400 - % 457 260,625 6.18 4.34 3L171 435
$ 458 - 8 514 62,010 8.88 508 17,224 5.08
$ 515 - %57 1,175,000 4.45 5.71 197,158 5.71 |
2,775,913 5.51 $ 31.82 1,303,557 s 2.56 l
A summary of the activity of the Company’s unvested stock options is as follows:
Weighted Average
Grant Date
Shares Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2005 766,297 $ 2.70
Granted 1,315,415 292
Vested (383,470) 2.74
Forfeited (225,886) 2.54
Unvested at December 31, 2006 1,472,356 $ 2.91
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12. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table presents a summary of quarterly results of operations for 2005 and 2006:

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Year ended December 31, 2005:
TOtAl TEVETIUEGS ..eeeveceeeee et se et s s sab b sas st es, $ 3,697,870 § 3,853430 $ 3,265228 $ 2,806,760 1
Net income (J0SS).......ccurireenrmrernirivsrarerermesremsssseessoeessoemcnns. 83,396 (101,626) (132,727)  (1,181,500)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders........c..coeueee.-. (204,811) (389,833) (420,934) (1,469,707) |
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders — |
basic and diluted ..........oooooieiiii e, (0.08) {0.12) {0.12) (0.46) |
\
Year ended December 31, 2006: |
TOUAl TEVEIUES ....vevevevvenverresrersessrennersensersessreseessessessesmessnsnrsnns § 2,759,663 § 6,094398 § 4,776,208 § 5,549,781 ‘
Net (l0SS) INCOME........cocereervrareererasereraressesssnsrerasessererscsrssnns: (1,047,149) 60,746 391,487 (45,818)
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders....... (2,173,118) 60,746 391,487 (45,818) ‘
Net (loss) earnings per share attributable to common ‘
stockholders — basiC........occceieinirisnrcnirsr e rereeenens (0.29) 0.01 0.04 (0.00)
Net (loss) earnings per share attributable to common
stockholders — diluted..........ocovveveine v, (0.29) 0.01 0.03 (0.00)

During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006, the
Company recorded adjustments in the fourth quarter of 2006 for transactions that occurred in previously !
reported periods. The impact in the fourth quarter of 2006 of recording these transactions was net loss
attributable to common shareholders of $(97,496). The Company determined that these adjustments were
immaterial to prior periods and to the fourth quarter of 2006 from both a quantitative and qualitative
perspective.
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